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MESSAGE

TILE PRESIDENT OF THlE UNIT-ED STATES,
COMMUNICATINGQ,

In Compliance with a resolutvrn. of the -Senate, information In relation to
the maomacre at Mountain Meadow8, and Other massacres in Utah
Territory.

MAY 4, 1660.-Read and ordered to lie on the table.
MAY 18, 1860.-Ordered to be printed.

To the Senate:
In compliance with the resolution of the Senate, adopted March 19,

1860, Calling for the correspondence, &c.,in relation to the6 Mountain
Meadow and other massacres in Utah Territory, II have, the honor to
transmit the report, with accompanying, documents, of the Secretary
of the Interior, who was instructed to collect the information.

JAMES BUCHANAN.
ExECUTIV MANSION, May 1, 1860.

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR,
April 30, 1860.

SIR: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt, by reference from
you, of the resolution of the Senate calling for all correspondehice, &C.
in ~relation to the massacre at Mountain Meadows and other maassacres
in Utah Territory, and to transmit herewith the ~follo-wing papers, viz:-
copies Of correapondence, &c., ofleith War Departmnent, (A,
with a copy ofithe letter of the Secretary of' War, tra~nemitting the
same to this department; copies of 'all papers on' file in the 1pdian
Office, (B,) with a copy of the report of the Comm'ffissioner of Indian
Affairs transmitting the same; and copies of the porrespoIndence be-
tween this department 'and 'A. Wilson, Esq., Unifted States district
attorney for Utah, (0.) These documents are believed to contain all

:b

the information in the possession of the government, in relation to the'
massacre at Mountain Meadows.
The information in relation to subsequent massacres in Utah Terri-
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tory will be foulnd in the correspondence (D) accompanying the report
of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs.
With great respect, your obedient servant,

J. THOMPSON,
Secretary.

TilE PRESIDENT.

0WAR DEPARTMENT, April 13, 1860.
SiR: In complliance with the request contained in your letter of the

22d ultimo, cornmUnicating a copy of the resolution adopted by the
Senate on the 19th, calling upon the President for information touch-
ing the massacre at Mountain Meadows, in August, 1851T, I have the
honor to transmit, herewith, copies of the papers named in the accom-
panying schedule, embracing all the particulars in possession of this
department, relating to the subject.
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

JOHN B. FLOYD,
Secretary of W~ar.

l.on. J. TiomPsoN,
Secretary of the interior.

A.
List of papers accormpanybig letter from the Secretary of W~ar to the

Secretary of the Interior of April 13, 1860, relative to the Miountain
Meadow Bassacre
1. Hon. A. B Green"wood to Mr. Floyd, March: 6, 1858.
2. Mr. Floyd to Hon. A. B. Greenwood, March 11, 1858.
3. Gelneral Johnston to General Scott, April 27, 1859.

a. Frolml the Adjutant General, May 5, 1858.
b. To Dr. Forney, September 2, 1858.
c. Froml same, September 10, 1858.
d. Orders, April 15, 1859.

4. Captain Cam 1bell to General Johnston, A)ril 30, 1859.
5. Dr. Forney to same, May 1,1859.
6. Mr. Floyd to same, May 6, 1859.
7. Dr. Forney to same, June 15, 1859.
8. General Johnston to Dr. Forney, June 16, 1859.
9. Same to Colonel Crosman, June 20, 1859.

10. Dr. Forney to General Johnton, June 20, 1859.
11. General Johnston to the Adjutant General, June 27, 1F69,

a. Orders, Juile 23.
12. Same to same, July 13, 1859.

a. To Captain Campbell, April 17.
b. From same, July 6.
c. Dr. Brewer to same,; May 6.

13. Sanie to same, August 17, 1859.
a. From Mr. Culinming, August 3.
b. Dr. Forney to same, August 2.
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c. Mr. Smith 'to Dr. Forney, August 1.
d. To: Mr. Cumming, Augu~t 6.
e. Orders, August 5.
f To Major Lynde, August 6.
g. To Lieutenanit Gay, August 6.
h. From samne, August 15.
i. Orders, August 14.
j. To Commander of the Bear River Expedition, August 15.

14. Same-to General Scott, November 2, 1869.
ct. Mr. Lander to Dr. Forney, August 16.
b. From Lieutenant Gay, August 17.
c. From Major Lynde, August 20.
d. To same, August 26.
e. From same, -August 26.
f. From same, September 10.
g. From Dr. Forney, September 22.
h. From Major Lynde, October 24.

1. Mr. Greenwood to Mr. Floyd.

WASHINGTON, D. C., Aktrch 6, 1858.
Sim: I have just received the published proceedings -of a public

mneting held in Carroll county, Arkansas, in relation to the massacre
of their friends and relations on the Plains, last summer, by the Mor-
mons andl Indians, near Cedar City, in Utah Territory.
You will perceive by the proceedings, which I send you herewith,

that it is alleged that these barbarous wretches have now in their cu4s-
tody some fifteen children, whose lives were spared, according to their
information; and they earnestly invoke the aid of the government to
enable them to recover the children alleged to be in their custody.
They also call Upon the delegation in Congress to bring the matter
before the proper authorities here, and obtain whatever suggestions
they may see proper to make, that will 3enlable these distressed people
to reclaim the survivors of the massacre. Thinking the Department
of Warlto be the proper one to correspond with, I have thought proper
to address you, hoping you will be able to communicate something
that will to some extent relieve the friends of those who have been so
brutally murdered. They also ask that an appropriation be made to
defray the expenses which it ilmaty be necessary to incur iin order to
reclaim and bring home to their relatives the children that hlave been
spared.

I should be pleased to receive any coinniunication that you :may
think proper to make; and should you deem it advisable to recomlnid
an appropriation, I shall take great pleasure in referring your recoim-
mendatiori to the proper committee.

I have the honlor to be, very respectfully, your obedienit servant,
A. B. GREENWOOD.

Hon. J3lON B. FLOYD,
Secreta'ry of War, Washington city, D. C.
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2. Mv. Floydi to A. B. Greenwvood.

WAR DEPARTMENT,
Wa~shin.gton, March 11, 1858.

SIRn: I llave received your letter of the 6th: instant, inclosing, the
published proceedings of a public meeting held in Carrollton, Arkan-
8as, the 1st ultimo, relative to the massacre of a party of emigrants
from Arkansas, by MQrmons and Indians, in the month of July last.

This department has, at present, no inforinatioin respectingthe mas-
-sacre alluded to, or the probable fate of' the survivors; but the news-
1paper slip accompanying your communication will be transmitted at
the earliest practicable moment to Colonel Johnston, commanding the
troops in Utah, with instructions to adopt such measures for the
recovery of the children said to be still in captivity, as in hi's judgment
may appear to be best calculated to attain this most desirable object;
and should his efforts be successful, to send the persons rescued) at a
suitable time, and Under proper protection, to Fort Leavenworth,
Kansas, whence they can be readily returned to their friends in Ar-
kansas.

It is recommended that a small appropriation be asked for, to defray
any incidental expenses that may attend the execultion of the orders
which will be given Colonel Johnston, an(l which cannot well be
charged to the ordinary appropriations for the military service.
Very respectflly, your obedient servant,

JOHN B. FLOYD,
Secretary of War.

Hon. A. B. GREENWOOD,
House of Bepresentattves.

3. General Johnston to General Scott.

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF UTAI)
Camp Fy'loyd,Utah Territory, April 27, 1859.

'COLONEL: I haove the honor to report that Captain R. P. Campbell
inarched for Santa Clara on the 21st instant, in command of one com-
1pany of dragoonsez "and twvo 'of infantry, with orders and instructions
which have been forwarded to youl. One company of hiR command
wi~ll return0to this place with 'Major Prince,6 payinaster United States
army, who is en route to this department with a large amount of public
money for the :payment of trool)s, to whom the government is in ar-
rears six or eight months.
The motive for dispatching this force to the neighborhood of Santa

Clara is to give protection to theo numerous travelers who will pass over
the southern route during thie spring, and merchan ts' trains, and also to
make inquiries respecting imuirders, which were said to have been per-
petrated by Indians last fall. Should it be ascertained what Indians
committed :the murders, I will order a severe chastisement to be in-
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flirted. Captain Campbell will, however, make no hostile movement
against the Indians for past occurrences, unless something transpires
whlile he is on the rouito which shall make immediate action necessary.

In the course of the debate in the Senate, whichis reported in the
Globe of the 9th of March, on an amendment of the army appropria-
tion bill, offered by Mr. Sebastian, for "defraying the expense of
ransom, recovery, and restoration to their homes of the children sur-
viving the massacre by the Indians of the emigrant train from Arkan-
sas, in the fall of 1851 $10,000," -Mr. Johnson, of Arkansas says: '"I
have understood that instructions were sent out from the War Depart-
mfrent and the Interior Department for an investigation and an inquiry,
but I must say that: I have not been satisfied that proper, earnest in-
vestigation has been made into this horrible transaction, which the
case merited at the hands of the government."
With regard to what has been ordered in this matter, there seems

to be a misapprehension: The only communication received by me on
that subject-was written on the'5th of May, and received on the 7th
of August, of which the enclosed is a copy. I was then of the opinion
that those children were iin the possession of the Mormons who live
in the district of country where -the massacre was perpetrated and I
was apprised that. Dr. Forney, Indian superintendent of this Territory,
had gone to visit the Indians of that district about the time of the
reception of the letter from the Adjutant General. I presumed that
the recovery of the children, whether in the hands of the Indians or
Mormons, could be best accomplished through the agency of the super-
intendent, and, accordingly, sent the A.djutant General's letter to him,
for his action. Inclosed I send his letter acknowledging the receipt of
of the Adjutant: General's letter, and a statement that he " had found
ten of the children." (He does not say that lie received them from
the Indians, and I presume lie did not.) He has now seventeen, who
are supposed to be all who survived the horrible slaughter of men,
women, and children at the Mountain Meadows. My action was
limited to such measures, by my instructions, as would lead to the
recovery of the children, and I found, when I turned them over to
him, that measures were already successfully in progress, through the
su)erintendent, who was finally successful, and there was nothing
further that I could properly do.
The iinplication (in the belief of many) of the inhabitants, or a con-

sidorable portion of them, of that district in the committal of that
atrocious crime, was not a subject for investigation or inquiry on my
part. The judiciary have the subject before theim, which will, I do
not doubt, result in discovering the perpetrators.
With great respect, your obedient servant,

A. S. JOHNSTON,
Colonel Second Cavalry anl Bvt. Bri'g. General U. S. A1.,

Commanding.
Liout, Colonel L. THOMAS,

Assistant Adjutant General,
headquarters of the Army, New York city.
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3 a..

'ADJUTANT GENERAL FOICE,
Waa1hington, MaY 5,1858.

SIR: I hAre the honor herewith to transmit a newspaper slip, giving
the proceedings of a public meeting-1held in Carroll county, Arkansas,
some time ago:, in relation to tho massacre of a party of emigrants from
Arkansas, by 'Mormons and Indians, in the month of July last.
The Secretary of War considers that, in the progress of the military

operations in: Utah, it may be in your, power to gain information
respecting the children supposed to be still in captivity, and, perhaps,
adopt some measures which may eventually lead to their recovery from
the Indians. He desires, therefore that you will improve every oppor-
tunity which may:offer giving any promise of the realization of an end
so much to be wished for; and should the efforts you may institute be
successful) the persons rescued might be sent, under proper protection,
to Fort Leavenworth, from which point they could readily return to
their friends in Arkansas.

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
S. COOPER,

Adjutant General.
The COMMANDING OFFICER,

Department of Utah.

3 b.

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF UTAIH,
Camp Floyd, 'U. T., September 2, 1858.

SnR.: The inclosed letter from thle Adjutant Genieral of the army,
conveying the wishes of the:Secretary of War that " all proper means
may be taken to ascertain the fate of the Arkansas emigrants mas-
sacred last year by a party of Mormonsand Indlians ini this Territory,"
&c., was received during your absence from the city in the direction of
the scene of this massacre.,
The commanding Lgeneral has learned that you have interested your-

self in recovering some ofthe surviving children of this party and as
this matter is one for the action of your branch of the public service,
he respectfully transfers these papers to you that proper measures may
be taken to carry out the wishes of thegovernment.

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
F. J. PORTER,

As8itant Adjutant General.
Dr. J. FORNYA, Supt, Indian Atfair8,

Great Salt Lake ity, U. T.

6
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3c.

OFFICE OF SUPERINTENDENT INDIAN AFFAIRs UTAH TERRITORY,
Great Salt Lake City, September 10, 1858.

SIR: Your polite note, enclosing a letter from the Adjutant General
in regard to the massacre of Arkansas emigrants near Cedar City, in
this Territory, was duly received, and ir reply I would say that I have
found ten of the children, who are now in my possession, and am using
every endeavor to ascertain the whereabouts of the others, with pros-
ypects of success.

I remain yours, respectfully,
J. FORNEY,

Supt. Indian AffairM Utah Territory.
F. J. PORTER,

A8s8itant Adjutant General.

3d.

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF UTAHI,
Camp Floyd, Utah Territory, April 15, 1859.

Special Ordenr No. 26.]
One company of dragoons and two companies of infantry from

Camp Floyd, under the command of Captain R. P. Campbell, second
dragoons, will leave for Santa Clara on the 21st instant, and be gov-
erned by special instructions from these headquarters.
A medical officer will be assigned to the command.
'The command will be rationed for fifty days.
The quartermaster's department will furnish the necessary trans-

portation.
By order of Brevet Brigadier General A. S. Johnston:

F. J. PORTER,
A8sistant Adj-utiant General.

4. Captain Campbell to General Johnmton.CAMP NEAR BEAVER CITY, UTAH TERRITORY,
Anpil 30, 1859*

MAJOR: I have the honor to inform you that I arrived at this place
yesterday, where the express overtook me. The officers and men of
my command are all well, only the minor ailments incidental to a
march, and the horses and mules are improving in condition.
There has nothing of the slightest importance happened since the

command left Camp IPloyd,- there was a slight fall of snow the fourth
(lay after leaving Camp Floyd; the command left the service that
morning.
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I shall leave here to-morrow morning with as much forage as I
started witll.

I am remaining in camp to-day, both on account of a storm that
began this morning and it bointg the day fPr muster.

I met Dr. Forney at Meadow creek, he came into my camp with the
Indian Konosh on a visit; lie was camped .it the Indian farm on Corn
creek, where Konosh lives, some miles off the road. The doctor had
with him fifteen or sixteen of the children of the emigrants who were
murdered: at the Mountain Meadows. These, children :say that they
have never been with the India-'s. :- I did not see the children, but the
judge saw them, and talked vith thein. A good deal of information
anube derived from them in relation to the massacre, as some of them
are old enough 'to remember the affair very well. The express arrived
here at 10 o'clock on the night of 29thS proximo.

I am, sir, very respectfully, youir obedient servant,
REUBEN P. CAMPBELL,

Captain Second Dragoons, Corn'g Santa C6acat Expeditioni.
Major J. F. PORTER Ass~istanit AjUidaftt General, U. S. A.,

Camp FloydZ, Uta h Terrqitory.

5. Dr. Foriley to Geiielral Johnston.

SPANISH FORK, INDIAN RMERVATION,
May , 1859.

DEAR GENERAL:' Thank God that I am thisnear home from my
southern trip. I had a very laborious and diffloult trip, at the samie,
time, however, interesting, and my inquiries of the causes and final
consummation of the3 awful Mountain Meadow affair, may lead to ex-
traordinary developments.

I succeeded -in getting sixteen children, all, it is said, that remain
of the butchering affair. JI have the children with me, they seem
contented and happy, poorly clad, however. I will get them fixed up
as soon as possible.$ All the children are intellectual and good look-
ing, not one mean looking child among them, they average from three
and a half to nine years old. Most of them know their family names,
and a few' recollect the place of" their former homes, others have some
recollection of it.
What is more important than 'all, is, that at least foulr of the oldest

of: the children'knoi,: WITHOUT DOUBT KNOW, enough of the material
facts of the fMountain Meadow afiir, to relieve this world of the wVhite:
hell-hounds, who have disgraced humanity by being mainly instru-
mental in the murdering at least one hundred and:flfteen men, women,
fand children, under circumstances and manner without a parallel in
human history for atrocity. I gave Judge Cradlebaugh, a few days
ago, the names of such persons who, I have reason to believe, par-
ticipated in the affair, and when brought to trial can furnish the
evidence to convict them, Some of these men are by this time arrested,
I think.

8
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With proper caution all the men can be arrested I se-d Mr.
Rodgers back with the judge, with a bztsiness letter to some of the
church dignitaries.

I met the military command ton miles south of Fillmore, all seemed
in good spirits. The country south of Cedar City is poor, but little
grass and no grain.
The Indians south, at this time, are quiet and peaceable. To the

Mountain Meadows there is good grass, that far the command should
o,:for reasons you will learn by and by.
lExcuse tlls hasty and imperfect letter.

Very respectfully and truly yours,
J. FORNEY.

General A. S. JOHNSTON)
00onnmander of Utah Department, Utah Territory.

6. Mar. Floyd to General Johnlston.

WAR 1)EPARTMENT,
Washington, May 6, 1859.

Sit: Tlhe change which seems to have taken place in the condition
of things in Utah Territory since the date of your former instructions
Lenders some modification of those instructions necessary.
Peace being now restored to the Territory, the judicial adniinistra-

tion of the laws will require no help from the army under your com-
mand. If the service of thic United States troops should be needed
under any circumstances, it could only be to assist the executive au-
thority in executing tile sentence of law or tile judicial decrees of the
court, and that necessity could only arise when the services of a civil
possc were found to be insufficient. You will therefore only order the
troop)s-under your command to assist as a posse Miatu in the execu-
tioii of the laws, upon the written apl)lication of the governor of the
Territory, and not otherwise. The fidelity with which you have
obeyed the instructions of this department heretofre-given-you, is the
fullest guarantee that you will, with the same zeal and efficiency, con-
form to these.

I am, general, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
JOHN B. FLOYD,

Brevet Brigadier General A. S. JOHNSTON Secretary of War.

:Coi'g Department of Utah, Camp Floyd, Utah Territory.

7. Dr. Forney to General Johnston.

SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, UTAH,
Great Salt Lake City, June 15, 1859.

DEAR SIR: I informed you sometime ago that I had then sixteen
children in my possession, all (it was then supposed) that were re-

9
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miningi of the terrible massacre in Mountain Meadows valley, in
September, 1857.
$inccmy IhastyV letter to you from Spanish Fort, another child has

beeii recovered, and-is now also in Vmy possessioll.
I have collecte(l these children in pursuance to instructions from the

Indiatl department,. and in compliance with those instructions, they
must soon be enf route for Leavenworth.

Messrs. Russell, Majors, and Waddell offered the Indian depart-
mnent, free of charge, two large wagons, twelve yoke oxen, and the
necessary gear, to transport the children to Leavenworth in company
with one of'their returning caravans.

These unfortunate fatherless, motherless, and penniless children
certainly demand more than an or(linary degree of sympathy. I have
secured the services of four females to accompany them to Leaven-
worth. I will also provide suitable clothing, blankets, and such
appliances ast will bc deemed necessary. I am also directed to furnish
then with provisions, and I presulme cooking utensils, fuel, &c.
My instructions:from the office of Indian affairs plainly indicate the

desire that I should send these children by thle means of transportation
offered by Messrs. Russell, Majors, and W'addell; but I am induced to
believe that, was the (lepartmnent advised of the objections so obvious
to this mode of transportation, I feel satisfied that my instructions
would have been materially modified or changed, and therefore, after
mature reflection and consultation with several gentlemen, I am in-
duced to assume the responsibility of changing the direction of this
matter, 1)rovided I can obtain two or three ambulances, one baggage-
wagon, a suitable number of mules, and a proper military escort, from
the officer in command of this department.

I therefore respectfully request that you, will advise Me whether this
arrangement can be made without subjecting the service to any im-
l)ortant inconvenience.
As the caravan with which it is p)ropose(l to sen(l the children leaves

in a few days, an early reply i's resl)ectfully requested.
I have the honor to remain, very respectfully, your obedient ser-

,V nt)
J.iFORNEY,

Superinten(lent Indian. Affairs Utah fIerritory.
General A. S. JOHNSTON,

'Com' D)elpartment Utah, C(amp Floyd, Utah Territory.

8. General Johnston to Dr. Forney.

HEADQUAitTERS 1)EPARTMENT OF UTA11,
CampI'loyd, U. T., June 16, 1859.

SiR: General Johlnston e(lsires me to inform you that he willltpovide
the escort and transportation needled for the children surviving the
massacref in the Mountaint MCewdow valley, asked for in your letter of
the 15th instant, an(l will also take great )leassure in aiding you to
the full scope of his authority here, and oil the roadl, in your humane

10
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efforts to transmit in comfort and safety those children to Leavenworth.
. The party will be escorted by a company of dragoons as far as Fort

Kearny, whence their safety will be secured by tlle commander of
that post.

TPhe party will be sent for and placed under charge of the escort the
day before it marches, which will be towards the end of next week,
an(l by the Timpanogos route, if sufficiently repaired.
A day's notice will be given you of the transportation being sent

to the city.
I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

F. J. PORTER,
Assistant Adjutant General.

:Dr. J. FORNEY,
Superintendent of Indian Afairs, Great Salt Lake City, U. P.

9. General Johnston, to Colonel Crosman.

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF UTAU,
camp Floyd, U. T1. June 20, 1859.

COLONEL4: The commanding general directs that three light spring
wagons, and one baggage wagon, be prepared to trans )ort to Fort
Leavenworth the children retained from massacre at the Mountain
Meadowf3, in this Territory, and also one spring wagon for the three
children of the late Daniel Foster, of Connecticut, and the person in
charge of them.
The spring wagons ewill be provided with seats, and arranged for

the comfort of the children.
The spring wagons for thle first-named party will be needed about

the middle of this week to bring the children to this camp, preparatory
to placing them under charge of the escort, which will probably leave
about Saturday next.

I am, colonel, your obedient sIrvant,
F PF. J. PORtTER,

Assistant Adjutant General.
Lienat. CO1. GEORGE H. CROSMAN,

Deputy Quartermaster General, Camp.Flloyd, U. T.

10. Dr. Forney to General Johnston.

GREAT SAiTa LAKE CITY,
June 20, 1859.

1)EAR SIR: I received your letter, in answer to mine to General
*Iohnston, in relation to the transpQrtation to Fort Leavenworth of the
seventeen childrelnan(l also your two letters on thle same Iul ject.

I can hardly find language to express my thankfulness to General
Johnston an(d yourself, for the favorable consideration of my request.
Have the kindness, my dear sir, to say to General Johnston that I

11
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appreciate llik. klindness. and return t6hifii, in behalf'of t e unf rtunate
children, sincere thanks for the generosity in aidin ), me to convey

08 I 0 olleN ill comfortiuid safety to Leavenw if 11th 0 I'ttl rt I ist ad of in
two ox-wagons an& ill company of' stindry ox-drivers.

I will be at Camp Floyd to-inorrow evolling.
I am, very resI)eCtrully, your obedient sei-vanti

J. FORNEY.
Sulmrintendent Indian Affaii,8, U. T.

Major F. J. PoRTBR ,

Assistald Aqpltald Celleral, canilp Floyd, U. T

I -1. Oe7ieral Johliston to the, Adjulaiit General.

HFW)QUARTEMS: DE.i)ARTMHNT OF UrAlf,
Camp Floyd) 11. 111.) Juiie 27, 1859.

COLONEL.. I have the honor to reporIt the departure frolii this place,
yesterday, of companies A.aIlid 0) second drairoons under tile command
of Captain Anderson, second dragoons, and to-dtty of light company C,
third artillery, witli the field-battery, under the command of' Brevet
Major -Reynolds, for tile places ofificir destination, respectively, all
announced in encral orders filoill the headquarters Of lie army.Atille reqI10st of Dr. Forney superintendent of Ifidian affairs, who
informed me that tile traiisportati:on Iprovided by the Del)artment of
the Interior was, ulifillitIable. for tile purl)ose, I have ordered spring
wauon,-, to bo furiii8lied for the conveyance to Fort Leaveilwortil, .o'f the0

M doseventeen children4hose living i ed tit tile Mo i t iere Almr, 11 i a n ea Nr

inassftere. I have directed tbut the 'I i 11 b -- id d Nv'th st b'sistelice.
M or WIlitill who will be it owed to Calvin himself' of Iii c rtificato
ofais bilit us arrival tit Fo t L enworth, hall been instiltic ca y, )n r eav
to see that good care is filken of all. the childr(I'll .aud thwart ther are,

provided witli every thilig needfill oil the rollte. These children' also
accompany the dragrootis and than, coniniander 'is C-harged with their
titifety as fair as Fort Kearny whellee tile), .Nvill be provi'dod with a
sufficient escort to Fort Leavenworth

With great respect, youl. obedient servalit,
A. S. JOHNSTON,

0610itel 2d Cavably, (tied &t. Ri-ig. Gen'l U. S. A., ("0711,g.
colotielts. COOPER

Ajutald 0'eki-al (T. Al. A., WaAbiyton city,. D. C.

a.

HKADQUARTH'its DFiARTMENT OF UTAII)
Special Orderts N(. 50

Ccunp Floyd, 11. 1'., June 23, 1859.

1. in purHuance of General OrderA No. .;2, of the 16th ultimo, froill
the headquarters of tile army, light company Qj third artillery, and
companies A) C, and F, socoild dragoons, will be relieved from duty
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in this department, and will proceed to their respective posts in the tle-
partinent of Oregon, an(l the department of thle West.
* * * * * *: * * * * * * *

III. Company F, second dragoons, is assigned to Fort Laranlij, coin-
panics A anl a to Fort Kearny,

Companies A and C will march, from Camp Floyd On: the 26th in-
stant; company F, at Fort Bridger, will march one day after the other
coliipanlwe8 pass that post, and :will keep thatlinterval between them.

Subsistence (oof the meat ration bacon) for ten -(lays Will be3 provided
at Canip Floyd, and twenty-two days :at Fort Britdger; the additional
beeves being taken from the drove at that post.
To this command is intruiste(l the safety of the orphan children re-

tained from the massacre in the Mountain Meadlow valley in this Ter-
ritory, and also thle reclaimed children of Mrs. Verguson, widow of
the late Daniel Foster; of Colllnecticut, To these infant wards of our
country the colnnIldl will render every proper assistance asked for by
thel person specially charged with attending:to their comfort.
On arriving at Fort Laramie the most ecficint company of the two

assigned to Fort Kcearny, will, if not ?ostricted by modifying orders,
proceed to execute the duty specified in section 6, paragraph 1, of Gen-

eital Orders No. 2, from the headquarters of the army.
The other company, escorting the parties intrustecd to thle two, will

continue to Fort Kearny, where at new escort to Fort Leavenwortlh will
lIe provided.

flT. At the request of the superintendentC of Indian affairs for the
territory of Utah, Brevet Major laniel P. Whiting, seventh infantry,
will supervise the care of' these parties of children now being restored
by thle government to their friends and relations, and will carry ouit on
the roail, and at Leavenworth, the wishes of tihe superintenldlent. The
Foster children under the immediate charges of Ordnance Sergeant
Black will be delivered to the d)e)t quarterinastcr at Fort Leaven-
worth, who, before their arrival, will receive fromn the Secretary of War
instructiois in regard to forwarding them to their another.
* *: *: * * * * * * * * * *

By order of Brevet Brigadier General A. S. Johnston:
F. J. PORTER,

Assistant AdfianfCttflGenral.

12. General Johw46n to the Adjutant Gielneral.

IJF.ADQUARTEHS DEPARTMENT OF UiTA1
Ca.np Floyd, U. IT, JulIY 13, 1859.

Sil: I have thre honor to ilnclose for the information Of the honor-
able Secretary of' War, the r port of Cptaill Campbell's expedition
to the southern district of this Territory.
With great respect, your obedient servant,

A. S. JOHNSTON,
Col. Second Cavalry, and Bvt. Brig. Gen. UJ. S. A., 01Comc'g.

Col. S. COOPHR,
Adjutant General U. S. A., Wahington city.

13Q
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12 a.

HEADQUARTERM DEPARTMENT OF UTAH,
Camp Floyd, U. T., Aprit 17, 1869.

SIR: The commanding general designated you to command an expe-
dition to a southern portion of this department, and has assigned to
you, in Special Orders No. 26, one company of dragoons and two of
infant 'y.
The commanding general orders that you pIroceed to Salnta Clara,

and remain in that portion of the country as long as the interests of'
the government anll the objects of the expedition require.
The objects of the expedition are, the protection of travelers on the

road to California; to inquire into depredations vwhichl are reported in
the accompanying letter ias having been committed by Indians in the
vicinity of' Santa Clara; and to furnish a company to escort to this
camp Paymaster Prince, in charge of public funds.
The commanding general directs you to report the result of' your

examination into past depredations by Indians, that if necessary addi-
tional force may be 'Sent to you; and without his orders, not to use
your force to chastise Indians except for (lde)re(lations and murders
committed while you are in their vicinity, and which need )rompt
punishment.
The )aymnaster's csco'rt (which will return to California) will be

relieved by ai company of your command, or by your hole command
if the exchange takes )lace: nt Santa Clara, an1d there is no object to
be accomplished by remaining longer in that vicinity. The new escort
will return by easy marches to this camp.
Should you think it advisable to remain on the road for a longer

time than you are lprovisiolled, you will report the fact, and make
timely requisition Ifbr supplies, which will be sent to Y(u.
You are d(lsired to take from Cedar City forage for the return to

Calif'ornia of the payinaster's escort, and also to furnish them subsist-
(onlce if' needed. Tlhe latter will be relplaced from this camp. A guide
and interpreter will be (lirtcted to report to yoll.:

I am, sir, veir respectfully, your obedient servant,
F. J. PORTER,

Ast9t ant Adjutant Gcenersd.
Captain It. P. CAMPBELL,

ASecond Dragoosn, (Comn'y Santa Clara Expedition.

12 b.

FORT Bmuwwn, July 6, 1859.
MAJOR: I have the honor to inform you that, in puIrsufiance of instruc-

tions receivedfrom thet adjutnit general's office of' this department,
dated April V7, 1859, I left Camp Flloy(l, Utah Territory, on the 21st
of April, 1859, to proceed to Santa Clara, in order to protect travelers

14
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on the road to California, and to inquire into certain depredations said
to have beell committed by the Inditns in that vicinity.
My command consisted of one company of dragoons and two com-

panies of infantry.
Nothing of interest occurred until my arrival at the Mountain

Meadows, which are situated about one hundred and fifty ;miles south
of Camlp Floyd, and on the southern rim of the basin. Here I found
human skulls, bones, and hair, scattered about, and scraps of clothingof men, women, and children. I saw one girl's dress, app arently that
of a child tenl or twelve years of age. TIlcse were the remains of a

party of l)eaceful inhabitants of the United States, consisting of menwoien, and children, and numbering about one hundred and fifty,
who were removing with their effects from the State of Arkansas to
the State of California. These emigrants were here met by the Alor-
mtoils (assisted by such 'of:the wretched Indians of the neighborhood
as they could force or persuade to join them), and massacred, with the
exceptionof such infant children that the Mormons thought too young
to remember or tellof the affair. The Mormons had their faces painted
so asXto disgllise themselves as Indians.

Thle Mormons were led on by John D. Lee, then a high dignitary
in the self-styled Church of Jesus Christ of' Latter Day Saints, and
Isaac Haight, now a(lignitary in the same.

This affair began by a surprise. The emigrants vere encamped near
a spring,from whichthere is a ravine. Along this ravine tlie Mor-
lmuons and Indians crel)t to the spring during the night. When the
ceigrantsarose in the morning they were fired upon, and some twelve
orfifteen of them killed. The emigrants then seiZed their arms and
(lef'ende(l themselves so bravely that, after four d(ays, the Mormons and
Indians had not succeeded in exterminating them. This horrid affair
was finilihed by aln act of treachery. Johni D. Lee, havingiwashed the
lmaint from his face, caine to theemlligrants and told them that if thley
wold surrender themselves, an(l give their property to thle Indlians,
that theMormonls would conduct them safely back to Cedar City. The
ermigrants then surrendered, with their wives and children. They
wvere taken aboutal mile and a hialf from the spring, where they, their
wives,and their children, (with th" exception ofsomeC ifitullts,) were

ruthlessly killed.'T'Iminfnlt8 weretaken to Cedam' City, wheretlhey were either sold
Or'giVe'n away to such of the MormIons aS desired them. It is a noto-\
rio1is factthat these infhlnts never have( beeinwith tile Indians. The
lrol)erty of the emigrants was taken to Cedar City, where it was put

1I) latpublicc auction amIdfsold.Theso facts were derived from tho children dvhiodid remember and
could tell ofthe matter, from Indians, and fromn the Mormonsl: them-slves . This affair occurred in thlemonth ofSeoteniber, in 185't.

Onl leavingtile Mountaiii Meadows4, I proceed on with myc(oiniand
tothoe river Santa Cla'a, where I arrived Onl tile 8th of Maly, 1859. 1
sentfor Jackson, the chief'of the tribe said to beiost hostile to the
Americans. He acknowledged thathoe had committed someoutrages
on theI)eople of the United States. Ho made the most humble protes- -

tationsof' future good conduct, inwVhichI put some reliance, it' heis
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not encouraged to commit overt acts by the Mormons. These Indians
are a imiscrable set of root-diggers, and nothing is to be apprehended
from them but by the sinallest afid most careless partY
The commanding general having concludedl that the objects of the

expedition were accomplished, I returned to Camp Floyd, Utah Terri-
tory, agreeably to his instructions.

I am sir very respectfully, your obedient servant,
R. P. CAMPBELL,

Gap)t. Second Dragoons, Com'g Santa Clara expcditin.
Major F. J. PonTER,Assistant Adjutallt General U. S. Army,

Camp lFloyd, Utah Territory.

12 c.

CAMP AT MOUNTAIN MEADOWS,
Utah Y'erritory, May 6, 1859.

CAPTAIN: I have the honor to report, that this morning, 11ccom-
palied by the detachment of men furnished by your orders, I proceeded
to inter the remains of the men, women, an(l children of the Arkansas
emigrant train, massacred by the Mornlons at the Mountain Meadows,
Utah Territory, ill the month of September, 1857.
At the scene of the first attack, in the immediate vicinity of our

present camp, marked by a small defenfsive trench made by the emi-
grants, a number of hullman skulls an(l 1)ones and hair were found
scattered about, bearing the appearance of never having been buried;
also remnants of bedding and wearing apparel.
On examining the trenches or excavations, whicl appear tO have

been within the corral, and within which it was supposed some written
account of the massacre mighlt have been concealed, some few human
bones, human hair, and whitt seeme(l to be the feathers of bedding,
only were discerned.

Proceeding twenty-five hundred yards ill a direction N. 1lo W.,
I reached a ravinle fifty yards distant from the road, bordered by a
few bushes of scrub oak, in' which I found portions of the skeletons of
many :bodies-skulls, bones, and matted hair-most of which, on
examination, I concluded to be those of men. Three hundred and
fifty yards further on, and in the same direction, another assembly of
human remains were found,' whichh, by all appearance, had been left
to decay upon the surflaec. Skulls and bones, most of which I believed
to be those of women, some also of children, probably ranging from
8ix to twelve years of' agCe. Here, too, were found masses of women's
hair, childreDS's bonnets, such as are generally used upon the plains,
andi pieces of lace, inuslin, calicoes, and other material, part of
women's and children's apparel. I have buried thirteen skulls, and
many more scattered fragments.
Some of' the remains above referred to were found upon the surface

of the ground, with a little earth partially covering them, and at the
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place where the mon: were 0 massaer~d; some lightly buried, but the
majority were scattered about upon the plain. Many of the skulls
bore marks of violence, beingpierced with bullet holes, or shattered
by heavy blows, or cleft with some sharp-edged instrument. The
bones were bleached and worn by long exposure to the elements, and
bore the impress of the teeth of wolves or other wild animals.
The skulls found upon the ground near the spring, or position of

first attack, and adjoining our camp, were eight in number. These,
with the other remains there found,were buried, under my supervision,
at the base of the bill, upon the hill-side of the valley.
At the rate 2,500 yards distant from the spring, tile relative posi-

tiols and general appearance of the remains seemed to indicate that
the men were there taken by surprise and massacreL. Some of the
skulls showed that fire-arms had been discharged close to the head. I
have buried eighteen skulls and ltarts of many more skeletons, found
scattered over the space of Ia mile towards the lines, ill which direction
they were no doubt dragged by the wolves.
No names were found upon any article of apparel, or any peculiarity

in the remains, with the exception of one bone, the upper jaw, in
which the teeth were very closely crowded, and which contained one
front tooth more than is generally found.
Under my direction, the above-mentioned remains were all properly

bulrieCd, the respective locality being marked with mounds of stone.
I have the honor to be, captain, very respectfully, your obedient

servant,
CHARLES BREWER,

Assistant Surygeon United States Army.
Captainl R. P. CAMPIBErL,

Second Dragoone, Commanding Paymaster's Escort.

13. General Johnston to the Adjutant General.

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF UTAHN
Camp Floyd, U. T., August 17, 1859.

COLONEL: I have the honor to-transmit, for the information of the
General-in-Chief, a letter from the governor of the Territory, enclosing
one from the Superintendent of In(lfan Affairs relating to the murder
an(l rol)bing of an emigrant party by Indians, probably Bannack and
Sho11shonees, and my reply, which will show my action thereon; and
also Lieutenant Gay's report of a successful attack made by him upon
the depredating band of' Indians.

I beg leave to observe, in relation to the tenor of my reply to Gov-
ernor Cumming, that recent orders of the honorable Secretary of War,
a copy of which is transmitted:herewith, places this Territory on thle
footing of a State, or any other Territory, as to the means of' obtain-
ing the cooperation and ail of the federal troops in cases contemplated
by the act of 3d of March, 1807, except when, in the opinion of the
governor of this Territory, their assistance may be necessary for the

Ex. Doc. 42-2
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enforcement of the sentences 'and deorees of the courts. This, you
will perceive, is a specific grant of power to the governor, and my
authority to furnish'troops on his requisition is strictly limitedito the
class of cases mentioned::above. It is therefore that I have informed
him I will refuse a compliance with anyvrequisitionifroin himfor troops
intended to be employed for any purpose not specifically authorized by
my orders. I presume it will not be argued that under any circum-
stances lie could be authorized to call for troops for military purposes,
for the performance 9f duties which: are strictly enjoined upon the
commander of the department, and more especially its the offense to be
punished occurred beyond the limits of' this Territory, in Oregon.

Witli great respect, your obedient servant,
A. S. JOHNSTON,

:Col. Second Cavalry, and Brevet Brig. Gen., U. S. A.
The ADJUTANT G&NERAL,

Headquarters of the Army, New York city.

13 a.

EXECUTIVE OFFIcE, UTAH,
Great Salt Lake City) Augulst 3, 1859.

SIR: I have the honorSto inclose herewith a note addressed to nle by
J. Forney, Esq., sutperintendent Of Indian affairs covering a letter
addressedl to him by Samuel"SmithI of Box Elder, detailing a state-
menit of the killing of certainly emigrantts, on the northern route to
Calif'ornia, in the vicinity of the Goose Creek mountains.

Thle superintendent leaves here to-day for Box Elder,
Verbal ;information,0:coiimmun1icated by the bearer of' the note from

Smith, induces the belief that a larger number of' 1)er1s80o1s have been
slain than is indicated by the -written communication. I therefore
respectfully request thlt you will detach a suitable command, with
instructions' to communicate with SuperintendentForney, at Brigham
City, with :a view of arresting the murderers andl furnishing protection
upon the road.
Your compliance with this request will oblige, very respectfully,

your obedient servant,
A. CUMMING,

Governor of Utah Territory.
General A. S. JOHNSTON.

13 b.

SUPERINTENDENT 8 OFFICE, UTAH
Great Salt Lake City, August 2, 1859.

SIR: Inclosed is a copy of a, letter just received. The bearer of the
letter gives additional information, which, with the letter, leaves
scarcely a doubt but that aI :emigrant train has been attacked, and a
portion or all murdered by Indians stupposed to be from the State of
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Oregon. It is said the murder was committed iear the Goose Creek
mountains. A small military force should be sent north. I will go
north to-morrow.

I remain, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
J. FORNEY,

Superintendent Indian Affairs for Utah.
His Excellency A. CUMMING)

Governor of Utah.

13 C.

BRIGHIAM CITY, Box ELDER COUNTY, U. T.
Augtust 1, 1859.

DEAR SIR: Agreeable to your request, that I should inform you
whenever any movements of the Indians took place of any importance
in this part of your superintendency, I wish to say to you that some
In(ians came in yesterday from the north, with reports that some
wvllites had been murdered some two hundred miles north of this, on
the Californiua road. The reports were so vague and contradictory
that at first I did not consider it worthy of credence. But having
afterwards learned that some Indians had in their possession some
horses mules, oxen, and other property unusual for them to traffic in,
trying to trade the same to citizens in the suburbs of this city, I
thought best to institute an inquiry in reference to the matter. I fear
the reports too true, though there is much contradiction in regard to
the circumstances and extent of the murder.
One report is, that two Indians entered a canmp of emigrants to do

some trading, and were killed by said emigrants. The Indians then
gathered their forces, and revenged their death by killing five men
and two children belonging to said camp. Other reports make the
number of the whites killed more, and state other causes for the
ma11ssacre.

I send this by Mr. Nichols Bishop, of this settlement, who will give
you further particulars. I send by him it daguerreotype, which has
been obtained from the Indians by one of our citizens, and given to me
to send down to you. It is stated by the Indians to belong to some
of the murdered party.

Yours, with much respect, &c.,
SAMUEL SMITH.

Dr, FORNEY,
Superintendent Indian Afairs.

13 d.

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF UTAH,:
camp Floyd,) U. T.,)Augus 5,18U9.

SIR: Yolur letter of the 3d instant, requesting that a detachment
of troops may be sent on the northern California route, for the appre-
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hension of Indians said to have murdered a party of emigrants, and
for the protection of travelers on that route, has been received, and I
will, in consequence of the information contained in your letter, but
not in compliance with y6ur requisition, dispatch a force, as I would
do should~the like information comnefrom any source entitled to credit;
to arrest those who may be found on inquiry to have been engaged in
the murder, and to punish any others who may attempt to rob or
murder on the route.

In view of the very specific orders of the Secretary of War, of recent
(late, limitinigmniy3 authority to comply with your requisitions for the
aid of the United States troops .to cases which in a Single contingency
may occur, I feel it a duty to refuse a compliance with your requisi-
tions for :troops in any other case whatever tban those specified.
Should any extraordinary exigency occur, such as is contemplated

by the law approved 3d March, 1807, for the use of the military force,
the mode is there pointed out by which the aid of such force can be
obtained, which of course is well known to you.

I have the honor to transmit an extract from my orders mentioned
above.
With great respev.t, your obedient servant,

A. S. JOHNSTON,
Col. Second Cavalry, and Brevet Brig. GCen., U. S. A.

His Excellency A. CUMMING,
Governor of Utah.

13 e.

[Extract.]

HEADQUARTrERS DEPARTMENT OF UTAHi,
Camp Floyd, U. T., Augymt 5, 1859.

Special Orders No. 65.]
1. A company of dragoons will march from Camp Floyd on the

8th instant, for the northern road to California, for the purpose of
giving protection to emigration thereon, and attending to other duties,
whici will be assigned it in special instructions from the commanding
gene.-al.
A subaltern from one of the infantry regiments will be assigned to

the command, also a medical officer.
The company will be rationed for forty days, and will take charge

of .ifteen days' provisions for the trool)s of the Humboldt expedition
under Major Lynde, seventh infantry; two sevenths of the meat ration
will be bacon.
The necessary transportation and supplies will be provided from the

depot.
* * * * * * * *

By order of Brevet Brigadier General A. S. Johnston:
F. J. PORTER,

Assistant Adjutald General.
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13/.

HEADQUARTEIIS )DPARTMENT OF UTAIH,
Camp Floyd, U. T., Augut 6, 1859.

MAJOR: The commanding general directs that on your return march
you OCiCUpy, some point or points near the ncrossin of Bear river, mosb
suitable: for you to keep the road under observation and at the same
time recruit your animals, and rema in that vicinity till you have
only sufficient provisions to last you to this camp. :He wishes.you
from those points 0 to send, always under an officer, parties to patrol
several days at a time the country most occupied, or likely to be occu-
pied, by Indians. To enable you to perform this duty the amount of
grain ordered to be collected at Bear river, of which I notified you in
my letter of the 3d instant, has been increased, and fifteen days' pro-
visions sent to you under charge of Lieutenant Ryan. I inclose a
letter reporting a rumored massacre by Indians of an emigrant party
on the California road, the circumstances of which you will inquire.
into, and, if the report be true, make every effort to arrest or punish
the murderers.

In selecting camp ground on your return to this post, the command-
ing-general wishes you to avoid, if possible, in every case camping in
the immediate vicinity of any of the settlements, and to prevent mem-
bers of the command lingering in or frequenting them.

I am, major, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
F. J. PORTER,

A&isttant Adjutant General,
Major ISAAC LYNDE,

Seventh Infantry, Commanding Humboldt Expelilon.

13 g.

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF UTAU,
OzCamp Floyd, U. T., August 6, 1859.

SIR: I am de3eirod by the commanding general to furnish you the
accompanying letter, reporting a rumor of Indians on the northern
road to California having murdered a party of emigrants, and to in-
struct you in his name as follows:
You will proceed, as rapidly as the condition of your animals and

regard, for their future efficient service will permit, to Bear river,
where you will inquire into the truth of this reported massacre, and
the circumstances attending it, and arrest all you may find to have
been engaged in the murder.
Your command and Major Lynde's are to remain on the Califorrija,

road; the latter near the crossing of Bear river, and yours west of it,
as long :asyour provisionswill hold out and permit you to return to
this camp by the time they are consumed. You will, therefore, after
making at Bear river all necessary inquiries, continue to the reported
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scene of the massacre, giving protection to emigrants, arresting ma-
rauders, and re-covering and restoring stolen property.

It is desirable 0to avoid bringing on unnecessarily hostilitie with
Indians; butitthey should resist your demands for the restoration of
property or the delivery of depredators, you will take both by force;
and if met by any hostile demonstrations, or any depredations are
committed while you are in that country, and it be possible to reach
the offenders, or those engaged in committing the reported massacre,
you will inflict upon them exemplary and decided punishment.

In selecting your camping places,., while passing through the settle-
ments, going and returning, the commanding general wishes you to
avoid, if possible, in eyery cae halting and camping in the vicinity sf
any of the towns, and to prevent members of your command lingering
in or frequenting them.
You arc desired to avail yourself f all proper occasions to commu-

nicate t 4hese headquarters, and report all :matters:of interest.
1 am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

F. J. PORTER,
Assistant Ac(utant General.

Second Lieutenant E. GAY,
Second Dragoons, UVommanding Detachment.

13 h.

Box ELDER) U. T., August 1l, 1859.
SIR: I have the honor to report that, having arrived yesterday

within six miles of this place, I went into camp, and two h-ours after-
wards had reliable informnationl that aL large body of Indians were
encamped somewhere in the cafion leading from this valley to Cache
valley. I was informed, at the same time, that within five or six days
past they had stolen a number of animals from this and the adjoining
settlementH, an( that they were the same party who ha(l murdlered anid
robbed an emigrant train on, Sublett's Cut-off.

I immediately resolved to attack them. At ten o'clock, p. m., I broke
up camp and moved quietly to this village. Here I left my wagons
with a guard, and proceeded with a command of forty-two men, taking
with me four pack-mules, with four days' rations, in order to be pre-
fared if necessary, to pursue them in the mountains, By two, a. mI,

Ihadverything prepared for the 'march, and having proc-ured a guide
who professed to know the Indian encampment, entered the caffon.
Aftr a rapid march of two hours -the encamipment was indicated by a
number of ponies grazing, and in a moment afterwards by the Indians
jumping up from their beds under the bushes and running up the
mountain sides, which were here covered with undergrowth. I imme-
diately formed my men and charged u'ponx the main body of them. In
thischarge several of the enemy werekilled and wounded. They then
scattered and took position behind rocks, &c. Here they were charged
and driven uil )recipices beyond the reach of men on horses, X thn
dismounted my men and kept up a fire at last an hour and a half,
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which for an hour was briskly returned by the enemy; but he gradually
ceased to fire. 'The precipitou's nature of theground rendering it
utterly impossible to pursue him, I drove off his horses and returned
to this plaee. The attack commenced just before the dawn,:and doh-
tinued until after sunrise,

I amu satisfied that the encampment was selected with a view to
defense; and for this purpose they probably could not have found a
more advantageous place in the whole Wasatch range of mountains.
(It is known as Devil's Gate carion.) As soon as the Indians were
discovered, my Mormon guide ":slid" quietly from his horse, and was
seen no more until my return, near this town, I overhAuled him. He
was unable to give any satisfactory reason for his desertion. I have
since learned that he came .into town during the action and reported
thatt we would never get out of that place." The horse he rode was
one I: had furnished hint, at d, strange to say, was found with an Indian
on1 his back. The latter was shot, and the horse taken. If' my guide
had desired to lead me into a fatal ambuscade, he could not have taken
me to a spot better adapted for the purpose.
The guide and many others estimated the Indian force at from 160

to 200 warriors; the number killed was about- twenty., as near as we
can calculate. I had no men killed, but four severely, though proba-
bly not mortally, and two slightly wounded. Nine of my horses were
wounded. The number of horses taken wtas twenty, nearly half being
American horses.

It is a source of great satisfaction to mc to know that one 'of the
horses captured proved to be one which the Indians had taken from
the train on Sublett's Cut-off, at the time of the massacre of July.
Probably more belonging to the same train. would have leen captured,
had not the Indian animals stampeded durinir the action, which could
not be prevented, owing to the smallguard tiat could be spared from
the company for the purpose of securing property.

I am much indebted to Lieutenant Ryan for his services on this oc-
casion, which were performed with a masterly intrepidity and coolness
durinS the whole action.

Assistant Surgeon J. Moore receives the heartfelt thanks of myself,
as well as the soldiers under my command, for his immediate and kind
attentions to the wounded, and his continual personal attendance since.
The company behaved nobly on this occasion. I have the honor to

refer the genetal commanding to the list of wounded accompanying
this report.

It is rumored to-day that 200 Bannack Indians arrived in Cache
valley yesterday. These, with th.e lumber of Indians already there
will make probably about 600. A large emligration is near a point on
Bear river, twenty miles from this (Cache) valley. I shall wait hero
long enough to care for my woun(Ied and recruit my horses, when I
shall proceed to Bear river, in or(ler to prevent the Indians from in-
terfering with emigration.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
E. GAY,

Second Lieut., Comp'y G, Second Dragoons, 0onm'.
Major F. J. PORTHR0R

A&ietant AdVut'ant General, Department of Utah.
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Box ELDER, U. T., August 13, 1859.
Company G, Second Dragools.-List of men wounded in action with

Indians, in Devil's canion, near Box Elder, Utah Territory, on August
13, 1859:

First Sergeant Thomas J. Durnin, severely.
Corporal R. F. Cordua, severely.
Bugler Henry Wintertower, severely.
Private Jacob Eggersteat, slightly.
Private Samuel Smith, severely.
Private Michael Tiornay, severely.

E. GAY,
Second Lie'lt. Second Dragoons, Commnanding Company.

13 1.

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMIEINT OF UTAHI,
ICamp -Floyd, lJ. ['., Au?.lst 14, 1859.

Sey~cial OidIrs, No . 71.]
1. A comIn)alyl of dragoons will be desp)atchcd fromll Camp Floyd to

the vicinity of the California crossing of Bear river, where it will unite
with the command under Lieutenant Gay, secon(l dragoons, and
establish a depot to operate from.
Two companies of infantry will, as soon als practicatble, follow the

company of dragoons to the samc point.
These commandswill 1e) ratione( fOrI twenty days.
These companies will )e employed, uier thed direction of the senior

officer present, in p)rotecting emnigration and puinishing d l)redators.
:2. The commander of the'Humboldt expeditioll will, onl arrival at

the depot, or vicinity, take command, and, with his present command,
continue to carry out the objects of the ex1)edition as conveyed in
special instructions.

3. Subsistence to last to the 20th October, for Major Lynde's present
command, Lieutenant Gay's company, and the coml)anies mentioned
in this or(ler, will be sent to the, depot ill the contractor's trains.

4. The appropriate staff departments will })rovilde the necessary
supplies and transportation.
As government transportation at command is very limited, transpor-

tation for the companies will be restricte(l to absolute wants. The
contractor's train will earry additional articles 'if needed.

5. After permitting the quartermaster's animals now with him to
recruit for a few days, XMajor Lynde will send to the depot all transpor-
tation not required to bringfall his commndmid to this camp at the time
their supplies are expaenled.
By order of Brevet Brigadier General A. S. Johnston.

F. J. PORTER,
-- A6sis8tant Adjuftant (General.
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13j.
HEADQUARTERS DEPARTMENT OF UTAI,
Camp Floyd, U. T., AugUSt 15, 1859.

SIR: In addition to previous instructions, somewhat modified by
Special Orders No. 71, accompanying, the commanding general orders
you as follows:

1. That while in the Indian country the troops be kept well in hand,
anl sinall detachments be not lightly risked.

2. To be cautious in attacking parties, lest they should prove to be
unoffending Indians; but to punish, if they merit it, to the full extent
of your power, all offenders who may array themselves against peace
and the traveling community.

3. If the Indians sue for peace, demand the surrender of the parties
engaged in late marauding, and the outrages on Bear river last spring,
and the restoration of all property in their possession belonging to
others than themselves.

4. Insist that travelers through their country shall not be molested,
and impress ul)on the Indians that all offenses against travelers and
thle settlements will be punished even to the extermination of their tribes
if' necessary.

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
F. J. PORTER,

Assistant Acjutant General.
OFFIcER COMMANDING BEAR RIVER EXPED1ITION,

Cache Valley, Utah Territory.

14. General Johnston, to General Scott.

HEADQUARTERS DEPARTIMFNT OF UTAH,
Camp Floyd, U. T., Novemnber 2, 1859.

COLONEL.: I have tie honor to transmit Major Lynde's report of his
march from this post to near the sink of the Humboldt river, whither
hel had been ordered to escort a party of emigrants from this Territory,
and to give protection to thleemigrants generally on the route. It also
embraces a report of his operations, with additional force, in the region
between Bear and Snake rivers, in Washinqton Territory.

The. troops under' his command, consisting of three companies of
(Iragoons and three of infantry, were kept actively employed during a
part of August, September, and October, in scouting on the emigrant
route, and, I do not doubt, vigilantly and faithfully exerted themselves
to punish depredators.

I have ascertained that three parties were robbed ,and ten or twelve
of their members, comprising men, women, and children, murdered.
One of these parties was plundered before, and two subsequent to the
arrival of the troops. The perpetrators of the robbery of the first
party were severely chastised by a detachment of dragoons, under the
command of Lieutenant Gay. The troops failed to discover the robbers
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of the last two parties that wore attacked. They are supposed to be
vagabonds from the Shoshlollee-or Snake and Bannack Indians, whose
chiefs deny any comp)licity with these predatory bands.
There is abundant evi(dence to prove that these robber bands are

accompanie(l by white men, and probably instigated anI led by them.
On that account I am inclinc(l to believe the disclaimer of the Indians
referred to, of having any knowledge of' the robberies or any share in
the plunder. It is more than probable that these b)ands are:composedl
of vicious tools in tha* han(ls of 'worse white men. Notwithstanding
the num)ner'ofpeoreons engage(I in deopredating upon the emigrants is
insignificant yet, from thile facilities afforded in an open, moluntalinous
country of watching the mnovemnents of the troops employed for their
protection, frequentopplortunities are afforded formaking attacks with-out risking fan encouinterlwitlh ally l)ortion of the troops, ard, after
having lperletri ted a robbery, by scattering in retreat, successfully
clude bothl search and pursuit. Thle facility for committing these (lop-redations lies in the circumstances mentioned aend in the straggling,
unarined and helpless condition of thle emigrants, (if provided with
arms they are frequently too lazy and reckless to carry them,) which
renders them an easy, prey to a conteml)tible Oncliey. There are some
who are always ready for an emergency; but these form the exception.
It is, therefore, in miy opinion, impracticable toprotect travelers, with
their flocks and herds- scattered over so extensive a route, by moving
columns, and it indicates the necessity of having fixed points on these-
routes, from which troops may act (luring theAseason of travel. I
would, therefore, respectfully suggest a method by which protection
can be assured to the thousands of emigrants, and their tenls of thou-
Hands of' horses, cattle, anad sheep, which anlinially make the great
overland journey to thle Statesof Californlia and Oregon, and Wash-
i gton Territory.

I purpose to effect this object by establishing temporarily, that is,
during the siinmner and fall months, a force of' infantry and cavalry
on the Port Neuf, (near the junctionof theSoda springs andLander's
road,) and another (letac Ilniet similarlycoInl)osed, on Goose creek,
near tho:Goose Creek mountains, with orders to scout thle country
bordering the emigrant roads south of' Snake river, and to furnish at
Beaver creek, onLander's road, an escort every five days, commencing
the 25th of June, for parties who may desire protection. This escort
will be taken from the detachment on the Port Nceif, and relieved at
Raft river by another from;Goose creek,: which wil accompany the
emigrantsto the Humboldt, beyond which, if circumstances require,
they can be conductedI to a l)oint of safety.
To giveprotection to the emigration which may branch off at Raft

river for Oregon, I design only to patrol as far as the Salmon Falls of
Snake river thle roadto Oregon, as it will be impracticable to send fre-
quent escorts, on accont of the scarcity of grass and water, and to
relieve the settlers in thenorthern part of:this Territory from the de-
mands and imj)ortunities of the Indians, who rely upon them to supply
their wants andi to provide a market for their spoils taken from the
emigrants. Ishall, )lace a force in the vicinity of the crossing of
Bear river. I purposealso to employ a portion ofthe garrison at Fort
Bridger on the emigrant road from Green, river to Beaver creek.
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Should any party of emigrants not wish to encounter the delay con-
sequent upon such an arrangement, is earnestly recommended that
they should so organize themselves for protection-say in parties of at
least fifty armed men-as to be secure against any attack. To carry
out these views, the cooperation of the Department of the Interior will
be required. It will be necessary for the department to appoint agents
for the Shoshonee and Bannack tribes before the commencement of the
emigrating season. (I understand they have no agents at l)resent.)
Theseagents should reside with, watch over, and advise their respec-
tive tribes, and be instructed to warnithe Indians to keep away from
the roads or their vicinity; and that, if met by the troops, they will be
attacked, as it will be impossible to (liscrimIinate between the friendly
and hostile Indians on the routes. There can only be the presumption
of guliit, if they go there. It will not be possiblec to detect the offenders,
if those tribes are allowed to resort to the roads(during the season of
emigration. This restriction is absolutely necessary, to avoid involving
the government in a general war with the mountain tribes. The agents
should be instructed also to forbid any traders from going on or
establishing themselves on any part of' the route west of the South
Pass, as it is wholly through Indian country, and manv of these men
are supposed to be instigators, if not l)articipaants, ink the robberies
perpetrated on the route. To give effect to this, notice should be pub-
lished in the local newspal)ers.
The department of Utah ought to be extended to include the portion

of Washington Territory south of the forty-fourth parallel of latitude,
to bring those tribes under the control of the commander of the depart-
ment ofUtah, and to recentt, under existing orders, embarrassing
complications.

I beg leave also to suggest, in furtherance of the execution of this
plan, that the commander of the department of Oregon should be in-struected to place, for thle summer, a force at or near Fort Boise, to
patrol, as far as practicable towards Salmon falls, in cooperation with
the force of this department, for the protection of that part of the
emigration which will diverge towards Oregon from the main route
near Fort Hall.

I also inclose copies of letters from Mr. F. W. Lander, superintend-
ent of the South Pass wagon road expedition, and Dr. J. Forney,
superintenlndent of Indian affairs for this Territory, relating to the
In(lian disturbances of the past summer.

With great respect, your obedient servant,
A. S. JOHNSTON,

Colonel Second Cavalry and Bvt. Brig. Gen., U. S. Army.
Lieut. Col. LORENZO TiHOMAS, A88t. Acd~j. Gen.,

Headquarters of the Army, New York City, N. Y.
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14 a.

CAMP ON WFsT BRANCHI OF RAFT RIVER,9
15 mile8from City Rock, Augut 16, 1859.

SIR: I have the honor to transmit to you the following important
information regarding a transaction of which you have already proba-
bly received some intelligence.
An Indian lad',, named No-c-no-kook,in English, "The Boy that

Runs Fast," about fourteen years of age, belonging to Pocatira's band.
of Western Snakes, came into my camp to-day, accompanied by two
other Indlians of the same tribe, and informed Ine of' the massacre of
a smallparty of emigrants, about twenty miles east of thle junctionI of
the Fort Hall and Hedspeth roads, on the west branch of' Raft river.
The attacking l)artY consisted of about thirty warriors, of. the Salt

Lake or Southern Snake -Inidians, under the direction of a chief named
Jag-e-ah, or, in English, "The Man who Carries the Arrows." This
chief was the leader in the massacre., Two other princil)al men were
present-one gained Sow-wich, which, translated, means, nearer than
anything else, "The Steam from a Cow's Belly;" and another, called
Ah-gutch, or "The Salmon." There were other Indians present,
whose names are Jah-wvin-poah, or II The Water Goes in the Path ;"
Jag-en-up, or "The Mist after the Rain ;" and Wal-nic-tuh-niah,
which hardly bears translation.
Four white men were killed, one man and one woman wounded.

After the Massacre, the Indian l)arty divided, alaortion crossing the
mountain towards the( Humboldt, but the, larger number and the two
chief's going back with the stolen propertyy toNvards Salt Lake City.
They are now said to be either at Rush valley, a favorite haunt of
theirs, in the Morxno- settlements, or nearer the city. The boy brought
to camp a blanket taken from the emigrants (luring thle massacre, and
which was given him by one ofthle murderers. He is mliuch frightened,
having been present during my treaty last season with Pocatara's
band. His idea was to coime in and give up tlme blanket and all he
knew of the matter. le assuresi me that none. of Pocatara's band were
engaged in' the affair, Which I have little reason to doubt, as they have
several times passed small parties of unarined men, having valuable
unille anlf ilhorsesi in their possession, through their country single thle
treasty ol last year.

I find it impossible to induce the boy to accomipany the bearer,
ThomastH Lavitto, my interpreter, to thle city. H1e iH more afraid of' tle
Ind(linsi tlhftn: thle white men. I (lo not like to use force, as it might
prevent father disclosure of Crime b)y, desitroying thle trust: Of thle
Indians ofktlis vicirity- in thle Propriety of' linking such facts known.
I send, therefore, thle bilalriket tand the uilcle of' the l)boy, who is inI 1s0s-
14emsion of' the facts, suld (Arlf p)oirlt out the I n(iaH designatedl. AIr.
Lavitt4) is a18lo perfectly c(nIver.sant with all the facts ill thiH Case as
related by the. oy.

Ther bJovy met seine*Ii( Of' the Jillr(lorers0near Rtlush valley on their re-
tuirn frolm the fight, arn(l they then told him they had sto()1len thirty
cattle, andia number of' illiles. Three loIges of' this saNme tribe, or
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Pay-e-ah's band of Mormon Snakes, have been on the new road via
Salt River valley the present season on their way to Buffalo with the
party of Ti-wan-doah: or "Old Snag," They stole five horses from
emigrants, two of which were recovered. "Snag" can poiht out the
Indians who stole these horses, and should be made to (o so on their
return home.

Jen-too and other leading Indians of the Snake arnd Pannah tribes
desire these difficulties ended, and will give all the aid in their power
to accomplish such a result. Thiscan hardly take place, however, until
some of the worst of the Indians are punished. The Pannahs are now
quiet. I have met about forty lodges. The Kamass Prairie and Fort
BoisW Pannahs have refused to come into the payment, being afraid of
the troops, but have sent back three horses stolen from the whites.

I recommendl to your notice Thomas Lavitto, who has accompanied
me amongst the Indiais when it was impossible for me to obtain
another interpreter, and when my party had been deserted by every
other mountaineer from apprehensions of Indian troubles. Lavitto
rides express to bring the intelligence I transmit, and, from the nature
of it, will encounter much risk, not only now, but hereafter. It i's my
opinion that these marauding bands are stimulated by inhabitants of
Utah Territory to steal cattle, horses, and mules for their (the whites)
benefit; all ny observations of the last and present season favor this
sul)position, and I have no doubt that the stolen property of this last
massacre will be found in such hands as to fully justify the observation.

I have the honor to request that this letter may be laid before Gov-
ernor Cumnming, and General Johlnston, of the Utah army, and that a
copy of it be transmitted to the honorable Secretary of the Interior.
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

F. W. LANDER,
Supecrmtentden t, d£*c.

Alr. FORNEY, Superintendent of IndHian Affairs,
Salt .Lake6City, Utah Terq itory.

14 b.

CAMI ON 1BARt RivER,
Utah Territory, qfiulyllst 17, 185'9.

MA.Join: I havo thfe honor to re )ort that I enCanll)ed ait this plaClo (11
thoe evening of thel 15thl. Soon ater amping I ascertailled that all
111(linli Was alt the ferry inquiring wVhlich roa(l I intended to take. A
ol(lier, tient to th ferry to procurtieta guide, brou ghlt th(e Indian into
camp after (lrk. After COnisi(leral)le talk with him I elt curtain that
the Inlians (who welr(3 ngtargd inl theo 1assaceTof J1lj) wNere encamped
inl Malad valley, LL(l that 71,e Was tle p)riiIipal chief of thle party.
Instead of going to CachelValley as, I had0 intended, I sent),il the
o1(rniing Oft thle 16th, t 11011-ot0ilildisiolled officer anid eight Ilenl to the

hill overlooking the valley Nvith (lirectionas to exaline it well with a
glass4.
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The party returne(l that evening and reported that nothing could
be seen of Indians although they had examined as directedd and gone
several miles further into the valley. Some traders passed my canisabout dark and stated that fifteen lodges of Indians were encam ed
about twenty miles Sfrom this place on a creek running into Ma1ad
river. I left; camp with forty men the next morning, the 17th, at one
o'clock, and proceede'd to the position indicated, arriving at dawn of
day. The Indians had moved from that position, and we continued
on five miles further up the valley, when rounding a spur of the
mountain we discovered the Indians about a mile and a half froln us
to our right, well Up the mountain slope, with their animals all 1)acked
and on the move through a gorge or canion. The position being
inaccessible to horsemen, I thought to entice them (lown into better
ground, and retired about a quarter of a mile.

This movement brought down twenty-five warriors on their horses
to within about six hundred yards of us, where they commenced firing
and yelling. I continued on, leading my horses, to a level spot about
one lhundred yards further, and halted, with the expectation that they
might be(drawn further on, when I could overtake them before they
could get into the mountains. To give them still greater confidence,
I had the horses ulbri(lleld and grazed. This was unavailing how-
ever, and I sent forward twenty dismounted men as skirmishers, who
(rove them back into the hills. rThese mcn:were then directed to
withdraw, in order if possible to get them within range of our arms.
It was impossible', however, they keeping six hundred or seven hun-
dredSyards from us. The firing on both sides was kept uip about three
quarters of an hour without any damage on either side, with the
exce1)tion of an Indian an(l Indian horse woun(led by chance shots.
The Indians finally withdrew into the moluntains, an(l having no
provisions, I considered a chase to be useless. I grazed my animals
on an ol01 wheat field, and returned to tfhis camp, arriving at one
o'clock, p). m., to-day, making a march of fifty miles in twelve hours.
The Indians must have known of my coming a long time before my
arrival, which can only be attributed to their friends among thle whites
in thi I)airt of thc Territory
The Indian who came into my catmp proves to be "Pocatillo." I

have him in irons. He is said by trailers an(l others to be abollt the
worst Indlian in this country, and I am satisfied that lie, with an Indian
called ''Sam Pitch," were leading Indians in the massacre. As soon
as my horses are restcl (say to-morrow night) I shall take provisions
with pack mules, and with the arrangements I have made hope to be
successful in surprising these In(iians.

I am, sir, res)ectfully, your obedient servant,
E. GAY,

SecondlJieut. Second Dragoons, Conmnanding.
Major F. J. POwRTER,

48.istirant AI(jt. (Jen. Department of UMah.
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14 o.

HEADQUARTERS BEAR RIVER EXPEDITION,
Ocmp 'near the, Ford of Bear 1?iver, AvgUst 20, 1859.

8IR: I have the honor to report that I arrived at this place yester-
day, and assumed command of the 'Bear river expedition to-day.
The horses and mules of the Humboldt expedition are in as good

condition as whleniwe left Camp Floyd, and we have had but two mules
died and four taken by deserters since we left Bear river. I shall send
the surl)lus teams to Camp Floyd in a few days.
As I consider the protection-; of the einigration of the first importance,

I shall send a company of infantry andd a company of dragoons to the
northern roads leading near Fort Hall, to protect those roads until the
emigratiOn is mostly past. The emigration by that route is very great,
and the last known of'the hostile Indian's they were going. in that
direction. I shall employ the renlai(ler of the force under my com-
mand 'in scouting: in this vicinity.

I met Mr. Shepherd's train wliich was attacked by the Indians, and
obtained his statement of this affair. They were attacked in Hedspeth's
cut-off, in the day time, while in a cailon, and were fired upon from the
rocks and bushes on each side of the canlon while halted to attend to
a sick horse. Four men were immediately killed and one mortally
vounde(l, who had (lied before I saw them. They were entirely unpre-
)ared for the attack, and such of the survivors as could get off'fled to
a train in the rear. One woman was shamefully abused and beaten
and her leg broken, and a small child was thrown into the air and
suffered to fall upon the ground, by which its leg was broken. The
woman an(l child were recovering when I saw them. The train was
robbed of about thirty-five horses and mules, qnd all property they
could carry off, two gold watchess, one. silver watch, anrd about one
thousands dollars in money. Tie report in circulation tlat twvo Indians
were killed by the emigrants is utterly false.
The In(dians upon the iHumbol'It river and on the roads that we have

traveled appeare(l perfectly friendly. The mail from Great Salt Lake
CitY, to Box Elder and Brigham City is not to be trusted, as many
letters sent to persons of t lis command by that 'inail have not been
received.
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

I. LYNDE:,
Major Seventh infwdlry.

Major F. J. POnTFmR, As8s't Aq^'t. 06n.v
hleadquacrtes Dept. of Utah, Camp F'loyd, U. T.

14 d.

-H ADQUARTElRS 1)JSPARTMENT OF UTAHI,
Canip) 1l"oyd, U. 1., August 26, 1859.

MAJOR: 1 have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your com-
tnunication of the 20th, ilnstallt, with t 1mc accompanying papers.
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Inclosed you will find a communication from Mr. Lander, giving
important information regarding some of the Indians connected with
the late massacre of emigrants. The general directs that the most
prompt and vigoroLus mneasurcs be taken to Apprehend these'individuals
and punish any bands that are known to have been in any way con-
nectedl with :the latc hostilities. As the emigration will probably cease
iin about two weeks,it will be apparent to you that the utmost expedi-
tion consistent with success is desirable. Should the Indians mentioned
by Mr. Lander be apprehended they will be put in irons and held by
you until further orders. Lieutenant Gay's report was received
yesterday.

I am, major, very resJ)ectfully, your obedient servant,
LAWRENCE WILLIAMS,

: ~~~~~Aid-de-Camp.
Major ISAAC LYNDE, A

Commanding Bear River Expeditlo.-..

14 e.

HEADQUARTERS BEAR RIVER EXPEDITION,
camp on Bear River, U. T., Azugust 26, 1859.

Sr:.I have the honor to report that Captain Neil, fifth infiintry,
with his command, joined me-yesterday.
We have heard nothing of the hostile Indians since we caine here;

they have gone to thelmouintains. I think it very desirable to comn-
municate with those who were not engaged in the massacre, as I think
they may be induced to deliver up the murderers; but it will be a
difficult matter to do, as they are very much afraid of the military.
Lieutenant Gay coifljwd "Pocatillo, a chief of a small band, and lie
is still in confinement here, :but I am satisfied he was not engaged in
the murders. I think I shall release him on his promise to bring in
some of the old eni of the nation to hbave a talk. I think there is
great danger in attacking them of meeting those who are not impli-
cated in the murders. At present the feeling of hostility against the
whites is confined to a very small )ortioIi of the tribes; but, if such a
mistake should occur, it would bring the whole Snake nation, if not
others, llpon us.

Captain Wallen came here last night, and applied for transportation
l'or h-is supplies:to his camp, as the oxen of his train have become so
foot-sore that they can go no further. I shall sulpply hilln withl wagons,
which will be gone from this camp ten or twelve days; when they
return I shall 1 send thenm to Camp Floyd. I send some nineteen teatmlls
to Camip Floyd to-day.

Captain McLaws, seventh infantry, with his company, and company
G, second dragoons, left this calmp fbor the northern California roads
on the 22d instant, rationed for twenty days.

Very resI)ectfully, your obedient servant,
I. LYNDE,

Major Seventh Infantry, Commanding.
Major F. J. PORTER,.: As.sstant Aaqjutant Gaeneral,

Ileadquarter8s Department of Utah, Canp Floyd, U. T.
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AuGuST 27.
The Indians attacked a train on "Hedspeth's cut-off on the 20th

instant, killing one man and wounding threeotlhers; one of the wounded
men, with a leg and arm 'broken, is near here. The train was burned
and some fifty cattle driven off.

14f.
HEADQUARTERS BEAR RIVER ExPEDITION

Camp on Bear River, U. T., September 10, 1859.
SiR: I Ihave the honor to report that I have directed the remainder

of the surplus teams to be sent to Camp Floyd, and they will leave this
Campl) to-morrow.

Lieutenant Livingston, seconddragoons, on his return from Captain
Wallen's camnp, 'found on Raft river a party of' emligrants, consisting of
six men, two women, and three children, whose train had been attacked
by Indians about twenty-five miles west of Fort Hall, on Lander's road.
Lieutenant Livinigston sent a small party back to thle place where the
train was attacked, and found fivce men "killed," and that one woman
and two children were missing. These persons are now here, and are
perfectly destitute. I send them down by the train, and recomimend
them to the kindness of the commanding general and the officers at
the post.
Every effort haFs 1een made by this command to reach these Indians,

but without success. Captain McLaws and two companies were within
twenty-five miles of thle place of this-attack, and at the same time, yet
in a scout of twenty days he did not see an Indian. I amn convinced:
that there are no, Indians in this vicinity, and I have determined that
I will leave a guard here, and with the remainder o' this command
proceed to Fort Hall, and by sewiding out a number of parties in;dif-
ferent directions at thle same time, make another effort tofreach these
rascals. I am convinced it is of no use to follow them, unless a number
of parties act in concert; they keep their spies on the mountains and
can thus avoid the troops. I shall be prepared to be absent from this
camp for thirty days if I find it necessary.
The Indian that I had in confinement here escaped from the guard

the night after I wrote last. I have not been able to commnunlicate with
the Indians at all. He told my interpreter that if I released him hie
would not come back.

I am, major, -very respectfillly, your obedient servant,
I. LYNDE,

X:;;; M~~~t~or SeVenth. Infanitry.Major F. J.PORTERS/
Assistant Adjutant Genercal, U. S. A., ca'? Floyd, U. YV.

Ex. Doc. 42-3
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14 y.

sui.inimnziDIVNT's 0 r,vj c, ri, . UTA I1)
GI-eat Salt Lake City, 8qj)tC7nbC?,- 22, 18159.

ISIR Your letter of the 24t1i lhlstftllt. .askillg foi- .Certftiii information.
re a io I to receii e r I a 801 101 CI rilla,in I t" I t d 1) cdations b II di' II I tl 101-th In. Calif'o

road ' is received.
The I'lldiaiu." 1.,lio.attackcld tile firsfeliliaralit, party Oil Sliblett'S clit-

NNICIlle eVidently Batillack I Id 81 qli Ile s tho rnier belonging toa I 10 0 e fo
Ore(r.)Ii) and the littter to the three balids of Shoslionocs., usliall
110allillig froni AVH161v else] land B6x HIder ICounty through the northern
part offliC, Territory. I was informed that from fifteen to twenty of
Call Colliposed sald party. A Portion, or probably all the Shoshonees,
retained to Box Elder some day's subsequent to the depredation. with
some Of tho II)?.Ol)e?.Iy supposed to beloll to 811-tid emigrant party, such9

)isles cattle, Watches) s C 8 pu -cli,, ed noneas I bedquilt , &c. Tli ettlens is
of' th property from the Indlalls,. 'altilough offered at ver low prices.I y
All the 111dififis ill and. Itbollt BIox E]dCr left a day or two Previous to
i-ny,,ti-iiNaltlie.ro;tlle3,lvellttioitlitliioilglicaclic.v-,tlle.-. Ireceivedthe
abolle ]information ill Box Elder.
A few days since. 010 persons made deposition oil oath, and. left: it
ith me statillir th" Icy be16 trtl livedA0 a (ftill Which Wtts attacke&.bv

Indians oil Sllbfett'. clit4ff and I'liat one man was killed and one badly
wounded, and tlv( others slightly t1lesc men Iare n61v at Can-ij) Floyd.
I am not in. ]josscsSioh-6f any filtcts of depredations on (Lander's road."

sent for 11 Lit-fle, Soldier a, friendly Indian Clind really amo Iig if not
the most, -rellable 6f. all the Sliosh6liec..Clli6fs) illilyiediately after my
I. t .fl 6111 Rub 0 1 Is me th t all thec urn y valle Little; 8 Idier " asi.iire
good Indians coulpfisi.g the blaild: in the nortliern. part of the Terri-
forY, have really left there. Some naive gone to Chief Washakee's
'e"11-yip)"Itild soille. to other parts.. ill p"Ill".41-1111,11ce of' lily advice. I-le also
assures, Hie that tile chief8 Of those northern bands bave discarded all
the bad Indians AV116 assisted in the depredations and themselves also
left the Country.

Little Soldier " further says, that none but the bad. Indians are
now On thoIse northern roads.

I will get all the information abolit tell northern Indians that it is
in my polver to (10 and will Communicate to you any facts that may
I d in the:apprehension offliose bad Ji di

I remain very respectfully, yotir obedient servant
J.FORNEY,

Sulwinten(lent of hdian Affaii-s U. 1'.
Major F. J. Poitn"I'l

'. ActAs-y it. Gene)-al, DePa4mod 6f Utah, Camp 1,76yd, U. 1.
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14 h.

CAMP FLOYD) UTAH TBRRITORY,
October 24, 1859.

SIR: Havinglperformed the dutiess assigned to mc by Special Orders
No. 142, from the headquarters of this post, dated May 30, 1859, andr
instructions from the, headquarters of this department, dated June 5,
1859; also Special Orcder No. 71, dated August 14, 1859, anid instruc-tions dated August 15, 1859, both from the headquarters of this
departmentn, I have thle honor to suibinit thefollowving report:

1 left this camp onl the 12th of Jutnc, 1859, With 1) company, seventh
infantry, and 13 company, secolkd (dragoons, with rations for ninety
lays, for thle p)urpolsc of' protecting emigration on thle northern route
to California.

E]ighlit wagons, with ox teams, left thle Vicinity of this camp under
my protection, Which causedimny progress to be slowtat first. These
,em-igranits avoweId themselves to be seceders fromn the3 Mormon. faith,and stated that they had reason to fear molestation from the Mor-
molls, an(l for that reason they sought thle protection of the troops.
I reached Brigham City, the extreme northern settlement on Great
S.alt Lake) on the 18th of Julne. Tlle distance from Camp Floyd to
this point is one0 hundred and, thirteen miles. rhat l)art of the
valley of Great Salt Lake, north of Great Salt Lake City, is much
better than south of that city, the crops looking much better, and
vegetation being at least three weeks earlier than in Cedar valley.
Being informed at Brighamrn City that Bear river was so high that
it could not be forded, I proceeded to the ferry on Bear river, which
is about ten miles below the Usual fording -place. On reaching that
point I found the river very high, and difficultto cross, on account
of the iniry natureof the banks. I crossediny train by the ferry-boat,but, in doingso, had four m-ules drowned by the breaking of the ferry-
boat. To this point I foun(d very little grass for thehorses and mhules,
as nearly all the land p)-o(dUcing grass is fenced in by the inhabit-
ants. From this point to the City of Rocks, a distance of about one

hundred miles, the road passes over a hilly country, with plenty of
grass anrl good water, with blut little fuel except sage. Here the great
emigrarat roads passingnorth of Utahjoin the northern route from
Great Salt Lake to California. \We have met a few small parties
traveling from Califolrnia to the Stateseast.
At abouIt twelve miles from this point reached the foot of Goose

Creekmountains. The ascent to the summrniitof thlemountain on the
east side is very gradual, blt the descentOIl the western side is abrubt,and the hills Vcry steep. At the foot of these mountains on the west
side is Gooe: creek, a beautifulstream of clear, good water, with a
valley abouthalf it mile wide, covered with a fine growth of grass.
The road followed the creek folr about eighteen miles, when it leaves

that valley, and passing through Rock Spring valley arnd Thousand
Spring valley, it crosses the headwaters of thle HumbolIdt river, passing
over an abruptdivide at thehead of Thousand Spring valley. From
Goose creek to the headwaters of the Humboldt river, a distance of
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about eighty miles, the grass is scarce, yet, by driving stock from one
to three miles from thle road, a sufficient quantity can be obtained.
Water tolerably good, and in. sufficient quantities. On reaching the
head of Humboldt river, I found the stream was so high that: I could
not travel by the 'usually traveled road, which passes down the north
side of the stream and near its banks. I had to take the road on the
south side, which11 -runs al(ng thelio base of a chain of mountains, :which
I found very rough and hilly; but the3 road was tolerably good as far
as the south fork of the Humbloldt river, a distance of about seventy
miles. The valley of the Humboldt river to this point is from twelve
to fifteen mileswide, and imlich of it covered with excellent grass; and
the sides of thebmoullntailns, for considerable distance from their bases,
are covered Awith a fine growth of' bunch, grass. Tlhe road crosses a
great number of small streams of' the purest water, which. come from
the snow-capped mountains and which run into the Humboldt river.
At this point thcl mountains close in upon the river, and the road
passes over anmoulltainous country, and does not again touch the valley
of the Humboldt for a distance of about fifty miles, near Gravelly Ford.
This distance is over some of the worst hills and worst roacl I ever saw.
Reached Gravelly Ford on the 112th of' July. At this point, the

road by whichl the mail from Grecat Salt Lake City to California is car-
ried, intersects the roadtlhat I havc been. traveling, anud her(e I found
a mail station. Ilere the miusquitoes and flies became very trouble-
somke to the men and animals, and the water very much impregnated
with alkali.

Left Gravelly Ford on the 14tll of July, an(l at 22J miles distance
encamnled at the second mail station on the river. At this point the
medical officer of thi3 expedition reported that a private of the second
dragoons was so sick that it would endanger his life to move hil, and
that it was very uncertain how long it would be necessary for him to
rest. I therefore took fifty len l[ (twenty-five from each company) and
three officers, leaving the remainder of' the command undther Captain
L. McLaws, seventll infantry. I procee(le(l down the river a distance
of ninety-six miles. The greater part of' this distance, the valley,
which does not average more than three-fourths of' a meile ini vwidth,
was covered with. water, and dee)p sloughs, run1ling )arallel to the
,river, rendler it impossible to reach thle main stream, except at long
intervals. The water in these slougls was so much impregnated with
alkali as to render it dangerous for tlle animlals to drink it, and the
musquitoes and fliefs worse than I ever:saw them before. The persons
at the mail station reported that no Indians were in the valley, and I
had seen none since leaving Gravelly Ford, except a few individuals
employed about thle mail stations. Believing that it was useless
for me to proceed further, I determined to return.
The distance from Camp Floyd to this point is 584 miles. P1romn

this point to the sink of the Huimboldt is about :eighty miles, as near
as I could judge fromnthe best information I could obtain. I arrived
at this point on the 19th of July, and commenc'ed my return march
thle, next clay. The valley of the Humboldt., below Gravelly ford, 'is
narrow, arnd aill vegetation is confined to that imnmnediate valley. The
hills and mountains are perfectly barren. There is no timber in the
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whole valley, or on the mountains in sight of the valley of the HuH11m-
boldt. Near the point where I crossed the: south:0 fork there is some

cedar that lvould do for fuel, and injtwo or three other places there is
a little dwarf cedar, The banks of tho stream are fringed with willow
-nearly its whole length. I rejoined Captain McLaws nine miles east
of Gravelly Ford, on the north side of' the river, wherIeh had moved
-for a better camp on the 26th of Jully, and on the 29th started from
that point to return by the north side of the river, as the water had
fallen sufficiently to enable me to travel on that side. Sixty-five miles
above Gravelly Ford, at the northforkofHutmboldt, I saw fifteen She-
shanee Indians, and talked with them. They l)rofessed to be 'friendly
to thle whites, and the emigrants on the road were not troubled by
them. All the Indians in this part of the country are miserably poor,

nearly naked, and subsisting on squirrels and rats that they dig from
the ground, they beg from the emigrants the cattlethat die of disease
'and eat them. We are now meeting great numbers of emigrants
going -west, and manyof them are very dedtittute. I relieved many of
them by issuing provisions to them. I reached the head of thle HumII-
boldt on the:3d of August, ,and found that thedistance from Gravelly
Ford to this point was mutich less-by the north side than by thle south
'side, and the road excellent all thle way,with the finest grass and
plepty ofwillow for fuel, and the water very good. In thle Thousand
Spring valley I met Mr. Shepherd's trainof emigrants, whohad been
attacked by Indians, or men painted and dressed as Indians, on Heds-
peth's cut-off, and three men killed, and one man, one woman, and
,one child wounded; thewounded man afterwards died. Their wagons
were burned, and their stock and other property carried off. Thesepeople state that they recognized at least three white men,painted
und dressed as Indians, in theattacking party, and that those white
menappeared to be the leading men of theparty. During the. seasonof emigration many:persons located themselves alongthe different
roads with a fewgoods for the avowed purpose of' trading with the
emigrants, but, in fact, I believe, for the purpose of' inciting theIn-
dians to plunder the trains, and assisting them in these outrages.
They are then enabled to purchase for a trifle thle Indian's share of
thes)oil. This practice, I think,should be stopped.
On the 19th of August I reached the ford of' Bear river, where I

found or~lers to establisha depot at or near that point, from. which to
operate against the Indians forthce protection of emigration. Here I
found Second Lieutenant E. Gay, second dragoons,in command ofG
company, second dragoons. Onthe same day, First LieutenantG . A.
'Gordon,w ith. company E, second dragoons, joined, at the ford of Bear
river.

On the 20th ofAugust I assumed command of the"Bear River
expedition,'' aid attachedthle'' Hutmb boldt expedition'' to that exPe-
dition) and established the depot about onemile from theford of Bear
river.

OnEthe 21st I(letached two comipanies, (D,scvent'iin fantry, andG. ,
.second dragoons, under thecomllmnandof' Captain L.McLaws, seventh

infantry, i the(direction of Fort Hall, Oregon Territory, to patrol
the different emigrant roads in that direction . After Captain McLaws
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left, a trader cane to iny callml) With the information that another
train had l)been attacked by Illdians, and, one man killed annl one mal
wounded, Tile wounded man was brought to illy camp, with one leg
anIl One arim broken by guln-shots.

Onl the 25th August, Captaill T, H. Neill, fifthl infantry, with com-
palny C, filtlh infallntl, and company 13, tenith infantry, joined my
commani(l at tih (leot nearI Bear river. Frolli this time scouts were
kept constantly mnOVing1 thlr0ough Cache valley, in thle callolns in thle
vicinity, lad on the different 'emigrant roads,~ anll thle country tholl-
ouglyly examined ias far as Bear River lake east, Fort Ha1ll north, and
Raft creek west, yet no traces of Indians could be discovered.

Another tlaini was attacked on Lander's road, al)out eighteen nmiles
west of Fort Hall, anild fobur men, one woman, and thlee children
killed, andl this whell tvo companies of troops were within twenty-five
miles of them. Tllese depredations were committed by a smnll banud
of Snake Indian., that are known as the Box Elder Indians,iwhlo1
frequent thle northern Mormon settlements and usually winter there.
The countryv which they inhabit is so broken up by Inouintaills with
narrow valleys between them, with passes leading among them which
no white man ill the country knows anything of, thatl the Indians are
enabled to evade the troops and to pounce upI)on ally train oIn the road
which is imprudent enough to travel witllout being' prepar'ed to defend
themselves. Every train that haI's been ,attacked acknowledge fhat
they were perfectlyy unprel)ared for defense. Trhe Indians watch the-
trains from the hils, and if they see a train :ell armed and watchful,
they do not nmolest them. I have scen many trains on thle road during
the summer, who had plenty of armss, but they: carried them inl their
wagons, and in many cases without being loaded. They would laugh
at me when I told then of the necessity of always having their arms
ready for instant use. The emigration has been extremely numerous
during the past sunimor. I have Imet as many as 300 wagons :per
day, whichl Would average four persons to a w\'agon, and withl at least
7,000 head of stock. I could form no accurate estimate of thle whole
number.
The onlyWeffectual means of p)rotection for the emigration that I can

suggest is,0 to estal)ishL two camps (durl'ing the season of emigration
and fitrnish escorts of one company or more say twvice a month. By
establishing a camnp of four companiesat Goose creek, aund one of four
companies near Fort Hail, both of which points have the facilities of
good fuel, water, and grass for such camps, ail escort could be sent
Irom the camtll)p near Foit Hall, of one company, to leave thle vicinity
of thie South Pass oin the 1st and 15th of each month, to be lmlet by a
similar escort fromli thle camp on:nGooso crcek, near Raft creek, and to
escort the trains to thle HIlullboldt river. The Indians will not attack
a train so escorted.
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

I. LYNDE,
Major Seventh Ikfantry.

Major F. J. PORqTiER, Aqsistant A(?j/ta2nt Genieral,
lHeadquarter8 Deparltment of Utah, Camp Floyd, U. Y'.

38



MASSACRE AT MOUNTAIN MEADOWS.

B.

DEP>ARTMENT: O11 THE, INTERIOR,
Office of Indialn Afahirs, Alpil 24, 1860.

SIR: II1 response to the resolution of the Senate of tle )thIultit'o
calling upon the Pre'6si'dentt to furnishh all the correspondonce and
facts, with fuhell information as mnay'bo in the possession of any branch
or department of the government, tending to exhibit the circutminstances
and particulars of theI'Mountain Meadowr' ma1ss4cire in August, 185T,
or any subl)sequenlt massacre in Utah Territory,," &c., which was
referred by you to this office, have the honor herewith to senld up
copies of all papeIrs touching said matters onl file here, and copies of all
letters emanating from this office upon the subjects, Avhilch contain all
the information in possession of this branch of the government.

Very respectfully, your obediolet servant,
A. B. GREENWOOD,

Commintssioner.
Hon. J. T'iomwsoN,

Secretary of theInterior.:

list of papers from the police of the Commissioner of Indian Afairs
relating to the "IMoIutain Meadow" massace in 1857.

1. Letter from Acting Commissioner C. E. Mix, bearing date of 20th
February, 1858, to Honl. W. K. Sebastian.

2. Letter from W. C. Mitchell to Honi. W. K. Sebastian, dated
December 31, 1857.

3. Letter from Acting Commissioner Charles E. Mlix, dated March 4,
1858) to J. Forney, Superintendent of Indian Affairs, Utah
TIerritory.

4. Letter from Acting, Commissioner C. E. Mix, (lated March 4, 1858,
to Thomas J. Henley, Suoperintendent of Indiani Affairs, Cali-
fornia.

5. Letter from J. Forney, superintendent, &c., to C. E. Mix, Esq.,
dated June 22, 1858, Great: Salt IJake1 Citby.

6. Letter from Acting Commissioner C. E. Mix, dated June 8, 1858,
to Hon. W. K. Sebastian, United States Senate.

7. Letter from Actiig Commissioner C. E. Mix, dated Augus8t 3,
1858, to ion. W. K. Sebastian, Arkansas.

)

8. Letter from W. K. Sebastian to C0omm11lissioner C. E. Mix, dated
August 12, 1858.

9. Letter from Commissioner C. E. Mix to lion. W. K. Sebastian,
dated Septellmber 1, 1858.

10. Letter from Hon. W. K. Sebastitan to Commissioner C. E. Mix,
dated September 11, 1858.

11. Letter fronm lion. W. K. Sebastian to Commissioner Denvor,
January 21, 1859.
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12. Letter: from J. Forney to Commissioner Denver, dated January
28,1859.m

13. Letter from J. Forney to Commissioner Denver, dated January
28, 1859.

14. Letter from :Hon. W. K. Sebastian to Commissioner Denver,
February 23, 1859.

15. Letter from Cnommissioner Denver to Hon. W. K. Sebastian,
February 24, 1859.

16. Letter from Comrnissioner Denver to Jacob Forney, superintend-
ent, &c., March 3, 1859.

17. Letter, without signature, headed Great Salt Lake City, dated
March 4, 1859, to Commissioner Denver.

18. Letter from J. W. Denver, commissioner, to Michael Delany,
Esq., March 4, 1859.

19. Letter from J. Forney to Commissioner Denver, dated March 18,
1859.

20. Letter from Wm. H. Russell to Acting Commissioner C. E. Mix,
March 19, 1859.

21. Letter from Wmi. H. Russell to Dr. J. Hobbs, general agent, &c.,
March 19, 1859.

22. Letter from Acting Commissioner C. E. Mix- to Michael Delany,
Esq., March 19, 1859.

23. Letter from Acting Commissioner C. E. Mix to Jacob Forney,
superintendent, &c., March 31, 1859.

24. Letter from Acting Commissioner C. E. Mix to his Excellency
Governor A.: Cumming, March 31, 1859.

25. Letter from Charles E., Mix, Esq., commissioner ad interim, to J.
Forney, April :1, 1859.

26. Letter from J. Forney to Commissioner C. E. Mix, May 4,:1859.
27. Letter from J. Forney to Commissioner C. E. Mix, May 18,1859.
28. Letter from J. Forney to Commissioner C. E. Mix, May 30,1859.
29. Letter from ComInissioner A. B. Greenwood to J. Forney, June

:7, 1859.
30. Letter from J. Forney to honorable Commissioner of Indian

Affairs, June 16, 1859.
31. Letter from J. Forney to honorable Commissioner of Indian

Affairs, June 24, 1859.
32. Two letters bearing date June 27, 1859-one from J. Forney, and

one from Alexander Wilson to honorable Commissioner of
Indian Affairs.

33. Letter from -J. Forney to honorable Commissioner of Indian
Affairs, June 29,: 1859.

34. Letter from Commissioner A. B. Greenwood to J. Forney, July
2, 1859.

35. Letter from Win. C. Mitchell to Commissioner A. B. Greenwood,
July 5, 1859.

36. Letter from J. Forney to Commissioner A. B. Greenwood, July
15, 1859, and' a schedule of articles for the use of the children
on journey to Leavenworth attached. Signed, Robert B. Jarvis,
Indian agent.
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37. Letter from J. Forney to Commissioner A. B. Greenwood, July
22, 1859, with an agreement attached signed Ann Eliza Wor-
ley, and one signed Hqster E. Nash, Sally Squire, and Mrs. E.
Mure.

38. Letter from Commissioner A. B. Greenwood to Wmi. C. Mitchell,
July 23, 1859.

39. Letter from Commissioner A. B. Greenwood to Messrs. Smoot,
Russell & Co., July 23, 1859.

40. Letter from Commissioner A. B. Greenwood to William C. Mit-
chell, July 25, 1859.

41. Letter from Commissioner A. B. Greenwood to A. M. Robinson,
July 25, 1859.

42. Letter from J, Forney to Commissioner Greenwood, July 25, 1859.
43. Letter from Commissioner A. B. Greenwood to Major D. P.

Whiting, UnitQd States army, July 27, 1859.
44. Letter from Commissioner A. B. Greenwood to William C. Mit-

chell, July 27, 1859.
45. Letter from J. Forney to Commissioner A. B. Greenwood, July

28, 1859.
46. Letter from J. Forney to Commissioner A. B. Greenwood, August

10, 1859.
47. Letter from J. Forney to Commissioner A. B. Greenwood, August,

1859.
48. Letter from Commissioner A. B. Greenwood to William, C. Mit-

chell, August 15, 1859.
49. Letter from 1). R. Eckels to Secretary of the Interior, accompany-

ing the testimony of James Lynch, dated August 18, 1859.
50. Letter from Stewart Van Vliet to General T. S. Jesup, Quarter-

master General, August 25. [Blank year.]
61. Letter from William C. Mitchell to Commissioner A. B. Green-

wood, August 25. [Blank year.J
52. Letter from Commissioner A. B. Greenwood to J. Forney, Sep-

tember 1, 1859.
53. Letter from Commissioner A. B. Greenwood to J. Forney, Sep-

tember 7, 1859.
54. Letter from J. Forney to Commissioner A. B. Greenwood, Sep-

tember 22, 1859.
55. Extract from Superintendent Forney's annual report. [Blank

date.]
56. Letter from W. C. Mitchell to Commissioner Greenwood, October

4, 1859.
5T Letter from William C. Mitchell, October 4, 1859, to Commissioner

Greenwood.
58. Letter from Acting Commissioner C. E. Mix to William C. Mit-

chell, October 6, 1859.
59. Letter from J. Forney to Commissioner A. B. Greenwood, No-

vember 2, 1850.
60. Telegraph from J. Forney to Commissioner A. B. Greenwood,

November 30, 1859.
61. Telegraph from. J. Forney to Commissioner A. B. Greenlwood,

December 2, 1859.
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62. Letter from Garland Hurt to J. Forney, superintendent, &c.,
: eceinber 4,)1859.

63. Letter of' Commissioner A. B. Greenwood to William C. Mitchell,
December ', 1859.

64. Telegraph from Commissioner A. 13. Grcnwood to Dr. J. Forney,
December 10. [Blank year.]

65. Letter of Commissioner A. B. G(reenwvood to Williamli C. Mitchell,
December 12, 1859.

66. Letter front, Coimissioner A. B. Greenwood to Major John Henry,
December 13, 1859.

1)PPART'MENT OF TIlE INTERIOR,
9fliice Indian A M'lirs, Fiebruary 20, 1858.

SIn: Ill relation. to the sulbject-mattcr of a letter written. to youl by
William (C. Mitchell, Esq., I have to state that instrulctionls will bo
sent to thle superintendelit of' In(lian affairs of California to dispatch
a special messenger to San Bernardino, to make every inquiry and
effort to get the children and maintain. them until thle proper directions
can be given by their friends. Similar directions will be sent to the
,superintendent of' Utah.
The letter of Mr. Mitchell i's herewith returned.
I have the honor to be, very respectfully, your ol)edient servant,

C. E. MIX,
Actinr, Commissioner.

Hon. WILLIAM K. SEBASTIAN,
United States Senate.

DU1nuQuJE,, ARKANSAS, December 31, 1857.
SIR: Two of my sonls were in the train that was massacred, on their

way to Califiorn ia, three hundred miles beyond Salt Lake City, by the
Indians anId Mormons. There were one lundred and eighteen. unmer-
cifully bUtehered; the :women and chil(Ireni wereo 11 killed with the ex-
ception of fifteen infants-One of - 8sons, Charles, was married and
had one son, which I expect was saved,X and at thlis time is at San 13cr-
nardino, I believe in the liInit8 of California. I could designate my
grandson if I collide see him1. I expect you lhave seen an account of the
conduct of the Mormons-Osborneo Hide, a Mornon, took the children
and conveyed them to San Bernardino. Now, Sobastian, if government
intends to have the matter investigated, confer with the Senators tand
Representatives from California, From all accounts the President has
not made a call sufficient to subdue them; the four regiments together
with what regulars can be sl)ared is too small a force to whip the Mor-
mons and Indians, for rest assured that all the wild t'i'bes will flght
for Brigham Young. I am anxious to be ill thle crowd-I feel that I
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must havo satisfaction for the inhuinan manner in which thoy have
slain my children, togetllerwith two brothers-in-law and seventeen of
their chdl(Ireil I see from the california paper, which lhave kindly
sent me, that thero have been a great many meetings asking the Presi-
dent to chastise the guilty. Tihe whole train was from North Arkansas.
Please write mto upon the reception of this, if' you have leisure, and
inform me if government will use its oxertions to obtain the several
children. As you are chairman of Indian Affairs, I have taken the
liberty of writing to you. Please show these few lines to all of our
delegation.

I am, your friend, respectfully,
: ~~~WM. C). MITCHELLjI

I-Ion. W.r. K. SEBASTIAN,
Washington City, D.~C.

DEPARTMENT 01 THE INTERIOR,
9/lice India A/fairs , March 4, 1868.

SIn: I lherewith. send you a copy of a letter, referred to this office by
the honorable chairman of the Conlmittee on Indian Affairs of the
Senate, from William C. Mitchell, Esq., giving an account of the
massacre of a train on its way to California, and three hundred miles
beyond Salt Lake City, said to have been perpetrated by Indians and
Mormlons. Mr. Mitchell also states that fifteen infants were spared
and taken to San Bernardino, by one Osborn Hide, a Mormon, among
which number he hopes his grandson may be found.

I have written to the superintendent in California to send a special
messenger to San Bernardino to make the necessary inquiry and eCfort
to obtain the children, and have also to direct that you will instruct
the several agents in the Territory of Utah to make all inquiry which
may tend to discover these children, who may be in the posession and
keeping of some of the Indians, and, if they can be discovered, to use
every efort to get pOssession of them; if' recovered, they must be
maintained and taken care of until they can be turned over to their
friends.

If anything is heard respecting them, you will at once make report
of it to this office.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
CHARLES E. MIX,

Acting Coommissioner.
JACOB FORNEY, Esq.,

Superintendent of Indian A~ffairs, U. T.
Care of the commandant of Fort Laramie. To be forwarded.

I
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DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR,
Q:fice Indian Afairs, March 4, 1858.

SIR: I herewith send you at copy of a letter, referred to this office by
the honorable chairmaln of thle CCoImmittee on Indian Affairs of the
Senate, from NVilliallm C. Mitchell, Esq., giving, an account of the
massacre of a tranh on its way to California, andl three hulnndred miles
beyon dSalt Lake City,said to have been perpetrate(l by Indians and
Mormons. Mr. Mitcholl also states that fifteen infants were spared
and taken to San Bernardino, by one Osborn Hide, a Mormon, among
which number he supposes his grandson may be.

I have therefore to direct that you will immediately dispatch a
special messenger to San Bernardino, one in whose discretion, integrity,
and firmness you can place confidence, with instructions to mnake every
inquiry which may lead to the discovery of the children, and to use
every effort to get possession of them; and, if successful, they must be
maintained and well taken care of until they can be turned over to
their friends.
You will make compensation to the person employed, anrd defrav his

expenses out of any money in your ands, having an eye to rigid
economy, and make a report to this office whenever you may be apprised
of anything touching the premises.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,,
CHARLES E. MIX,

Acting Commissioner.
THOMAs J. HENLEY, Esq.,

Superintendent, d&., San Francisco, Caltfornia.

GREAT SALT LAKE CITY,
June 22, 1858.

DEAR SIR: Your letter dated Ml rch 4, and mailed at Fort Laramie
June 8, was received yesterday, with a letter inclosed, signed D. C.
Mitchell.

It affords me great pleasure to inform you, and the friends of the
children in question through you, that I learned to-day where the
children are. In my inquiries about the children I met a gentleman
who lives at or near tlc:place where the massacre took: place. Thiis
gentleman, Mr. Iiamnblin, has one of the children, and informs me that
all the children (fifteen) in question are in his immediate neighborhood,
in tthe care of whites. These unfortu1nate chil(lren were for some (lays
among Indians' with 'considerable effort they were all recovered, bought
and otherwise, from Indians,

I state(d inlmy letter of last Satuirday that I contemplated, as soon as
other (duties, an(1 political affairs here, would permit,, to visit the tribes
in the southern lpiortion of' this Territory. I anm assured that all these
tribes live at and near the southern road to Califtornia.
Within twenty days four Geran'rls, inhabitants of' this Territory,

going south, were mnurdered about eighlty-miles from here by Indians,
it is supposeA. I h1ave met since in this valley persons who have
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traveled over the southern route; they all inform me the Indians are
troublesome, I am importuned by many to visit the southern Indians.
They are ,quite numerous, it is said. It is four hundred miles or more
to the furthest Indian settlement on this route, and three hundred to
where the children are. I will bring them here on my return. I can
be ready to start on this southern trip in four weeks. I intend to
undertake 'it without any special escort, with only the persons necessary
to drive the several teams I may need, with a guide and interpreter.,

I will locate Agent Craig, for the present, at or near Fort Bridger,
with directions to examine the several small valleys and streams
running into Green river, with a prospective view of locating for agri-
cultural purposes the Snake tribe, under chief Wash-A-Kee. Mr. Craig
has not relieved Mr. Armstrong yet; this is in consequence of his
obnoxiousness to these people,- he (Craig) being afraid to visit Mr.
Armstrong at Provo until I can go with him, which will be in a few days.
Agent Hurt has not arrived from Fort Bridger, and, I am told, will

not come unless with the army. These fears are imaginary; I have
never been treated kinder than by these people. Dr. Hurt informed
me, before I left Fort Bridger, that in consequence of bad health he
was desirous of going home at the expiration of his commission, which
is in August, I believe. His reappointment, if he should even desire
it, is not, in my opinion, for the interest of the Indian department
here, as will be manifest, after a fill investigation of the condition of
affairs of the Indian farms.

I have now seen all the Indian officials in this Territory; talked more
or less with all; also seen considerable of the Indians, and am forced
to the conclusion that rIndian affairs in this Territory are in such a
mixed and conflicting::: condition, that the future policy can only be
determined after visiting the tribes and ascertaining their condition
and locality, and a further investigation of what is pretended to be the
present policy-if it is possible to get at what the present or former plan
is pretended to be. I am forced to the conclusion thatheretofore every
Indian official had his own platform. No concert of action. This
mixed and entangled state of affairs in Indian matters has proved
manifestly detrimental to the true interest of the government and the
Indians. SISome attention has been given to a few tribes; these I have
scen, without any visible improvement in any respect.

I do not wish to advise the department in relation to the appointment
of agents. You will, I sincerely hope, pardon me, for giving my
honest opinion. I said to you, in some of my previous letters, that I
was fuliy determined on visiting every tribe, if at all in my power,
before next January; this I could have accomplished had it not been
for the disturbance here. After ascertaining the locality, condition,
and number, and character of the country, I will be better able to tell
where and how many agents, or sub-agents, will be required. Where-
ever I see a necessity to have some one to attend to one or more tribes,
permit me to appoint temporarily some good person living in the
neighborhood of such tribe.

I remain, truly and respectfully, yours, &C.,
J. FORNEY,

Superintendent of Indian Affairs.
CiJAILES E. Mix, Esq.
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DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR,
(),ffice fI~dian Afirs, June 8, 1858.

SIR: I have thle honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter Of
the 5th instant, requestingg that copies of the papers relating to certain
surviving chil(lren of the party massacre(l during thle apsst summer, by
the Indians or Mormons, may be furnished to the War Department,
anti to say, that your request shall be coml)lied With.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,__
CHARLES E. MIX,

Acting Cowmissioner.
Hon. W. K. SEBASTIAN,

Unitedl States Senate.

DEPARTMENT OF THEI INTERIOR,
0111cc Indian A4/fairs, August 3, 1858.

SIR: Referring to a letter from you of the 20th of last February, in-
closing one from W. C. Mitchell, Esq., of Dubuqlue, Arkansas, dated
December 31, 1:857, in violation to thle massacre of tile greaterr portion
of a train of emigrants on their way from Arkansas to Caliifornia, in
which he states the probability of the safety of fifteen of the children, I
have the honor to inform:: you that a letter has:been received at this
office from the superintendelit of' Indian affairs, Utah Territory, giving
information of the whereabouts of the survivors.

For the better information of yourself fin(l Mr. Mitchell, I herewith
transmit extracts from Sliperintendent Forney's letter upon the subject.

I will he4artily cod6perte with you in carrying out any suggestions
made by you, with regard to the future (1isl)osition of these cllil(lren.

Very respectfully, your obedieit se vant,
CHARLES E. MIX,

Commissioner.
Hon. WV. K. SEBASTIAN,

ilelena, Arkansas.

HHELENA, AiRKANSAS, August 12, 1858.
SIR: Yours of 3d instant, covering extracts from letter of superin-

tendent of Indian affairs for Utah, of date June 22, was received thiis
day. I have dispatched them to -Ion. W. C. Mitchell, Dubuque,
Arkansas, who feels a lively interest in these children, and who was
grandfather to many of them. I have requested him to furnish me,
without delay, a list of' the names and ages of the children, that they
may be identified and restored. As most, if not all .of them belong
to families emigrating from Marion and adjoining counties in Arkan-
sas, I suggest that they be delivered at Fort Smith or Fort Leaven-
worth, points convenient to their friends in Arkansas, and to which
the troops returning from Utah could furnish the escort. Let me ask
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you to lose no time in making the necessary dispositions for this pur-
pose, in order to its, accomlplishment before the approaching winter
.shall render it impracticablec during the present year.

Very respectfully,
W. K. SEBASTIAN.

CHIARLES E. Mix,
Commissioner Indian Affa/is, Washington City.

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERTOR,
Q/jica Indian Affairs, September 1, 1858.

Sil: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of
the I12th ulltimo, in reference to thGe children rescued from the massacre
on thle plains, and reported by Superinttcndent Forney to be in Utah
Territory.

I have delayed action in the matter, hoping daily to receive tihe list
of' names referred to inI your letter, so that there may be no mistake as
to tlhe identity of the parties.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
CHARLES E. MIX,

Commissioner.
lIon. W. K. SEBASTIAN,

Helena, Arkansas.

HELENA, ScptCmi'wr 11, 1858.
SIR: Yours of September 1, respecting the list of tfri children lost

and recovered from the Indians, is at hand. I have julst received from
Colonel William C. Mitchell, Dubuiquc, Arkansas, a letter, in which
he says: " iMy little grandson is three months old this month. My
two brothers-in-law, L. D. and Jesse Dunlap, each had two little
daughters, under six years old. George Baker (or Boker) had two
daughters, under six. Mr. Jones had one or two; Alexander Fancher
had

These are the names of families all of whom were from the vicinity
or adjoining counties to that (Marion) in which Colonel Mitchell
resides, and have relatives living there. He )refers, ats a matter or
convenience, that they should be delivered at Fort Smith, (say care of
Colonel Rector, superintendent.)

Respectfiuilly,
W. K. SEBASTIAN.

Hon. C. E. Mix,
Commissioner Inclian Ajfaire.
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UNITED STATES SENATE,
January 21, 1859.

SIR.: I herewith return you the original correspondence respecting
the children of the emigrants massacred upon the plains, latelyr dis-
covered by the superintendent0of Indian affairs for Utah Territory.
Among the letters, I respectfully call your attention to my letter of
September 11, 1858, on file, which gives all the information which I
have as to the names of the children. I suppose the information is
amply sufficient to identify the children. It must be remembered that
all that trainIwas from Marion county and adjoining counties. They
can be brought to FPort Smith, in Arkansas, when they can be identified
and reclaimed.

Respectfully,
W. K. SEBASTIAN.

Hon. J. W. DENVER,
Commissioner of Indian Affairs.

ExECUTIVE OSricE, UTAH,
Great Salt Lake City, January 28, 1859.

SiRt:: A few weeks after my arrival in this city I received a letter
from the Honl. C. E. Mix, requesting me to make inquiry about and
recover certain children, which belonged to the Arkansas emigrants,
and supposed to be living among whites and Indians. Ten of these
children I recovered within a month after the reception of the letter,
and seven more since ; in all, seventeen. This is, I think, all that were
saved from the terrible massacre at or near Mountain Meadows, in Sep-
tember, 185T. I had these children placed in the care of a respectable
family at 'Santa Clara, 300 miles south :of this, and am paying their
board, and have furnishIed them clothing. Several of them know
their family names. They are from four to seven years old.
You will learn, inlanother letter of this date, of my purpose to start

south in a few days. It is ny intention, on my return from visiting
the southern Indians, to bring the salid children to this city or neigh-
borhood, and confidently depend on your kindness for permission, next
April or May, to take them to Washington, or wherever directed.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
J. FORNEY,

Superintendent Indian Affairs.
H~on. JAMI:S DENVE~R,

commissionere, &c.

EXECUTIVE OFFICE, UTAH,
Great Salt Lake, City, January 28, 1859.

STR: For reasons that will appear in the progress of this letter, I
respectfully]ask for leave of absence from the Territory for several
months, after the -first of next April or May.
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With the leave of absence I desire permission to take certain children
(of which I speak in another letter) to Washington or elsewhere, in
compliance with directions from the department.
For moral: and social considerations, it is, in Jmy: opinion, important

that these children should be removed to their friends without dolay.
Another reason for desiring too go east this spring is, that within the

next two months I will have seen the tribes not, already seen, and
would then be pleased to have an interview: with you.
The last and very important reason ffor desiring leave of absence for

a few months is, that in September, 1857, Xx left my family very sud-
denly, and am, of course, anxious to see them. I also left some im-
portant private business in an unsettled condition, oin account of being
obliged to leave immediately after my appointment.
My friend Governor Cumining permits me to say to you that my

official business will receive his special attention during my absence.
Should a contingency arise,, not at present anticipated, to call the
governor away, I would of course not leave.
Should I be so fortunate as to get my official business satisfactorily

arranged, so as to justify me to absent myself two and a half or three
months without detriment to the public service, and with the consent
and permission of the department, I will endeavor to leave on or be-
fore the first of May, especially as the Indians are less troublesome
in summer than at any other part of the year.

I respectfully request your early attention to the subject of this
letter.
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

J. FORNEY,
Superintendent Indian Al4airs.

Hon. J. W. DENvER,
Commissioner Indian Afafirs, Washington, D. a.

UNITED STATES SENATE>
February 23, 185'Z.

SIB: I have the honor to call your attention to the subject of the
amount of money necessary to defray the expense of bringing home the
children who were rescued from the massacre of the emigrant train
from Arkansas in the fall of 1857 by the Mormons or Indians, and re-
quest that you make an estimate of' the probable cost of the same and
transmit it to me at your earliest convenience.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,
W. K. SEBASTIAN,

Chairman Comnittee Indian Afirs.
By L. B. DUNN, Clerk.

Hon. J. W. DENVER)
Comisni.sioner Indian Affairs, Washington City, D. C.

Ex. Doe. 42--4
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DEPARTMENT OF THlE INTERIOR,
Qfice Indian A/ffairs, February 24, 1859.

SIR: T have the hlonor to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of
the 23d instant, requesting me to furnish an estimate of the amount
necessary to defray thle Iexpenses of the children (being seventeen in
number,:from the last information) yho were rescued from the Indians
after the massacre of the emigrant train from Arkansas in the fall of
1857 to their homes ixi Arkansas.
In reply I have to state, that, after making all the necessary in-

quiries in relation to the matter, that it 'will take at least ten thousand
dollars to carry out' effectually your wishes with regard to the children.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
J. W. DENVER,:

Commissioner.
Hon. W. K. SEBASTrAN,

United State8 Senate.

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR,
Office Indian A~fatir8, March 3, 1859.

SIR: I have; to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of the 28th of
January, stating that you had succeeded in recovering the children,
who survived, to the number of seventeen, the massacre of the emigrant
train from Arkansas in 185:7, whom you would take to Salt Lake, and,
ask permission to bring them on in April or May next; to which I
would reply that arrangements have been iade :for Mr. Michael Delany
of this office who will on the 5th of this month proceed by the way of
San Francisco and 'Placerville in California to Salt Lake, to take charge
of the children and convey them to F'ort Smith in Arkansas, to be de-
livered there by Superintendent Rector to their friends'and relatives.
You will therefore turn the chil-dren over to Mr. Delany upon his

apI)plication for them, and render him such aid and advice in facilitating
his mission as maybe in your power.
And as this arrangement will obviate the necessity of your coming

on, it i's adlvisable that you should riot leave the Territory as you have
requested permissiol to do.

Very rsejiectfiully, your obedient servant,
J. W. DENVER,

(Iomn88isoner.
JA(o3 FORnNBY, E*Sq.,

Superinlenrdid, ge.,: Great Salt Lalke City, Utah Territory.

SIJPYRINTJNI)NNT'S OFFICE, ITAni,
(:reaut Salt Lake ity, March 4, 1859.

,SIR: InJ my aI)liciationl several weeks ago, for lpermission to leave
the Ter:itry a few ionths, I stated that I would of colurse( nyot leavo
unless sI excellency GovYernor Culmm11ifig remailined., The governor
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informed me within a few days, that he would not leave here this sea-
son,0 and authorizes me to say to you, that he will cheerfully direct my
officiall businessduring my absence.

I consequently, earnestly renew my application for permission to
leave the Territory for several months.

I expect to return from my southern trip by the middle, of April,
with the seventeen children, and am anxious to leave soon after, with
them for Washington, or wherever directed by the department.
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

Superintendent Indian Affairs.
Hon J. W. DENVER,

Commissioner of Indian, A4/airs, Was ington, D. C.

DEPARTMENT OF TilE INTERIOR,
Ogee Indian A4/firs, March 4, 1859.

SIR: In a bill making appropriations for the army, the sum of
$10,000 has been appropriated to defray the Iexpenses of the recovery
and restoration of the-children who survived the massacre of an emi-
grant train from the State of Arkansas, in the year 1857; and under-
standing from Jacob Forney, superintendent of Indian Afairs, in the
Territory of Utah, that he has succeeded in recovering all of the
children who survived, to the number of Seventeen, whom he has by
this time taken to Salt Lake City Or its vicinity, and being desirouss
that these unfortunate little beings may be restored to their relatives
and friends at the earliest period possible, I have, from the special
confidence which I repose in your energy, zeal, activity, and humanity,
selected you to carry these views into effect, and you are hereby de-
tailed for that purpose.
You will, therefore, if you are disposed to accept the trust, make all

arrangements to start 1)0, your mission at once. It being, I may
say, almost impracticable to reach Salt Lake by the overland route in
time to return at thle season most congenial to thle comfort of your
little charges, you will proceed hence first to San Francisco, inI Cali-
fornia ; thence by Placerville, in that State, to Salt Lake. Upon
reaching the last-mlentioned point, you will confer with Mr. attorney,
an(l upon showing him these insitrulctions, hlo will give youIX 811s1u ad-
vice and amsistance as may be in his )power, inform you where the
children are stationed, anl( place them ilnyour charge, to be taken to
Fort Sinitil, in Arkansas. For theo )llurl)(80 of conveyingg thellm to that
point across the plains, yon are authorized and empowered to purchase
suitable and commodiolls vehicles and tWallis, anl t'o hire 'drivers. In
these arrangements, and in all. what yoll may (lo in tho premises, you
will hIavCyL to the strictest economy, nOt losing sight, however,
of' the wanrtH and comforts of persons of su'ch very ton&r years, as somelt
of thorn are rereoelteod to be.
Upon reaching Fort Smith, you1 will turn them over to thie caro of

'lifi" Recotor, tlperintedonnt of)' thle soliloutrn suporin tondenoy, who
will bo instlucted to a(lopt metBslres for their rostoration to their
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friends:; and then make sale of tthe vehicles and teams upon the most
adva'la~tageous terms, either publicly or privately, as In your judgment
may seenm most Iadvisable,
To thle motle of transportation mentioned above, I do not mean

strictly to confilnc you; for, if you should be of opinion, upon reaching
the city of Salt Lake, and upon investigation, that a more comfortable
and:better arrangement than the one suggested can be made with the
mail contractors or other parties for transportation, it is left to your
discretion to make such arrangement. And as the coaches of the mail
contractors run only so f'ar as St. Joseph,.you will have, if you make
an arrangement with them, to proceed thlence by the usual mode of
public travel to Fort Smith, which may be cheaper even if you adopt
any other ameans of transportation.

In all the expenditures made of the money which will be placed in
your hands, you must wherever practicable take vouchers, and where
not practicable, you must preserve memoranda of thle items to be cer-
tified on honor that they were. actually paid and necessary.
You will be allowed, while engage-d on this duty, in commutation

of your personal expenses ten cents per mile for travel, anld five dollarss
per diem when stationary.
As the duties imposed will be of great responsibility, and much care

and attention required, more in fact than can be rendered by any one
individual, you are authorized to select one other person in whom you
may have confidence and reliance, to aid and assist you, whose com-
pensation i's not to exceed the rate of $1,400 per annum, and to defray
whose expenses the Sfame mileage, and per diem will be allowed as is
given to yourself.
As an advance, a requisition hlas been issued in your falvor for $1,200,

for which you will be held accountable under the head of " Expenses
foI ransoming prisoners from. Indian tribes."

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
J. WV. DENVER,

Commissioner.
31ICHIAEL DELANEY, Esq., Pre8ent.

PROVov CITYt, U.T T., Akarch 18, 1859.
BSi: I left Salt Lake City last Sundlay to visit the southern Indians,

and to bring the seventeen children, remaining from the massacre in
September, 1857, to Salt Lake City, o(r adjacent to it.

hhave beenIdetained here to give evidence before the grand jury of'
the United States district court, inl relation to the murder of' several
whit persons last June and October, and als( of thle Mountain Meadow
affair, all within the jurisdiction of' thlis court.

I am in posswion of the facts of the murders ill June and October,
and have, within twenty (layfi, received highly itmportant and reliable
information of the Mlountain Meadow butchering afair. With thle flactH
in mny possession lJow, I may suceled inl recovering Home of thle
property. Facts in Jny possession warrant me in estimating thiat there
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was distributed a few days after the massacre ainong the leading
church dignitaries, ;$30,000 worth of property. It is presumable they
also had some money.,

I will make such inquiry about this extraordinary affair as con-
tingent circumstances will admit. I know that the Indians are bad
enough; I am aware, also, that it is, and especially has been, exceed-
ingly convenient to implicate the Indians in all such cases.

It was my intention to have started several weeks ago, but the
unexpected and unusual quantity of snow during February made an
earlier start impracticab)le. In my letter, in which I speak of the
necessity and my purpose of going south, I alluded to the Indians in
the extreme southern part of the Territory. I hinted at the probability
that the public interest may require a small military force somewhere
in the southern extremity of the Territory to protect travelers and
emigration.
Very few days after Writing the letter above alluded to, the public

interest required me to visit a band of the Goo-sho-lutes, about 60 miles
west, and some of' the Shoshonees, over 100 miles north.
During my absence from Salt Lake City the governor received

additional information, mainly through my office, of suspected hostile
designs among the extreme southern Indians, and immediately made
a requisition for a small military detachmenelt to be stationed at the
most eligible points for the safety of travelers, &c.
The governor, very properly, I think, made public the fact that an

efficient military force would be sent south, and that I would Visit the
southern Indians in advance of the military command.

I am anxious to proceed on my journey south ts speedily as circum-
stances will permit. The roads are still bad, and I must also stop a
few days at the different In(dian farms.

I will leave this to-morrow morning for thle Spanish PiFork reservation.
I remain, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

J. FORNEY,
SuPerintendent of Indian Affairs, U. T.

l.on. J. W. DE,,NVER)
Cammissioneqr of Inldian .4/Jairs, Wash1ington, D. C.

MIARCHI 19, 1859.
SIR: I herewith inclos Sa letter to our general agent, )mr. J. Hobbs,

(now at Calmlp Floyd, Utah,) which you can forward and use as you
mfly think best.

Respectflully,
WMr. Ii. RUSSELL.

AI1-r (JIARTLsE E. MIX,
Actinqy Cofln (issi(o)er of iAl(tian 4Otil's.
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WASHINGTON, March 19, 1859.
SIR: The Indian Department is commissioned to collect and return

home a number of children in Utah, whose parents were massacred
some years since while emigrating West. I have agreed to furnish the
department two wagons and covers, twelve yoke of' cattle, yokes and
chains, With which to transport them to the States. You will turn
them over to Superintendent Forney, or such person as the department
may request, taking a receipt for the safe delivery.of the property at
Leavenworth in' like condition as received.: Should Mr. Forney, or
other person authorized, request it, you will place the two teams under
conduct of some one of' our returning caravans, and explain to the
conductor that with us it is a matter of great importance that all
attention and. care be paid to thie children, and those who may be in
charge of them; if ladies, they should command the liigheb' respect.
You will, give such directions that if anything is required on thle road
to the States it will be furnislhed at our stations, or by our outward-
bound trains, if the same can be spared without retarding the trains.
We esteem this an act of humanity, and know that you will do all in
your power to forward the wishes of the department.
Very respectfully,

WILLIAM H. RUSSELL,
Of RUSSELL, MAJORS & WADDELL.

Dr. J. HoBBs ,General Agent, Utah.

DEPARTMIENT OF TIWE INTERIOR,
Q//ice Indian Affairs, March 19, 1859.

SIR: Since your departure frolm this city upont the business connected
with the restoration of the children who were made captive in Utah
when. the emigrant train was massacred in 185T, propositions have
been made to the department for their transportation from Salt Lake
City as far as Fort Leavenworth, either of which, in its opinion, would
be nore economical, and more conducive to the health and coinfort of
the children, thlan as proposed in the programme laid out in your
instructions of the 4th instant; and it having adopted one of these
propositions, and. inasmuch as the carrying of that into effect would
consume more timnc than was anticipated as requisite to carry out tihe
original design, and as your services for so great a length of tihe could
not be spared from your duties here, I am instructed by the Secretary
of the Interior to direct that you aind your associate, Mr. Benjamin
Smith, will, upon the reception of this, imimnediately return to your
posts in this office.
The department will make arrangements for the transportation by

water of the children from Fort Leavenworth to Fort Smith.
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

CHARLES E. MIX,

MICHAEL DE-LANY, Esq. Acting Commissioner.
Sanq F1rancisco, California.
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DEPARTMENT OF TiIE INTERIOR,
OfXice Indian Affairs, March 31, 1859.

SIR.: Referring to the letter from this office to you of the 3d instant,
wherein you were informed that Michael Dolany, Esq., had been
detailed to proceed to Salt Lake, for the purpose of taking the children
who' survived the massacre of the emigrant train in 1857, to Fort
Smith2 in Arkansas, I have now to inform you that a change has been
made in that arrangement.
You Wrill perceive from the enclosed letter from William H. Russell,

on behalf' of Russell, Majors & Waddell to Dr. J, Hobbs, the general
a ent of that company that he has agreed to furnish, for the purpose
of transporting these children from Salt Lake to Leavenworth, free of
charge, two covered wagons and twelve yoke of cattle, with the neces-
sary gear, to be placed under the charge of one of the conductors of
their caravans, who is directed to use especial care and diligence in the
promlises.

I have, therefore, to direct that you wl'l- collect the children at the
City of Salt Lake, as early as possible, for the purpose indicated. You
will provide a suitable number of females, not exceeding four, if such
can be found, desirous of returning to the States, whose business it will
be to give these little ones all needful supervision and attention upon
the road. You will also I)rovide theml with blankets, and such other
material comforts as, ill your judgment, will be requisite for the entire
party. You will then, showing Dr. Hobbs Mr. Russell's letter, turn
them over to his charge, to be placed by him with the conductor who
may be selected. All arrangements for their provisions, at least such
as can be made at starting, must be seen to by you; you will perceive
that Mr. Russell has directed anything to be supplied on the journey
that may be needed, either at the stations or by the trains that may be
met.
You will advise this office, at the earliest moment possible, when

they will probably leave Salt Lake, and at what time it may be expected
that they will reach Leavenworth; then Superintendent Rector, who
resides at Fort Smith, will be directed to dispatch an agent to Leaven-
worth to meet the children, and convey them to the first-mentioned
point, where the superintendent himself will receive them and take
steps to have them turned over to their frienIlds and relatives.
You will make up your accounts for the subsistence of the children

and their outfit, and transmit them here; you will also make an
agreement with the females who may accompany them for compensation
for their services, which should be definite in: its character, and made
with an eye to the smallness of the appropriation; and the agreement
must be forwarded here, tiiIt whey may be paid upon their arrival in
case they do not desire to return.
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

CHARLES E. MIX,
Acting Comrmissioner.

JACOM3 FORNEY, Esq.,
Supcrintcendent Indian Affairs, Salt Lake City, Utah.
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DEPARTMENT OF TIME INTERIOR,
Oce Indian 4/ffairs, March 31, 1859.

SIR: I have the honor to inclose Wherein a communication just ad-
dressed to Superintendent Forney, in regard to the children who
survived the thassacre of' the emigrant train, in 1857T passing from
Arkansas to the West. I also inclose a col y of a Jotter directedd by
Willianm II.: Russell, Esq., to Dr. J. Hobbs, the general agent of
Russell, Ma1jors & Wa(ddell, from which you will perceive that he has
agreed to furnish, free of charge, means of transportation of these little
ones to Leavenworth.
My object in writing to you is to request that, should Superintendent

Forney be ~absent, you will kindly see that the arrangements detailed
in the letter to him may be carried out; by doing which, you will
place. the department under great obligations to you.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
CHARLES E. MIX,

Acting Comlmissio)ner.
His Excellency Governor A. CUMMING,

Salt Lake City, IJah.

DEPARITMENT OF T1IE INTERI1OR,
Q/jice Indian Afairs, April 7, 1859.

SIR: I haive to acknowledge the receipt of your letter (without sig-
nature) of the 4th ultimo, renewing the request preferred in. your letter
of the 28th of January for permission to leave your superintendency
for the purpose of'visiting your family.
As the reply to your letter may not reach you, I will brielMy refer to

its contents, as well as to the contents of' another addresse(l to you
subsequently: In the rej)ly of the 3d of' March, you were informed
that arrangements had been made for Mr. Michael Delany to proceed
by the way of' San Francisco and Placerville, in California, to Salt
Lake, to take charge of the children who survived the massacre, of the
emigrant train in 1857, and convey them to Fort Smith, in Arkansas,
to 1)0 turned over there to Suiperintendernt Rector, who would deliver
them to their friends and relatives; and, as thit arrangement would
oblviate the necessity of' y0our cooling, it was advisable that you should
not leave the Territory. And, i nmy letter to you of' the 31st ultino,;
you were infohrlmed that a different arrangement had been made, by
Which Russell, Majors & Waddell agreed to furnish, free of charge
two covered wagons andl twelve yoke of' cattle, with the necessary gear
to transpo)rt tle children f'rorn Salt Lake to Leavenworth, and which
were to be )lace(l under the charge of' one of' the conductors of their
caravans, whene6 they were to bel taken by an agent, who woul( mneet
them there, to Fort smithh by water. T1i110 letter of' Mr. Russell, on
bohbif of' the comI)arly, to his agent in Uita), )r, H1obbs, was inclosed
to y()u an(l you were directed to place the children in his charge, first
Hu)plying therli with all necessary ouiforts for the journey, including
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blankets, provisions that might be required at starting, &c;0 the
company having kindly consented to furnish any supplies that ini~ht
be needed at the stations along the road, or when meeting their trains
going out; and were also required to engage the services of a number
of women, not exceeding four, who might bedesirous of returning to:
the States, to attend upon the little ones whilst traveling; whom you
were to engage at specified prices, and with an eye to thesmallnesseov'
the appropriation, of which the department was to be informed, that
their wages Imight be paid here. You Nvere also instructed to notify
thC department when they would probably leave Salt Lake, and when
they might be expected to reach Leavenworth, and to make up your
accounts for the subsistence of the children and their outfit, and trans-
Ilit theem here.
As under thisl change of arrangements also, there exists no necessity

for your leaving the Territory, the leave of' absence desired by you
cannot be granted.

Very respectfully, yotir obedient servant,
CHARLJES E. MIX,

JCornmissioner ad interim,,.
JACOB FORNEY, Esq.,

Superintetdenlt Indian. 40'air8, Salt Lake City, Utah.

SUrERINTEN1)ENT'S OFFICE, UTAI,
Great Salt Lake City, May 4, 1859.

SIR: I have just returned from a very laborious and difficult trip
through the southern l)ortions of this Territory.

I have succeeded in recovering sixteen children, and have thenI now
in my possession. It is said these are all that remain of probablyy
one, hundred an(l forty men, women, and children, of' the Moiountain
Meadow massacre in September, 1857.
In December last there was a small boy among the Navajos, near

the Colorado, in Mexico Territory, who, it is supposed, also belonged
to this emigrant trainl. I will allude to this boy in another commu-

I was positively assured( by the settlers in the neighborhood where I
yot the 6hil(ren, that I have all that weero saved. 1 have good reasons
for believing that nolne oftt9ese chil(lren have lived amnong the Indians
at all.
These children average from about 3 to 'k yearns old; are intellectual

and good looking; not one ineali-looking ehild11among themn.
I havo collected the following lparticular's in relation to these

children:
1st. Callvil, now 7 or 8 years Aold;(0os not remember his name;

says they (his finllily) lived ait 11)rse-He-aolid, Johnston county, Arkaii-
as Th5is boy had father, niotlier, and five brothers, o1(der thlnll 1h1iml-

self, killed; brothers' namnes, loeury, James, William, and 1Larkill,
and fotur Histers, Nancy, Mary, and Martha; his fathero, Josoph, aund
h1i Hnother, Matilda.
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2d and 3d. Ambrose Miram Taggit, about 7 years old, and Willikrn
Taggit, now about 44 years old. The elder boy says they had father,
mother, and two older brothers killed; he says they lived in Johnston
county, and when they left the States had a grandfather and grand-
mother living.

4th. Prudence Angeline, 6 years old; and,
6th. Annie; had father, mother, and two brothers, named James

and John; all killed.
6th. A girl, about 44 years old; says her name is Frances Hawn,

or Kern.
:7th. A boy, now three years old. I have no account of this boy;

those with whom he lived called him William.
8th. Ellilha W. Huff, 4 years old, and,
9th. Ssphrania, or Mary Huff, about 6 years old.
10th. Charles Francher, 7 or 8 years ol(1; and,
11th. Annie, about 3j years old; bad sisters.
12th. Betsey, about 6 years old; and,
13th. Jane, about 4 years old; have no account of these.
14th, 15thl, and 16th. Rebecca, Lollisa, and Sarah Dunlop.
In conversation with theSe children, I learn tlbat they resided in the

same neighborhood; my impression is, rincipally in Johnston county,
Arkansas.

I remain, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
J. FORNEY,

S'aperintendent of Indian A4fairs.
Hon. C1. E. Mix,

Comnrnkioner of Indian A/Jfairs.

SU6ERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, UTAH,
Great Salt Lake City, May 18, 1859.

Sin: Your letter of' March 31, last, ini relation to the transporta-
tion to Fort Smith of certain chdil(lren, and inclosing a letter to Dr.
Hobbs, was received by last mail. Your favor of 7th ultimo, recapitu-
lating contents of letter of 31st March, was also received by last mail.
Your directions in relation to the transportation of the children will

receive my special attention. A copy of Mr. Russell's letter was
transmitted to lDr. Hobbs, at Camp Floyd. Thle request of' Mr. Russell
will be comllied with by his agents.

I will endeavor to have the children ready in ten days. r1There is no
difficulty iii getting females to accompany the children.

I will write again by next mail, arid will then give you ml, views of
the causes, an(l thle part the- Indianis acted in the consumrmation of' the
Mountain Meadow affair.

I remain, very respectfully, your o)beilient servant,
J. FORNEY,

CMperintendent of Indian Affatir for Utal.
Hon. C. E. MIx,

Comrni.~soner of Indlian .4lJOatr8, Waciihington, 1). C.
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SUPERINTENDENT'S O nFFICIE uTAH,
Great Salt Lake Oity, May 30, 1859.

SIR. By this week's mail I purposed giving you a full and correct
account Of the causes, &C., of the Mountain Meadow massacre, and
some additional particulars about the children, and of my trip south
generally, but asm obliged to leave here in a few hours for the Spanish
Fork farm and reservation, sixty-three miles south

All the Utah tribe are now assembled on this reservation, number-
ing about four hundred. An express fromn there informs-me that it is
absolutely necessary for me to visit there without delay. About half
of thle Utah tribe lived last winter in Uinta valley, one hundred
miles east of, Spanish Fork reservation, the ancient and favorite resort
of a portion of them. I design that all the Utahls shall live on the
Spanish Fork reservation, and that all who live there must work.
This is an absolute altermttive adopted by Ine on all the Indian farms;
and it affords Ime pleasure to inform you that all those on the several
farms who heard my emphatic directions, obey and labor steadily.
"No work, no bread," is my motto with all the miserable creatuireS.
The Uinta fraction of the Utahs have come to the Spanish Fork

reservation since my last visit there, anld, spurn the idea of work, and
prefer begging and stealing, and threaten those Indians who do work,
and also to kill and destroy the farm property.
This information is communicated to me by ex-Agent Hurt, (who is

still on this farm,) who1, I regret to say, has no adequate influence over
these Indians whatever.

I will communicaite the result of my visit by next week's mail. I
learned yesterday, informally, that a considerable number of renegade
Indians (Bannacks and Shoshonees of Oregon, with some few Simosho-
nees belongings to Utah,) are banding together north of Bear river to
make a descent on the northern settlements in Box Elder county, &trc.,
eighty to one hundred and twenty-five miles north of this, to steal
horses, &c. I expect to hear more definitely by the time I got back
from Spanish Fork-say in four days; and will, if necessary, go up
without delay.
A word in relation to thle children. In colseeqience of the unusual

lateness of, thle spring, and consequent exceeding bad roads, Dr. Hobbs,
antclit for Russell & Co., deems it inexpedient to start the children
until about three weeks from this time, when another of their trains
will leave, under the care of a reliable conductor', and thinks it not
Proper to send two isolated wagons.

I wrote to him yesterday requesting him to informl mo sometime
previous of' the proece (lay of starting, and to Hcud mc one or both
wagons in.order to fix them, ll) comfortably.

All your (lirections in relation to the children will be strictly
attended to in every )articular; and until they leav they will remain
in my possession.
In my letter of the 4th instant I said I hlad Under my care MixtOOle

children, all, it is supposed, that remain from. the massacre. Onl my
way from the south with the sixteen children, when at Beavor city,
seventy-five miles east of Cedar city, where I receivedl tho three lust
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children, I was informed by several Peyute chiefs, belonging to the
band in Beaver valley that two more children were then still in Cedar
city-one aged from ibturtben to seventeen year and tho other from
three to four. The Indians insisted oni this, as did also Ron-nosl,
chief of the Pah-vants, who accompanied me on my trip sot th.
At Meadow creek, ten miles south of Fillmmore, I met a smali mii-

tary detachment going south for several purposes; with thii6Idi-
patched Mr. Rodgers (a reliable gentleman) to Cedar city, with the
necessary directions to recover the two children if there. I have not
learned the result,

I remain, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
J. FORNEY,

SUperintendent Indian A airs Utah.
Hon. C. E. Mix,

Commissioner of Indian Atairs, Washin ton, D. C.

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR,
Office Indian Affairs, June ', 1859.

SIR: Your letter of the 4th ultimo, announcing your return to Great
Salt Lake City with the children who survived the Mountain Meadow
massacre, has been received.
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

A. B. GREENWOOD,
Commissioner.

J. FORNEY, Esq., Superintendent Indian Affairs,
Great Salt Lake City, Utah Territory.

SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, UTAH,
Gr-eat oSalt Lake City, June 16, 1859.

SIR: I cannot say yet what day the children will be put en route for
Leave-iworth, but preimie within six to ten days.

I said in a former letter that I had obtained only sixteen children,
all, it was asserted, that were remaining, or at least that could be
found. I also said in my letter that I sent express back with a certain
military command, with directionss to make further search. Another
child hias been found, thus making seventeen in all.

I remain, very respectfully, )our obedient servant,
J. FOR1NEY,

Superintenden1 Indian Affair8, I. T.
1ion. (0)MMYMI(NFR OF INDIAN AFFAIns, W1rashington, D. C.

SUPI'KIN'TENDENT'S OFFICE, UTA11,
Great Salt Lake City, June 24, 1859.

SIR: I Very respectfully solicit your consideration of the inclosed
corresporidence.

60



MASSACR' AT MOUNTAIN MEADOWS.:

In pursuance of the direction of the- Indian Department, I made the
preliminary. orrangements :with Dr. Hobbs, general agent for Messrs.
itussell Maors Waddell, to transport to Leavenworth the children
survivingtthe Mountain Meadow massacre, by the mode indicated.
Tjie agent offered the oxen and wagons and informed me that they
would travel in company with one of their caravans, which would
leave about this' time for Leavenworth City.
One as familiar as-I-ant with the extraordinary history of these

unfortunate'children, cannot help feeling more than an ordinary de-
gree of interest in their welfare.
After mature deliberation and consultation with several gentlemen,

I concluded to change the mode of conveying-the children east. I have
accepted from General Johnston three ambulances and one baggage-
wagon, with six mules to each, and drivers instead of the two ox-
wagons and being obliged to travel in company with a caravan of
teamsters. I may also accept the services of Major Whiting, who will
leave for the States on leave of absence, to take the supervision over
my party to Leavenworth City. General Johnston also suggests the
propriety of obtaining provisions at the different military posts. One
company of dragoons will travel in company with the party.
The ambulances have springs and are securely covered, and are

certainly much more comfortable than those large, heavy wagons.
And as regards time, the plan adopted will make a difference of thirty
to forty days in the trip, and will also be the most economical.

I sincerely hope my, course will meet the entire approbation of the
department. Neither the government nor any one else has been incom-
moded by this change, ana those immediately interested will be essen-
tially benefited.

I remain, Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
J. FORNEY,

Superintendent Indiant Affairs U. T.
The Hon. lo.MMrT(o21ER OF INDIAN AFFAIRS.

Washi'ngton, D. C.

SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, UTAH,
(wrat Sallt Lake City, June 16, 1859.

DE. n SIR: I informed you sonei time. ago that I had then sixteel
children in my: possession, all (it was then supposed) that were remain-
irig of the terrible massacre in Mountain Meadow valley, in Se tenmber,
i8.57. Since my hasty letter to you from Spanish Fork, another child
has been recovered and is now also inimy possession.

I have collected these children in pursuance of instructions from thie
Indian Doepartment; and in compliance with those instructions they
must soon be en. route for Leavenworth.

MessrsI. Russell, Majors & Waddell offered the Indian Dl)partimcnt,
free of charge, two large wagons, twelve yoke of Oxen, and thle ielecc-
slary gYer, to transport the ciuildren to Leavolewolrth, ill complI)any with
ote of their returning caravans.
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These unfortunate, fatherless, motherless, and pennyless children
certainly demand more than an ordinary degree of sympathy. I have
secured the services of four females to accompany them to Leavenworth.
I will also provide suitable clothing, blankets, and such' other appli-
ances as will be deemed necessary. I am also directed to furnish them
with provisions, and, I )resme, cooking utensils, tout, &c.
My instructions from the office of Indian affairs plainly indicate the

desire that I should send these children by the means of transporta-
tion offered by Messrs. Russell, Major & Waddlell; but I am induced
to believe that were the department advised of the objections so obvious
to +,his mode of transportation, I feel satisfied that my instructions
would have been materially modified or changed; and therefore, after
mature reflection and consultation with several gentlemen, I am
induced to assume the responsibility of clanging the direction of this
matter, provided I can obtain two or three ambulances, one baggage-
wagon, a suitable number of mules, and a proper military escort, from
the officiz in command of this department.

I therefore respectfully request that you will advise me whether this
arrangement can be made without subjecting the service to any im-
portant inconvenience.
As the caravan with which it is proposed to send the children leaves

in a few days, an early reply is respectfully requested.
I have the honor to remain, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

J. FORNEY,
Supt. Indian A.ffairs8 Utah Territory.

General A. S. JOHNSTON,
Com'gDepartment of Utah, Camp Floyd, U. T.

HEADQUARTERS DFPARTMHENT OF UTAIu,
Camp Floyd, U. I'., June 16, 1859.

Sun: General Johnston desires me to inform you that he will provide
the escort and transportation needed for the children surviving the
massacre in the Mountain MAeadow valley, asked for in your letter of
the 15th instant, and he will also take great pleasure in aiding you to
the full scope of his authority, here and on the road, in your humnne
efforts to transmit in comfort and safety those children to Leavenworth
City.
The party will be escorted by a company of dragoons as far as Fort

Kearny, whence their safety will bCe secured by the commander at
that post.
The party will be Sent forandt placed under charge of the escort the

day before it marches, which will be towards the end of next week,
and by the Timpanogosi route, if'sufficiently repaired. A day's notice
will be given you of the transportation being sent to the city.

I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
F. J. PORTER,

Dr. J. FowNRY Afsi8tant A(Uutant General.
Superintendert Indian 4thirii, (ireat Salt Lake City.
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HHA}QTJARTERS DEPARTMENT OF UTAH,
Camp Floyd, U. Y'., June 17, 1859.

SIR: I am desired to suggest to you that your party.of children,
&c., call be supplied with subsistence at the different p)osts oni the road
to Fort Leavenworth, and an arrangement of that kind will prevent
the command being encumbered with their supplies for the whole route,
procured here by you.

Thae cost of the supplies will be charged to the Interior Department
at Washington. If you desire it, the commanding officers onI the
route will be directed to furnish subsistence.

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
F. J. PORTER,

Assistant Adjutant General.
Dr. J. FORNEY,

Superintendent of Indian A4fairs.

SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, UTAHI,
Great Salt Lake aity, June 28, 1859.

DEAR SIR: InasynUCh a8 you have consented to take the supervision
over certain children, whom I am sending to Leavenworth Clity, in
pursuance to directions from the Indian Department, and also the same
over the persons who go in charge of them, I therefore respectfully
submit the following directions:

1. To exercise general supervision over the children and those in
whose immediate care they will travel. To see that the children te
properly fed, with properly arranged and well-cooked food. They
should have little or no bacon or beans, but little fresh meat, plenty of
rice, sugar, milk, butter, and eggs when they can be obtained. In
addition to the rations to be drawn at the different posts, I have fur-
nished for the party dried and can peaches, 70 pounds of butter, and
about 100 pounds of butter crackeCrs.

2. There will be fifteen of the childreIn remaining from the massacre
under your care. The remaining two are retained here to testify in
the criminal court against the supposed murderers. Five females will
accompany th1e chilh7ren: Mrs. Worley, Nash, Mure, &c. Four only
of' these receive wages, but they are all equally boiund to work and
render proper assistance. Mrs. Worley is chief nurse, and will direct
the management of the children so far as th3e women are concerned.
Three men will accompany the children, alnd will render all needful
assistance for their comfort, getting wood and water, and putting up
the tent or tents, c.

3. Robert B. Jarvis, IEsq., ox-Indian agent, is one of the personal
above indicated, and has reepipted to me ibor thle cooking utensils and
other property, and will di poseIof' it as directe(l. Mr. Jarvis will
travel in the ambulances with tho children, and )has kindly promlised
to take special Care of them. I lhave Accepted his offer; ho is, of
course, subject to yolur dirootions, Mr. Jarvis is a kind-hearted, clever
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gentloenan anlid will render every assistance in his power both to you
and the children.

4. Major Whitinq will meet at Leavenworth City, Suiperintenldent
Rector, of Fort Smith, Arkansas, or: some One authorized by him to
receive the c1lildren, to whom you Avill turn over the children.

5. Major Wh1iting is authorized by the undersigned to discharge
any person or persons, either male or female, who accompany said
children, if such refuse to do their respective duties, and' hire others,
and give all account of' said hiring to Superintendent Rcctor.

6. The rations, for which I hav anll order on the different military
posts to Leavenworth;, should be varied in quantity to swiit the children
and women. Very little bacon and beans is required, whilst sugar
and rice shoul(l be used ill proper quantities.
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

J. FORNEY,
Superintendelt of llialtn 4ffairs, U. lt.

Major D. P. WlITING.

SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, UTAII,
Great Salt Lake City, June 27, 1859.

SIRR: I received this morning the inclosed cominmInication from the
United States attorney general of this Territory,
My friend, the attorney general, is quite sick, but will, so soon as he

recovers, instituteIproceedings against certain white men in the
southern part of the Territory, who, it is believed, and indeed, I know,
are the guilty parties in the perI)etration of the, unparalleled massacre.
By diligentt inquiry during the last eight months, and while on my

late visit south, and since, I have gathered many important facts in
relation to the terrible massacre in September, 1857-more perhaps
than any one else. I will, in a very few days, (by next mnail,) furnish
you with a full statement of all the material facts concerning the
massacre in question.

I hope to get the children started to-morrow, when I will expect a
short breathing time again. Thie two boys, which are retained in my
possession aied, I judge, about eight or nine years old, and both remark-
ably intellectual, fand, in my opinion, competent witnesses. I am
unable to Kay When: the court will be held in the southern portion of
the Territoy.

I remain, very rcsp)ectfully, your obedient servant,
J. FORNEY,

Superitendent of Indian A/fai-rs.
Jion. Co(!Mw5IsioN..EIt OF INl)rAN AJFAuII{S.

IJNITrI,) STATI* A~rOItNEY'S OFFrICH,
(treat Salt Lake City, U. Y'., June 27, 1859.

fine: I deem it inmportant to the cause of justice, that John Calvin Sorel
and Ambrose Miran Taggit, being orphans, rescued from the Mountain
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Meadow massacre, should be detained,) aand by you held subject to my
order, to testify ill suh101 legal proceedings as may be instituted aga inst
parties charged with molesting and killing certain individuals, who
constituted anl emigratioln party from Salt Lake City to California, at
the Mountail Meadows, in this Territory, between the months of All-
gust an(l October, A. D. 1857.

I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
ALEXANDER WILSON,

Uni'tedl State Attorney for Utah .4,ritoary.
JAco13 F4ORTNEY,

Superinteldent of Indian Affair8.

SUPERINTENDENT'S OrcFIeE,, UTAH,
Great Salt Lake City, June 29, 1859.

SIR: I succee(led in starting, yesterday, fifteen. of the children that
hYave been. under my care. 'l'ih other two, as stated in my letter of
yesterday, are retained to give testimony against the murderers of their
parenLs, &c.

I stated in a letter of the 24th instant, that I had made some change
in the mode of transportation, and that I had then accepted the ambu-
lances, mules, &c. Five females go in company and take charge of
the children; four receive pay, but all are required to give them their
attention in everything that is necessary for their coinort. Tile in-
closed articles indicate those who are to receive pay.

I also engaged the services of three men, who are with the children,
(and are required to do everything necessary, especially to assist the
women, put up the tents, get wood and water, and, in fhct, anything
that may become necessary, and, at the same time, are not to receive
any pay but rations.
Major D. P. Whiting is going East, on leave of absence, and is

with the party Who accompany the children on their journey..
Major Whiting has kindly consented to take genelrl sulpervision over

my whole party; lhe will especially observe that the children receive
all needful attention.

Inclosed I send you a copy of my directions to Major Whiting. A
company of dragoons escort the children and those with them to Fort
Kearny; from thence they will be escorted by others to Leavenworth.
There are several other officers in company, and going East, on leave
of' absence; also, the Rev. Mr. Vaux, chaplain at Fort Larallni; and
all will pay more or less attention to those unfbotunate childirell, who
really demand the synipathy of alllllpsons who have proper recliligs.

R. B. Jtarvis, Esq., ex-In~dian agent, is one of the three meen above
indicated. Inasmuch as the childrenr vill require considerable attell-
tion in many respects, and not being disposedl to encumber iMajor
Whiting too Im1Uch, I requested Mr. Jarvis to rendler the nuijor S0111o
assisitanco, in a(l(litioni to I is other duties- -to observe that the children
got enough and of' the proper kind of' food.

Ex. D)oc. 42--S
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In addition to rations from Camp Floyd, I furnished the children
butter, crackers, and dried and can peaches. I also furnished cooking
utensils, which I put in the care of Mr. Jarvis, with directions to have
them 'Placed in careful hands at Leavenworth, unless Superintendent
Rector sho1l0l(1 conclude to convey tlhecahildren to Fort Smith by land(
in that case Mr. Jarvis will turns over to him thle cooking utensils.

Captain Anderson commands the dragoons, and is also in command
of the whole party. The officers alluded to are Major Eastman, Cap-
tains Tyler and Campbell, and Lieutenant Ellwood; they will reach
Leavenworth in about forty-five days. General Johnston gave me an
rlrder for provisions at all tlle military posts.
Last night the party camped twelve miles from this city. I went

otit yesterday evening ald(l returned this morning, and wisplleased to
find all in fine spirits. Every child has three changes, and some more,
of clothing, and also a sufficiency of blankets. It has been my conl-
stant endealvor, since these children have been in my care, to make
them comfortable and happy, and I have furnished them with every
a )pliance to make them so on the journey to the States.

I remain, vecry respectfully, your obedient servant,
J. FORNEY,

Supe tcnte dent in(ian .4fatirs U. T7
Hon. Coi0MrssioNER OF IND)IAN AFFAIRS.

DEPAR1tMA1ENT OF THE INTERIOR,
flfce of lnwiat Affairs, July 2, 1859.

SIR: Referring to previous communications to you from this:office,
in regard to the massacre ait Mountain Meadows, in the fall of 185Y, of
the emigrant train composed of citizens from the State of Arkansas,
and to the zeal manifested by you in ,your- reply for the detection of the
persons engaged in it, I have n1owV to (lirect that youi-will make effort,
consistent with your position. and official dIlties, to discover those per-
sons +who were actively engaged in or accessory to it in any degree.

In the exectution of this duty, it i.s expected that you will use the
,utmost diligerce, activity, and zeall to irret out the miscreants, and to
:Ascertain their names and locations. I hardly consider it necessary to
impress upon you the importance of' this matter, as you will at once
.see the great good which must, in the future, result to the safety of
,our citizens when it is known and felt that the goverlilmelt leaves no
means untried to bring to merited putnisllment the perpetrators of stuc]h
mionstrousl deeds. If success attendis tle effort, even in a limited de-
gree, all such must hereafter hesitate at the commission of suich Wicked-
ness, secure andi secret as they imighlit otherwise imagine themselves
from their remnoteness, when they shall recollect that the government
is as watchful to detect, as it is powerful to punish,.
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

A. B. GREENWOOD,
Commissioner.

JACOB FORNEY, Esq.,
Superintiedent of Indiad 4hais,

Salt Lake City, Utah fherriVory.

BB6



MASSAORE AT MOVNTAIN MEADOWS.

DUIBUQUE, ARKANSAS, July 5, 1859.
SnI: I received yoIurs Of the 9th of' last month, stating that the

(Ahildrenof the Mountain Meadow massacre, would be sent'to Leaven-
worth, in charge of Russell & Co., and yoU tendered me the appoint-
innt to have them conveyed tO some centr1 I)Oint, say Carrollton
Arkansas, in two tWvo-horse, wagons. I willingly accept tle appoint-
ment- and make my arrangements to go as soon as I get fulrthler In-
structions, and likewise procure a female nurse. It will be remarkably
warmn, but I expect two wagons will be suifficien'1t.

I am, yours, respectfully,
WILLIAM C. MITCHELL.

Hon. A. B. GREENWOOD.
P. S.-Please direct your letter to Crookedl Creek, Carroll county,

Arkansas) ats they have tf'i-weekly mails to that officer.
W. C. M.

SUiErINTENDENT 8 OFFICE, UTAH,
Great Salt Lake City, Jutly 15, 1859.

SIR: Inclosed is a copy Of tllhe list of cooking apiplialnces, &C., Rent
with and for the use of' "the children"' and those with them. Also a
Co)py of a receipt for the same from ex-Agent Jarvis.

I requested Mr. Jarvis to leave the articles at Fort Leavenworth, if
at all convenient, or in somc safe hands in Leavenworth City. With
thle permission of the Indian Departmnent, Washington, he is directed
to turn the said cooking utensils over to Superintendent Rector, pro-
vi(iing lhe will convey the children to Fort Smith, by land.

I remain, very respectfully, your obedient -servant,
J. FORNEY,

Super-intentlent Indian A4flirs, Utah Terr)-itory.
lion. A. B. GREENWOOD,

Commissioner of Indian A/fairs.

Articles for iuse of children on the journey to LeatvenwUorth.
2 camp kettles.
2 till (ippers,
1 tin lantern.

20 tin Cups."
2 ovens, with lids.,
4 dozen knives and forks.
4 dozen cup)s and saucers.
I tin tealot.
1 ax anld handle.
2 candlesticks.
2 large tin coffee boilers, for carry-

ing water.
2 fry-pans.

I camp table.
2 large tin water-buckets.
2 coffee pots.

20 ti Il,)lates
3 large tinl pans.
1 dozell tablespoons.
8 china plates, (tea set.)
2 tin wash basins.
1 spade.
I coffee. mllill.
1 pepper, box.
1 common mess-chest.
1 tent and fixtures.
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Received, at Great-Salt Lake City, Utah Territory, June 28, 1859,
from Jacob For'ney, superintendent of Indian affairs for Utah, theo
above onlllueratedl articles, being for the use of thle fifteen children
saved from thle Moluntain Mleadow massacre, for their trip from Great
Salt Lake City to Forf Leavenworth. Such disposition to be made of
thle abovo-menitioned goods as shall be directed by the letter of instruc-
tions of Superintendent Piorney to R. B. Jarvis,Esq., ox-Indlian agent,
bearing even date with this receipt.

ROBT. B. JARVIS, rIndian Ag'ent.

SUP14'INTENDENT S OFFICE UTAI,
Great Salt Lake Oity, July 22, 1859.

SIR: Inclosed I forward to you the articles made With the several
females, for comnensation for services to be performed to certain
children, now en r-oute for Lealvellworth. The men are to receive IIO
pay.

I remain, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
J. FORNEY,

KSuperintendent of Iudictan Affai)s U. T.
Hon. A. B. GitRENWOOI),

Comillmissioner of Indian, A/fairs.

This agreement, made this 28thlday of June, A. D. 1859, betw6enl
Jacob Forney, superintendent of' Indian affairs for Utah, of the first
)art, and Ann Eliza Worley, of the second part, all of Great Salt
Lake City, in said Territory: Witnesseth, that the said party of thed
second part covenants and agrees to well, faithfully, and diligently,
take care, charge, and supervision, as head nurse of the children
placed under her carc by the said party of the first part, while on the
jourtiey from' Great Salt Lake City to the point of destination, at Fort
Leavenworth. In considerlation of whlich service, so to be performed,
the said Jacob Forney covenants and agrees that the said Ann Eliza
Worley shall receive, for said service, the sum of twenty-five dollars
per month, fromni and after the date of these prlesents, to thle (lay of the
termination of said journey at the point above designated, inclusive.

In witness whereof, the parties to these presents have hereunto set
[L. s.S] their hands and seals, the day and year first above written.

ANN ELIZA. WORLEY.
In presencee of-

C. E. 1301TVN.

This agreement, made this 28th day of June, A. D. 1859, between
Jacob Forney, superintendent of Indian affairs for Utah) of the first
part, and Elizabeth Mure, Hester Elvira Nash, and Sally Squire, of
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the second part, all of Great Salt Lake City, in said Territory, wit-
nesseth, that the saifd pkrtieW of the second part covenant and agree to
well, faithfully, and (iligently take care, charge, and supervison, as
v~s&Istant nurses, of' thle children )lace(l under their.care by:the said
party of the first part while on the :ourney fromn Great Salt Lake City
to the pint of destination at Fort ieavenworth. In considerations of
which service, so to be performed, thle said( parties of the second part
Aiall receive for said service the sumll of ten dollars each per month
froml and after the date of' these presents to the day of tile termination
of sail journey at the point above designated, inclusive.

In witness whereof, the parties to these presents have hereunto set
their hands and seals the (lay and year first above written.

HESTER E. NASH.
SALLY SQUIRE.
MRS. E. MURE.

In presence of-
C E. BOLTON.

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR,
Office Indian 411airs, *Juty 23, 1859.

Silt: Your letter of the 5th instant, expressing a willingness to
accept the proposal which I made to you onl the 9th of June, of pro-
ceceding to Leavenworth for the purpose of' taking charge of, and re-
storing to their friends and relatives in Arkansas, the children who
survived the massacre at Mountain Meadows, has just been received.
Although my previous letters to you were unofficial, yet any steps
taken by you in pursuance of those letters will be sanctioned, and you
are hereby authorized to start upon the mission: and knowing the
interest you feel in the matter, I need not urge you to use all practi-
cable haste in setting out, as the children may reach that city, as soon
as you possibly can.

If, as I suggested, you should be of opinion that two wagon118 will
not be sufficient for their transportation, having due regard to their
health and comfort,:you will add one or inore, as your j augment may
dictate, not losing sight, however, of all necessary economy.

'rhe point indicated, that of Carollton, to which they may be taken
for the convenience of their friends to receive them, is, in my opinion,
quite suitable, and you will therefore transport them to that point.
Your compensation will be at the rate of three:dollars peIr dilem from

-the time that youl may set out, or be engaged in making the necessary
)reparation, until your return, and for such tinhe after your return as
you may be engage(l in seeing to and rendering them to their friends,
and your actual expenses will be allowed. The same compensation
will be given to the nurse or nurses ,whom you may employ in their
behalf, and their expenses will also be paid. You will be careful to
take vouchers for all items that you may expend where practicable;
and where yon cannot obtain such, you wVill preserve memoranda of'
the items, to be certified on honor that they were necessary and actu-
ally paid, and forward the same here, to be used in the settlement of
your account.
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A requisition in your favor, of five hundred dollars, will be sent to,
the care of' the banking house of Sinoot, Russell & Co., at Leaven-
worth, who will no doubt at your request make arrangements for
cashing thle Samp, and who may be able to give you inforintttion of the
time at which the children may be expected if they should not have
arrived by the timeo you reach there, as Mr. Russell, of that house, is
connected with the line of transportation from Salt Lake to that city.
As the iundl appropriated for thle purpose of' regaining and bringing
h1omlle these helpless persons is but small I must urge upon you the
strictest economy, yet, as many of them are of very tender years, I do
not wish to be understood as advising economy at the expense of health
anrd some degree of comfort; anid let me impress upon you thle neces-
sity at this season of the year of' )aying mnuch atteIntion to their diet
and sleeping accommodations. Of course, the hire of the teamsters
employed by you, anid the forage for the horses, will be a legitimate
charge to be made by you, being necessary expenses.
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

A. B. GREENWOOD,
Commissioner.

WM. C. MITcHELL, Esq.,
Cirookedl Creek, Carroll county, Arkcansas.

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR,
Office Indian A4faire, July 23, 1859.

GENTLIEMEN: I herewith transmit to your care a duplicate of a letter
to William C. Mitchell, Esq., of Arkansas, who has been selected to
take charge, upon their arrival at Leavenworth, of the children who
survived the massacre of an emig-rant train from that State at Moun-
tain Meadows in 1857, and who were placed in charge, at Salt Lake
City, of Messrs. Russell & Co's. line of transportation, to be brought
to Leavenworth.

This is sent to youl for fearithat the first (lraft of the letter to Mr.
Mitchell may: not reach him before he leaves his home, and I shall be
under obligations to you if you will huInt him up mupon his arrival and
hand him the inclosed; also, for any facilities that you may have it in
your powerr to extenld to him torvardls the accomplishment of hif;
mission.
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

A. B. GREENWOOD,
Commissioner .

Messrs. SMOOT, RURSELL & CO.,
Leavemvorth City, Kansas [Li-2ritor?.

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR,
Qf/lce Indian 4/airs, July 25, 1859.

SiR: Since my letter to you of the 23d instant, it has been found
necessary to change the mar ncr of placing you :in possession of thle
five hundred dollars, therein specified to be applied to the transporta-
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tion of the children from Leavenworth City to their homes in Arkansas,.
and I have this day directed Superintendent A. M. Robinson to remit
to you at Leavenworth, to the care of Smoot, Russell & Co., his d&aft
for that amount; and, upon receiving it you will forward your receipt
to him therefor at St. Louis, Missouri.

Very respect-fully,
A. B. GREENWOOD,

WILLIAM C. MITCIIHELL, Esq.,
Care otf XicSssrs. Snzoot, Russcll &t Co., Lea.venwoorth City,

Kamsas Territor'

DEPARTMENT OF TIIE INTERIOR,
qflice Indian A4tairs, July 25, 1859.

SIR: The Secretary of the Interior has been requested to issue
requisition in your favor for the sum of five hundred dollars, charge
able to the appropriation for "C defraying the expenses of the recover,
andl the restoration to their homes, of the children surviving the mas-
sacre by Indians of the emigrant trains from Arkansas iii the ffall of
1857," which is to be applied to the transportation of' these children
from the city of Leavenworth to their homes in Arkansas; and Wil-
liam C. Mitchell, Esq., of that State, has been selected to take them
from that point to their homes. You will therefore make a draft in
favor of Mr. Mitchell for the above sum, and forward the same to him
at Leavenworth City, to the care of Smoot, Russell & Co., for which
he has been directed to forward you his receipt.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
A. B. GREENWOOD,

Comznms.sioner.
A. M. ROBINSON, Esq.,

Superintendent Indian 4Affairs, St. Louis, Missoulri.

SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, UTAH,
Great Salt Lake City, July 25, 1859.

SIR: In pursuance to directions from the Indian department, I
forward the accounts of expenses incurred in recovering, maintain-.
ing, and finally sending to Fort Leavenworth the seventeen children
surviving the Mountain Meadow massacre, in September, 185'?. I
respectfully invite your attention to Abstract No. 1, which contains
the accounts of expenries for said children. I rejected a number of
claims against the government, for these children, for different alleged
expenses. There wer]e a number of claims for purchasing the children
from the Indians, by persons with whom Mr. Hamblin found them;
when it is a well-known fact that they did not live among then Indians
onie hour.

I charged to the account of the children part of Mr. Hamblin's.
wages.
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Thle amount of claims presented to me on account of the children,
by persons in the southern portion of Territory, amolilut tn over seven
thousand dollars, of which amount I only paid twenty-nin9 hundred
and sixty-one dollars and seventy-soven cents. Those I ltuwe paid I
considered strictly and entirely proper.

Prices for every thing in thls country are exorbitantly high: board,
ing at all public places i's from teln to fourteen dollarss per week
althollu I got thle children boarded at Santa Clara for two dollars
and fifty cents lerweek, which is mucll less than I could get them
boarded for in this city. In short, I got nothing for those children
except what their health and comfort required.

The accounts paid amount to .......... ................... $5... $425 48
My trip south to get the children and bring them to

this city, and to visit the Peyuto Indians, amounted to
$1,030 98.

Five hundred dollars of this amount should, in my opinion,
be refunded fbr the Indian service in this Territory5......00 00

5,925 48

This amount I will expect to have refunded to the Indian fund for
tlis Territory.

I will allude to the matter in another letter.
I remain, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

J. FORNEY,
Super-intendent Indianw 4hair8 7J. Y'

Hon. A. 13. GREEeNWOOD,
Commissioner of IndianA4Aairs, Taashington, D. C.

DEPA-"ITMENT OF THEE INTERIOR,
Qflice IniAlnn Affairvs, July 2(, 1859.

SIR: Upon the arrival of thle party with the children (survivors of
the Mountain Meadow massacre) at Leavenworth City, you are re-
quested to turn over to William C. Mitchell, Esq., special agent of
this department, who is charged with the dluty of conveying them to
their friends in Arkansas, the cooking utensils that have been placed
in charge of Mr. R. B. Jarvis by Superintendent Forney, taking his
receipt therefor.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
A. B. GREENWOOD,

Commissioner.
Major D. P. WHITING,

U. S. Army, Leaveniworth City, Kansas I'eerritory.
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DEPARTMENT 0OF TiHE INTERIOR,
07co Indiat Affairs, July 27, 1859.

SIR: Mmajor 1). P. Whiting, United States army, who has direction
of the party composed of the children (survivors of the Mountain
Meadow massacre) on their way to Leavenworth City, hal been this
dlay requested to turn over to you the cooking utensils that have been
placed in charge of' 1R. B. Jarvis, Esq., by Superintendent Forney of
Utah.
Upon receiving these articles you will give Major Whiting a receipt

tlierefor. When you reach Arkansas, where they will be no longer
req(uiredl, you . dl dispose of them to the best advantage and credit the
government with the amount of the proceeds of' their sale.
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

A. 13. GREENWOOD
Commissioner.

WM. C. MITcuEIJL, Esq.,
Care of Smoot, R21ssell 4& Co.,

Leavenworth~City, Kfanss Territory.

SUPERINTENDENT S OFFICE, UTA11,
Great Salt Lake City, July 28, 1859.

Sin: By reference to my financial report of June 30, 1859, it will
be seen that there is a balance of $5,021 85j over the appropriation
for the year 1858-59, and the balance on hand June 30, 1858.

In explanations I will state'that on my arrival in this Territory the
Indians were in a feverish excitement, and great energy, and almost
incessant traveling among them, and presents, were necessary to calm
them down.
And also, upon examining into the affairs of the various Indian

farms, I at once perceived they were nearly destitute of, teams and im-
plements, and, being well assured that a liberal policy would produce
liberal results, I furnished to each farm the necessary oxen and imple-
ments, which is a considerable item in my expenditures. I am also
thoroughly. convinced that Indian farmns properly and judiciously
managed can be made to pay their own expenses and feed the Indians.
And it is in view of this policy that I have placed the first farms in

good working order, and have opened two new ones and furnished
then with all needful appliances. Indeed, I am satisfied with what I
have accomplished with so small. a sum.

I hope the department will appreciate the difficult position I was
placed in the past year, and place to my credit in the St. Louis sub-
treasury the balance before named of $5,021 85A, and also the sum
expended by order of the department for the expense of recovering and
sending home the seventeen children, $5,925 48.

I remain, very respectfillly, your obedient servant,
J. FORNEY,

Sup't Indian Affairs, Utah Tewritory.
Hon. A. B. GREENWOOD

Commissioner of Indian 4[ffairs, Washington, D. C.
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SLJ1)1-',1tINTEND1,,'NT98 OFFICIN, UTAII
Gi-eal Sall Lalee City, Auglist 10, 1859.

SIR: Your letter of 2d ititimo was received by yesterdays mail) and
it will afford im-.11 plea.9.tire to fill-11 ish you with the desired lilfbollation.
it wit.13 lily intelitioll, 1,1111110(liatelv 111)011 lily return fi-0111 the south
beginningg of' Ma ith the chilate to give Yot it fall state nty
f'rolli facts ill illy possession) of the 011ligrant part, ill question, oNbeir
journey through this Territory to their final res Cr 1.411CO, and of' the
children saved, but, had too much other business ']land, and the care
of the childL-6n.

I have however such it coil illI11hication, in, progre'sq) and intend to
conclude it to-day, or before(,, I leave to-morrow 4br Ruby and Deep
Creek valleys, three handled allies west. I will also furnish the
attorney general with the .nainels of' the persoils who I 1.110w WOrc,

engage(! in.said nlassacre,.and names of witnesses.
Chief, J11411ce Ecke-Is will commence it court in his district the fourth

Monday of' this month at Nephi. The attorney general is preparilig
to investiatito the Mountain Meadow massacre before this court.
Nephi is two hundred miles from Cedar City in which place and
neighborhood nearly all the )ei-pretrators and witnesses reside. It
will beivery difficult, indeed almost inipossible, to bring all the parties.
to Nop ii. Cedar City.is the proper place to hold a cotirt'to success-

try those, concerned in the MOtilitaiii Aleadow affair. I suggested
to Judge I-eickels indeed urged the propriety of going to Cedar City
with his court. Ile seems deterinii)ed not to do so.

I met Judge Cradlebatiab a few miles south Of Fillnlore, the latter
part of April, whe'n oil my way from the month Ivith. thO 'children.
Thejudge was traveling,,, with it small military detachinent, going
,south for a special purpose. I fill-nished MITI with the names of the
guilty ahdof the witnesses.,
The attorney general made a special request wheii I startled South

that I would inkike strict inquiry of' everythin(y connected with this
affairs
The course adopted f'or the legal investigation of this matter will

not prove 811cces"iful at the, coiltelfil-dated court, principally fbr the
reason -idy stated, the great distance from where the really guilty
and witnesses are living.

I fears and I regret to say it, that with certain parties here there i's a
greater anxiety to connect B. Young and oth;c. church dignitaries
with every criminal offetise, than diligently endeavor to smash the
actual perpetrators of' crime.

I have succeeded in obtaining a reliable, history of the Mountain
Meadow massacres. I will) in my next annual reports ive it to the
public and also the. names 'of the, actors if' they are not sooner made
known through flic proper 16-11d tribunals, to whotil I have already0

given nearly valliable, flicts.
I remain, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

J.FORNEY,
81 erintendellit of Indialb ffairs U, P.

Hon, A. B. Gw-,,i,;Niiooi),
C02nini'sSione-1. 0j'Indian Affat'rtc, Wat.hi'ngton .0. C.
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SurIE'RIuxNTHND'-LNT's O1440c.a, IJUTA,
Crecd Salte L0ace City, August, 1859.

Sinr: It hlas b~eoii mlly intention, for s0omec weeks past, to give you a
more 1ill1 statemlelt than heretof'ore givenY0 of thle Molliltaill Meadow
tragedy, and of tile children saved from it.

JJuly, 1858, I received instructions from the Acthig'Cohmmnissioner,
C. E. Mix, in relation to certain children. IIn pursuance to which, I
Commenced without delay to make inquiry after the children s11u)pposed
to have been saved, and living among whites 'and Indians. 1 very
soon obtained satisfactory information that thirteen to seventeen chil-
dren werespared at the massacre of at certain eMigrant company the
8th or 9th. September, 185t, in Mountain Meadow valley, Utalh Terri-
tory, whilst onl their way to California. Sixteen of the children were
very soofl collected and Qulbject to my directions, and for whomn I com-
nenced providing imme(liately. It was my earnest desire and purpose
to visit the southern portion of the Terjritory early last fall, but the
safety of the United States mail on the northern California road, and
the public interest generally, required my immediate presence in and.
adjacnt to the Huinboldt valley, and I returned too late from the
Humboldt to travel north. wvith so many little children. I, however,
suggested to the department to have the children taken t6 the States
by way of Californiar nd the San Francisco and New York steamers.
There is no imlpedlilnent at any season of thle year to travel to the
Pacific'by the southern route from where the children were then living.
A massacre of suchI unparalleled magnitude OIn American soil must

necessarily excite much interest in the public mind. From informa-
tion received' from various sources during the last twelve months, I am
enabled to give you a reliable account of the emigrant company in
question, and tlse children remaining, and also some of the causes and
circumstances of the inhuttnan massacre.
The company was composed of about thirty families, and one hun-

dred and thirty to one hundred and forty persons, and, I think,
plrincipally from Johnston county, Arkansas.

I have (leelned it a matter of material importance to make strict
inquiry relative to thel general behavior and conduct of' the company
towards the people of this Territomy in their journey through it, and
am justified in saying that they conducted themselves with propriety.

It is generally concede(l that thle sai(l company was abundantly sup-
p)lied with traveling and extra horses, cattle, &c. They had about
thirty good wagons, and about thirty mules and horses, and six hun-
dred head of cattle, when passing through Provo City, Utah Territory.
At Corn Creek, fifteen miles from Fillmolr City, and one hundred and
sixty-five miles southl of' this city, the collmpany camped several days.
At this place, and :within a few miles of' the Indian farm, (commenced
at few years ago for thle Pab-vallt tribe, and all living on it,) it is
alleged that the said emigrant company treated the Indians most
inhumanly; such. as p)oisoning a spring with arsenic, and impregnating
dead cattle with strichnine. John D. Lee, living one hundred and fifty
miles south, of Fillmlore, informed me that about twenty Indians and
solmle cattle died from drinking of' the poisoned water, and Indians
from eating thle poisoned meat.
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Ity assured Ille that: one of hi's o 'fleDr. Ray) of Fillillore Ci Xen
while the coryiPany was eliCalliped in the lleighbothood, and that lilk
wille, wllile..ellgaged relidering the fidlow of the, dead ox, became kid-
deni that, a boy w io was as le I ays.ill and I sitting her di d ii it fbw

I have not beVn liPprised of' any investigation at the time by the
Indian officials who N%101-0 thell I'll the Territory, or of an official ill-
vestigation by the proper authorities Of, Fil.1111911C. It seems obviolls
that Dr. Ra I 11y's ox died, bont, the ti )o these flat( i-tunate people were
ealilped in tile nei(I'liborhood. I cannot learn 110AVCver of' tiny diffi-
culty the r-onipfuly had with the Pall-valit Indiana NV111,10 campe.l near
therli. The ox died illiquestionably from eating it poisonous weed that
grows in most of tile valleys in this Territory, and it is by no means
Upeollilli(n for cattle to get poisoned and dIe from the effects Of this
Weed. One or two Indians died from eating of the delld ox,%biit I have

f them against lie iiii a ts.not been apprised that this excited tiny 0 t ez (j,r n
And after strict inquiry I cannot ]earn that even One Pall-vant Indian
was present a t the, massacre. Those persons in Fillniolle, and farther
South) 'Who believe that a sprillo was poisoned with arselile and the
meat of a (lead ox with striclinine, by said coinpany, may be honest in
their belief, and attribute tile cause of the inassacIre to the alleged Pol-

I f -,soning. Nvll,. all emigrant company and especially arnierS would
Carry with them so much deadly poison is incomprehensible. I regard
tile poisoning affair as entitled to no consideration, In rely OPM2071,
ba(I areal, for a bad pur o-se have magnified a -natural circtimstance for
the perpetration of a crime that has no parallel in American history
for atrocity.

I bcar nothing more, of the eini"Iralit company until their arrival in
3101.111tain INfeadow valley, about, the 2d or 3d of September, 1851.
This vallev is seven inik,-H in length east and west, and *one to three
Wide-a large spring at each end. In abolit tbe centre, and from

8 i A tic 11 ri of th basin." Eastn(rth to A(tith-ea t I s what is terme I m 0
Of this tile watem go to tile lakes of' Utah Territory, and those West
inti.) the Pacific. TheValley is well heininC4 in bV high hills or moun-

tains; is alillo-St a continuous meIadow, affording an abundance of
I'msture.

At, tbe- sprim? in the east end is a botise and corral, occupied in
8el)tember, 18.57, by Mr. Jacob 1-fainblin. It i8 dlie to Mr. H'aMblin
to say that be kft h(Ille several Weeks before tile company arrived ill
the valley, an(]. returned home, severaldityk titter the massacre.

David TidlS 611as living with INIr. 11-arxiblin) says: " Tile Company
pasi;,ed by the hollge On Friday, 8epternber 2d. or 3ol, towards evening;
that it, Was a large tand reiipectable-10oking company. (TIC of tile, niell,
rrxls,- 111) V) where I Wam workillgi and linked if, there wait ivater ahead.
I Waid, yes. The person lyho rode 111) behaved civilly. Tile 010tripany
(Ar1jjXA sit th(11 springs I'Ti the West end Al the valley. I beard firll).Pl Oil
M(rjdav inorriing, all(] f. r C) i or five, mornitigh a rwardm if,
law] timing: (hiring the, day, I (11MIld WA naive Hear(] it Oil WIT(Uric

11(if the Ktjtj",
I t It (,.Yj amk(,A M r, Tu I i #i t b (11 fo J I 1) W I 11g (I Ilemflont4, arid re-ceived aimWers,

t.,) wit:
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1. When you heard the firing first what was your opillion of its
C I t IIs e,
Aimwer. ll)olieveditNvitqtli(I.llidi'ttiif3fi litin,,,,,tli()CIYligl.anteoMI)ally

eamped at tile ispi-hig at tile othel, (11nd ofthe valley
2. Why (lid you not flotify tile neall0st Hettlement?
Answer. I thought or expected that tile, people of the clearest settle-

ment knew of the fight.
3. Wily (lid you suppose 86?
Answer. Because I saw Indians ridiiig back and forwards oil the

road.
4. Was you afraid?
Answer. I was a little tinlid.
5. How soon (lid you see white men?
Answer. Two or thi-ee days afterwards, (that is, after the massacr

these persons looked liked travelers. I think they went to bury the
(lead.

6. Did you goo inally Indians during the fight?
Answer. During the fig,11ting the Indians continued to run to and

fine oil the road.
7. HoNv inany were in the. train?
Answer. I suppose 70 to 100; there sceined to be a good many

women and children.
8. Did you hear any talk about the niassacre?
Answer. Yes.
9. What did you hear was the cause of the niassac e.
Answer. I heard afteirwardis; because the etaigrant, party poisoned

tile sprin or k9orne cattle at Corn creek.
10. :Alat Was you-r own Opinion of the.caufjlo?
Answer. I thought there must have been some fuss, with the Indians

along the road soniewh6re. I heard that the emigrant party had
poisoned a spring at Corn creek.

11. What became -of' the property?
Answex. The Indians'drove all the cattle and horses away. .1 heard

they burned the wagoils eviler(-,. they Were camped.
12. WI-iatwtttidoil(llw'ltli-th(,,cll'lldr(Ilni'liiiii(-.diatelyaftertliellltIssacre?
Answen'. I heard the Indians took thein to Cedar City. I 11,180 saw

tile Indians drive some cattle, toward Cedar City.
1 3. 1) i'd you ever see any of tile property in the possession Of whites ?
Answer. NO.
14. Did you ever hear any one talk abo-4t, the property?
Anliwel% No.
15. Did you ever bear of any one escaping front the fight or massacre?
Answer. I lipmr(l. of (.)no -1 and he NN111.11 aft(irwards killed at tile Aluddy

or Loti Vagom- rivers,
This is part of' tl)e stlitolnent, ot'l). Tiflim) made to me in presence of

willinhi 1-1. ItAgers, April 13 I whilo Oil lily trip to sitilfil clailil.
He Willi travelitig wine us froin Pailite) Creek.

I will give yoii it flow extracts from the statenionts by Alfred, who is
v I z ., 1 I 0, 0 1 a, r coit ci il, m 8 I Billion(,, lmlia i,,r itied by M . Ja 1) Hal Min, ai d was

diell find 'is still living With 11,1111. Alfred Buys:
Ilf Haw tile compatiy palishig our House about still flown. It Was it
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large company. They camped nt the spring in the other end of the
valley. (Adty or two after l)assing our house, I heard firing when in
ba(ld; it continued all day four (lays.

Question. Why (lid you not go there?
Answver. I had not time; I was attending to the sheep. The time

they were killed, I was about a mile from them. 1 salw some Indians
killing them. Thyc shlot some with alrrowsf and guns, and others were,
killed with clubs. I talked with some of the Indians (the (lay they
were killed ;) they were mad and I *as afraid to talk mluch to them.
Some of the In(lians, during the four or five days firing, rode to and
fro towards Palinter Creek settlement, about ten miles cast of the
Mountain Aleadow valley ; they were riding over the hills) and riding
very fatst.

Question. Why did you not, (luring the four or five days firing,
notify the people of PJ½'nler Creek and Cedar City of the fight ?

Answer. I told Mr'. Tulis and those at the houIse), when I caine in from
lherding, about the Indians fighting the emi'rants.. Mr. Tullis told
ineto mindl my business and attend to my herding. I 'aw the Indians
killing the WhliteS.

Question. How did the emigrants get out of the corral?
AnsWer. They thought the In(lians had all left, and then they

started out and were coming to our house, an(l wlen they were about
a mile firom the wagons, the Indians who were hid behind oak brush
and sage fell on them. I went to the place the same day andl saw thc
dead lying about. Somc were strict -an(l some were (Iressed. The
Indians were mad, scolding and quaarrelling. I saw the children going
last our house. (Mr. Hamblin's.) All the children stopped at oulr
house.

Question. Who brought the children to Mr. Hamnblin's house ?
Answer. Mr. David Tulis brought them all to our house in a wagon

about dark, the same evening of' tle day of the massacre.
Questionl. Wasf Mr. Jacob HIamblin at home when the company

arrive(l in tfle valley and the (lay :of' the massacre ?
Answer. He left home several weeks before the company arrived,

and returne(i several days after thlemasacre.
These persons lived at Mm. Hamnblin's, and within three and a half

miles of the spot where:the killing was (lone ;, -yet neither were there,
if one is to believe them.,

I conclude from6 the most reliable information that the company
promiscuously campe(l near the spring, inten(ling to remain some (lays
to recruit the stock, preparatory to crossing f:the several deserts before
reaching Calif'ornia. They had no apprehension of serious danger
when they first reached the valley, and for several days afterwards, or
from Friday until Monday morning. The company then corraled the
wagons and made a protective fort, by filling with earth the space
under the w4gons. I saw the evidences of this last April.
The In(liarns got into a state of' tremendous excitement, throllgh

misrepresentations of the foulest character, about the supposed poison-
ing at-Corn Creek.
The Peyute :Indians, inhabiting the southern portion 'of this Terri-

tory are divided into ten bands, roaming from Beaver valley to the
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Californialinme, and have received nnd ate receiving considerable assistance
fIrom thie whites. Most of the In(lians from the several bands, adjacent
to thle Mountain Meadow valley, were concentrates at or near the valley.
'T'hese Indians received their instruetions from white men. In puir-
suance to arrangements, they,Urst attack was Made oni the unfoitut'nate
company by Indians on MondlayT mlmorning, anhd continued daily until
Friday morning, September 9. The campl wvas surroulide(l continually,
prevent;lg auny one from leaving the corral without hazarding life,
(luring five or six days.

It :is impossible to comprehend the immrnense suffering. OI the
fatal morning two wagons approached lthe corral, and several ivhites
effected: a colpromise, the emigrants giving u)p all their arms, with
the assurance that the lives of all should be saved and condiwted back
inl safety to Cedar City. The company started under the care and
direction of white men; the woulnlded, ol women, and children were
taken in the two wagons. They proceeded about- one and a half mile
toward Cedar, when suddenly, and in obedience to at signal, the work
of deathi commennced. The murderers were secretly in a few acres of
oak brush and sage, the only thing of the kind I saw in the valley.
My impression is that from one hundred and fifteen to one hundred
and twenty were there murdered. Several escaped ; only three got
out of the valley; two of whom were soon overtaken and shot down.
One adult got as far as the Muddy, and was returning with two
persons fron California; but he was also overtaken and shot by
Indians.
From the evidence iii my possession, I am justified in the declaration

that this massacre was concocted by white mleneand consummated by
whites and Indians. The names of many of the whites engaged in
this terrible affair have alreAdy been given to the proper legal
authorities.

I will in due time take the necessary steps foi the recovery of the
property, which was sold and divided allmong certain parties.
The seventeen little children, all that 1 can learn of, were taken

after tile massacre to Mr. Hamblin's house by John D. teeDavid_
Tulis ,and others, in a wagon, either the same evening or the following
morning. Thc children were sold out t( different persons in Cedar
City, Harmony, and Painter Creek. Bills are, now, in my possession
from different individuals, asking payment from the government. I
cannot colndescend to become the medilim of even transmitting such
claimsto the department.

I feel confident that the children Were well cared for whilst in the
hands of' these peol)le. I found them happy and contented, except
those who were sick.
Below is a list of the children recovered by me and, brought to this

city, fifteen of Whomn are now en route to Arkansas, and two detained
to give evidence:
John Calvin Sorel; Lewis 0and Mary Sorel; Ambrose Mirami, and

William Taggit; Frances Horn; Angieline, Annie, and Sophronia or
Mary Huff; Ephraim W. Huff; Charles and Annie Fralncher; Betsey
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and Jane B1aker; Rebecca, Louisa, and Sarah1 )1unlap Williamn (Welch)
Baker.

I remain, very resl)ectftilly, your obedient servant,
J. FORNEY,

Su1mpt. Indiank 4Ag'hs Utah
a 'try.

H1on. A. B. GRF.ENNwOOD,
:Ct). (?f Ian1dial. Affairs, Taishingtoon, D. C.

DEPARTMENT OF T11E INTEROR,
~ OQflicc Indian A4fairs, S)Algllst 15, 1859.

SIR: From information just received fromt Robert B. Jarvis, Esq,
late Indian agent, in Utah Territory, I learn that the children,
rescued from the II1(lians in that Territory, and who are survivors of
the massacre at Mountain Meadow, in 1857, will not probably reach
Leavenworth City until sometime between the 1st and 5tlh September
proximo. Mr. Jarvis accompanied them as far as Fort Laramie.

Youl are thus informed, in order that you may not be disappointed
by any delay to which you may be subjected, after reaching Lenven-
worth City, by the non-arrival of the party in charge of the children.
In this connection, I would remark that M1r. Jarvis hasu furnished

this office with a list of articles, received from the Stuperintendent of
the Indian Affairs, Utah Territory, and which he has turned over to
the Iproper officer of the expedition ; and I inclose a copy thereofg in
order that you may, upon the arrival of the children, be enabled to
designate such articles or utensils as may have been consumed, lost, or
destroyed, and upon the remainder being delivered to you, you should
give duplicate receipts for the same, one of which is to be forwarded to
this office, the other to be retained by the officer now having them in
charge, to whom Mr. Jarvis has stated he will write, requesting him
to turn over the articles to you upon your application for them.
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

A. B. GREENWOOD,
Commissioner.

WILLIAM C. MITCHILX, Esq.,
SVpecial Agent, &c.

Care of Smoot, Russell & Co., Leavenworth City, Kansas Territory.

CA.MP FLmYD, UTAii TERRITORY, Augast 18, 1859.
S:a: Inclosed herewith you will find an affidavit of Captain Lynch

and-otheTsjn relation to the maffsacre at the Mountain Meadows. This
affidavit I have been tpermitted to forward to you for Your information
in relation to the sa4 affair of which it treats. One thing I think you
may regard as certain1 that, iii, that these children never were in the
hands of Indianq. NWeie nevirr purchased of' any one, but wore par-
celed out among the rilmirdc'iers, and that l)r. Forney and Hanmbfin
knew it.
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Tllis. affidavit may also be useful to thle adtninistration in explaining
the differences existing amioligf federal appoilntcos iII Utah.

I assure you, sir, that it affords mo no pleasure to give you this il-
formation, I do so only under a strong sensor of duty.

I am, sir, your obedient-servant,
O. R. LCKELS.

1lon. SERETARtY OF INTERIOR)
Nown,-I am inforedI that' Captain Lynch h]as chosen to make a

cop)y of these affidavits public.
D. R, ECKELS.

IJTAIi T.ERRIITORY, Cedar County, Ss:
James Lynch, of lawful agoe being first (lilly sworn, states on oath,

that he was one the party who accompanied Dr. Jacob Forney, super-
intendent of Indian affairs, in an expedition to the Mountain Meadows,
Santa Clara, &¢. ,i the months of March and Ajlil last, when we re-
ceived sixteen children, sle survivors of the wholesale massacre per-
letrated at the former place in the month of September 1857. The
children when we filsBt saW them were ill a most wretched- and delo-
r'ablc condition;; with little or no clothirni, covered with 11th and drt,
they presented a :sight heart-rending and miserable in 'the extreme.
Thee scene :of the fearful murder still bears evidence of the atrocious
-crime, chargedby the Mormons and their friends to have been perp-
trated by Indians, but really by Mormonsl disguised as Indians, who
in their headlong zeal, bigotry, and fanaticism, deemed this a favorable
opportunity of at once wreaking their vengeance on the hated people
of Arkansas, and of making another of those iniquitous "blood offer-
ings" to God., so often recommended by Brigham Young and their other
leaders. For more than two square miles the ground is strewn with
the skull bones and other remains of the victims., In places the water
has washed many of these remains together, forming little mnounds,
raising monuments as it were to the cruelty of man to his- fellow man.
Here and there may be found the remains of an innocent infant beside
those of some fond, devoted mother, ruthlessly slain by men worse than
demons; their bones lie bleaching in theanoon-day sun, a mute but an
eloquent appeal to a just but offended God for vengeance. I have wit,
nessed many harrowing sights oil the fields of battle, but never did my
heart thrill with such - horrible emotions, as when standing on that
silent plain contemplating the remains of the innocent victims of Mor-
mon avarice, fanaticism;, and cruelty.-
Many of' these remains are now in possession of a Mr. Rodgers, a

gentleman who accompanied us upon th6e ex edition. Why were not
these remains interred, if not ii a Christian-like, and proper manner
at least covered from the sight? But no, the hatred of their murderers
extended to them: after their -death. There they la; a prey to the
famished wolves that run ;howling over the desolate plainsto tlhe un-
looked-for feast, food for the croaking 'raven that through the tainted
air with swift wing wend(e their way to revel in their banquet of
blood.

Ex. Doc. 42-
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I inquired of Jacob Hamlin, who is a high church dignitary, why
these remains Wereno t buried at some time subsequent to the murder.
Hle said the bodies were so much deconlposed that it was impossible to
inter them. No longer let us boast of our citizenship, freedom, or
civilization.IHere was one hundred and forty poor harmlessem i-
grants to California butchelled in cold blood,by white men, too,w ith
atteIl(ling circumilstamces far exceeding anything in cruelty that we
have everlieard of or read of being perl)etrated, even by savages. It
is now high time that the actors and instigators of this dreadfull crime
should be brought tocondign punislhment. For years these Mormons
have possessedanll immunity from punishment,or a sort of privilege
for committing crimes of this nature, but soon, it is to be hoped, a new
stateof' thingsmust(Iawvn-retril)ution mustcome-vengeance must be
had, civilization,lhutmanity,afnd Christianity call for it,'and the Ameri-
can people must have it. Blood may beshed, difficulties may been-
countered, but just as sure as there isa suni at noon-(lay, retribution
will yet overtake the guilty wretches, their aiders, abetters, whether
open or hidlden unde disguise of .government employment.
John D. Lee, aMo nmon president, has knowledgeof thle where-

abouits of Muchiof the property taken from these ill-fated emigrants,
andlif' I am not misinformed, in possession of a large qluantity of'it
Why not make him disgorge this ill-gotten plunder, and disclose the
amountesceheated to and sold( out by the Mormion Church asitsshare
ofthe blood otfhelpless victims? Whenheenters into a league with
helland a covenant with death,leshould not be allowed to make
feasts and entertaingovernment officials at his table ashe did Dr.
Jacob Forney, superintendent of Indian affairs, while thle rest of his
party refused, in his hearing and that of Lee, to share the hospitality
of this notoriousnurderer-TIIS SCOURGE OF THIE DESERT.rThis manl Lee
does not(leny, but admits' thathe was present at the massacre, but
preten(ls thatle was there to prevent bloodshed; but positive evidence

implicatesl him as the leader of the murderers too deeply fordenial.
The children point. him out as one of them, that did the bloody work.
He an(1 otherwhite men had thle.se children, aind they never were in
the hands ot the Indianis, but in those who murdered them, and Jacob
Hamlin and Jacob Forney know it. The children pointed Out to us
the dresses andjewelry of their (mth1rsandsisters that now grace

angelic formlns of' these mur(lerers' women and children. Verily it
would seem that men and women alike combined in this wholesale
slaughter.

This i11-fated train consisted ofeighteen wagons, eight hundred;and
twenty head of cattle, household:goods to a large amount, besides
money, estimated at eighty or ninety thousIand dollars, the greater
part of whieh, it is believed, now makes rich the harem's of this John
Dl.Lee. Of this train awman, wlhse name is unknown, fortunately
escaped at the time of thle inassacre to Vegas, one hundred miles
distant from the scene of blood, on the California road. He was foi-
lowed by five Mormons who, thlro-ough promises of' safety, &c., prevailed
upon hiln to begin hi's return to Mountain Meadows, and, contrary to
their promises and his just expectation, they inhumanly butchered
him, laughing at and disregarding his loud and repeated cries for
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mercy; as witnessed and told by Ira Hatch, one of the five. The object
in killing this man was to leave no witness competent to give testi-
molly in a court of justice but God, whose ways are inscrutable, has
thought proper, through the instrumentality of' the "babes and suck-
lings" recovered by us, to bring to light this most horrible tragedy, and
make known its barbarous and inhuman perpetrators.

Already a step has been taken by Judge Cradlebaugh in the right
direction, of which we:see the evidence in the flight of presidents,
bishops, and elders to the mountains, to escape the just penalty of the
law for their crimes. If the vengeance of tile Lord is slow, it is equally
sure. The Mormons, who knolw better, have reported that the prin-
cipals and, in fact, all the actors in this fearful massacre, were Indian
savages; but subsequent events -have thrown sufficient light upon this
mystery to fix the foul blot indelibly upon the Mormon escutcheon.
Many of the leaders tare well known. John D. Lee was the com-
mander-in-chief. President Haight and Bishop Smith, of Cedar City,
and, besides these, one hundred actors and accomplices, are known to
Judge Cradlebaugh and Dr. Forney. Some of those implicated are
and have been in the confidence and under employment of the super-
intendent of Indian affairs. Bishop Hamlin, for instance, who is em-
ployed by Dr. Forney among the Indians down south, who knows all
the facts, but refuses to disclose them) who falsely reported to Dr.
Forney that the childrenwen brought away were recovered by him. from
persons who had bought them from Indians, and who knew that what
he reported was false, and was; so done to cheat the government t of
money to again reward the guilty wretches for their inhuman butch-
eries. It is pretended that this man is friendly towards the United
States government; yet it is a well-knowln fact that lie screened some
of these murderers about'his house from justice, among whom are an
Indian' named George, and a white mani by the name of Tillis, recog-
nized by one of these children-a little girl eight years old, who has
been sent off to the States by Dr. Forney-as the manl who killed her
mother.
Hamlin cannot be a Mormon bishop and a friend of the United States,

at least, where M1formioits or M1Iorrnoni'm is concerned. His creed and
oaths forbid it, and lie could not, if he would, with safety to himself
do it. Then, why not out with hn ? Dr. Forney can find another
and more trustworthy agent than he. Why, tllen, keep and patronize
the abettor of crime ?

Before I close, my duty to my country calls upon me to state to the
public the course of Dr. Forney to engender in the minds of the Mor-
mons feelings of antipathy and opposition to the judiciary, tend the
many obligations which he violated and promises which he disregarded
during this trip.

I left Camp Floyd in March last, in charge of thirty-nine men,
emigrating to Arizona. About the 2Tthb of that month we came up
-withlDr. Forney, at Beaver City, who there informed me that he was
en route to the scene of tthe Mountain Meadow massacre and Santa
Clara-, to procure evidence in relation thereto, and to secure the sur-
viving children. He informed me that all his men had left him, being
Mormons, and who, before leaving, had informed him (Forney) that
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if he went down south the people down. there would make an eunuch
of him, and asked us for aid and assistance. I cheerfully placed the
whole party at his command, telling him that he hlad started upon an
errand of mercy, and it was strange that lhe should have employed
Mormons, the very confederates of these monsters, who had so wan-
tonly murdered unoffending emigrants, to ferret out the guilty parties.

lie was left Without a man, and we found him guarding his mules
and wagnsls He requested two of the men of my party (Thomas
Dunn and John Lofink) -to return to Great Salt Lake City with him,
promising to give them employment during the following summer and
the winter. They consented to abandon their trip to Arizona upon
these terms, and returned With the Doctor; and, I am sorry to say,
that he violated his lighted faith and his solemn contract, on reach-
ing the city, by immediately discharging them, without cause, and
luring Mormons to take their place, as, I am informed, has been his
custom since he came into the valley.

I was with Dr. Forney from the time I joined him until he returned
to the city of Salt Lake, having voluntarily abandoned my expedition
to Arizona to aid in his humane enterprise, and during the trip I re-
peatedly heard him tell thle Mormons " that they need not fear Judge
Cradlebaugh," (whose disclosures and energy had created some alarm;)
"that he (Forney) would have him removed from office; that the
Mormons (murderers and all) were all included in the President's
proclamation an'd pardon, and would not be tried or punished for any
offense whatever committed prior to the issuing of the pardon; that
Judge Cradlebaugh'was not a fit man for office." In fact, abusing
and slandering the judge in unmeasured terms, no language being too
low or filthy to apply to him. I could arrive at no other conclusion,
from his:conduct, than that the Doctor desired to influence the mind
of the Mormons against the judiciary, and 'that he cared more to create
a prejudice againstrJudge Cradlebauigh's course in attempting to bring
these murders to light, than he did to elicit the truth relative to the
murders, and that he was only following out his instructions from the
general government in going after the children, while lie was availing
himself of the journey to make a pilgrimage to the south settlements
to abuse and traduce Judge Cradlebaugh, and arouse a feeling of re-
sistance to his authority among the guilty murderers.

It is to be regretted that the Doctor has manifested so hostile a
feeling to hi'3 associate federal officers, and that the course of the
judges, and especially that of Judge Cradlebaugh, has to be criticized
by such a man as Jacob Forney;, a more veritable old granny than
whom, in my opinion, never held official position in this country; and
in this opinion I am borne out by the concurrent opinions of nearly
all the GOentile population in Utah, who know him, as well as by many
of the Mormon people. I now reside in Cedar county, Utah Territory.

JAMES LYNCH.

James Lynch, being duly sworn, states on oath that all the material
facts stated by him in the foregoing affidavit, so far as he states the
same as of his own knowledge, are true, and so far as lie states the
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same as from information derived from others, as also the conclusions
drawn from the same, he believes to be true, and further saith not.

JAMES LYNCH.

Sworn, to and subscribed July 27, 1859.
D. R... ECKELS,

Chief Justice of Supreme Court.

The undersigned state on oath, that the foregoing affidavit has been
carefully read to them; that they are the identical persons named
in it as having been employed by Dr, Jacob Forney to return with him
to Salt Lake City; that they went from Beaver City with said Forney
south, and back again, and that we filly concur. in the statements
made by James Lynch, Esq., it, the foregoing affidavit, as to what we
saw and heard on the trip, and the conduct of Dr. Forney, superin-
tendent of Indian affairs, and further say not.

T D NTHOMAS DUNN.
JOHN LOFINK.

Subscribed and swvorn to before me July 2T, 1859.
D. R. ECKELS,

Chief Justice of Suipremie Court.

[Telegraphic dispatch.]

FORT LEAVENWORTM, August 25.
Fifteen Mountain Meadow children arrived this morning from Utah.

No arrangements have been made and no one is here to receive them.
What shall I do with them? The Foster children have been delivered
to their friends.

STEWART VAN YLIET.
General S. JESUP)

Quarternmaster General, Washington.

[Telegraphic dispatch.]

LEAVENWORTH August 25.
William 0. Mitchell, of Arkansas, received the children of Mountain

Meadow massacre.
WM. C. MITCHELL,

Special Agent.
A. B. GpmwOOD:,

Commissioner of IndiahAoffairs, Washington.
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DEPARTMENT OF T1E TNTERIOR,
0fflce Indian I/fairs, September 1, 1859<

Sin: Your letter of the 25th July last, enclosing the accounts for
expenses incurred in recovering, maintaining, and finally sending to
Fort Leavenworth the children surviving tihe Mountain Meadow mas-
sacre has been received, and as soon as the accounts are examined you
will be informed of the result.

Very respectfully &c., A
A.- B. GR:EENWOOD,

Comnistsioner.
J. FoprNEy, Esq., Superintendent Indian 4fairs,

Great Salt Lake City, Utah Territory.

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR)
Qjice Indian Affairs, September 7, 1859,

SIR: I have to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of August (no
date) last, containing a fuller account than heretofore given of the
Mountain Meadow massacre and of the children saved therefrom.
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

A. B. GREENWOOD,
Commissioner.

J. FORNEY, Esq., Superintenden't Indian 4fhairs,
Salt Lake City, Utah Territory.

SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, UTAHN
Great Salt Lake City, September 22, 1859.

SIR: Your letter dated July 2, in which you request me to ascer-
tain the names of white men, if any, implicated in the Mountain
Meadow massacre, reached me several weeks since, about 300 miles
west of this city.

I gave several months ago to the Attorney General and several of
the United States judges- the names of those who I believed were not
only implicated, but the hell-deserving scoundrels who concocted and
brought to a successful termination the whole affair.
The following' are the names of the persons the most guilty: Isaac

T. Haight, Cedar City, president of several settlements south Bishop
Smith, Cedar City ; John D. Lee7 Harmony; John M. Higby, Cedar
City; Bishop Davis, David Tullhs, Santa Clara; Ira Hatch, Santa
Clara. These were the cause of the massacre, aided by others. It is
to be regretted that nothing has yet been accomplished towardsbring-
ing these murderers to justice. I could, perhaps, give some reasons
for this. In the first place, no well-directed effort has been made' to
catch them. Second. The names of' the guilty: were paraded in the
newspaper published here, called the Valley Tan. And in fact the
names were made public by a judge and others, and all this before an
attempt was made to catch them.
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I am aware that certain parties here who talk loudest did not make
a proper Effort to bring to trial the Mountain Meadow offenders, by
refusing to hold court within a reasonable: distance of the parties and
witnesses; said court refused to accept the services of' the territorial
marshal who proposed to apprehend the supposed guilty, and refused
fifteen hundred dollars, which were offered by Hon. William H.
Hooper, delegate to Congress from Utah, to aid in defraying the ex-
penses; and I had the assurance of several leading Mormons that the
supposed guilty should be arrested, and I had no reason to doubt their
sincerity.

I remain, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
J. FORNEY,

Superintendent Indian Affairs, Utah Territory.
Hon. A. B. GREENWOOD,

Commissioner Inaian Affairs, Washington, D. C.

Extract from Superintendent Forney's annual report, of September 29,
1859.

MOUNTAIN MEADOW MASSACRE.

A company of emigrants from Arkansas, emigrating to California,
arrived and camped at a spring in the west end of Mountain Meadow
valley on the 3d or 4th September, 1857. On the 9th of said month,
and near the said spring, one hundred and fifteen to one hundred and
twenty wereinhumanly massacred. The lives of seventeen children
were spared, who were from two months to seven years old. This
massacre was brought to my official notice by a letter from the Hon.
C. E. Mix, received June, 1858, instructing me to make inquiry, and
recover, if possible, certain children, who, it was supposed, were saved
from the massacre and were supposed to be living with Mormons and
Indians. Sixteen of the surviving children were collected in July,
1858, and were placed in a respectable family in Santa Clara, three
hundred and fifty miles south of this city, and were provided for by
my directions. The seventeenth child was recovered last April. None
of the children were claimed by or were living with or among the In-
dians. They were taken from the field of slaughter the evening of
the day their friends were killed, and conveyed in a wagon to Mr.
Hamblin's house, in the feast end of the valley, by John D. Lee and
Daniel Tullis, and perhaps others. The following day the children
were divided out and placed in different Mormon families in Cedar
City, Harmony, Santa Clara, &c., from whence they were collected in
pursuance of my directions. A massacre of such unparalleled magni-
tude on American soil must sooner or later demand thorough inves-
tigation. I have availed myself during the last twelve months of
every opportunity to obtain reliable information about the said emi-
grant company, and the alleged causes of and circumstances which led
to their treacherous sacrifice.
Mormons have been accused of aiding the Indiana in the commit

sion of this crime. I commenced my inquiries without prejudice or

87



MASSACRE AT MOUNTAIN MEADOWS.

selfish motive, and with a hope that, ill the progress of my inquiries,
facts would, enable me .to exculpate all white men from any participa-
tion in this tragedy, and saddle the guilt exclusively upon the Indians;but, unfortlinately, every step in my inquiries satisfied me that the
Indians acted only a secondary part. Conflicting statements wer&
made to me of the behavior of this emIigrant company, while traveling
through the Territory. I have accordingly deemed it a matter of
material importance to make a strict inquiry to obtain reliable infor-
mation on thrs subject; not that bad conduct on their part could in
any degree palliate the enormity of the crime, or be regarded as any
extenuation. My object was common justice to tile surviving orphans.
The result of my inquiries enables ine to say that the company con-
ducted themselves with propriety. They were camped several days at
Corn creek, Fillmore valley, adjacent to one of our Indian farms.

Persons have informed me that, whilst there encamped, they poi-
soned a large spring with arsenic and the meat of a dead ox with.
strichnine. This ox died, unquestioinably, from eating a poisonous
weed, which grows inl most of the valleys here. Persons in the south-
ern part of the Territory told me last spring, whben on a southern trip,
that from fifteen to twenty Pall-vant Indians (of those on Corn Creek
farm) died from drinking the water of the poisoned spring and eating
of the poisoned meat. Other equally unreasonable stories were told
me about these unfortunate people.
That an emigrant company, as respectable as I believe this was,

would carry along several pounds of arsenic and strichnine, appar-
ently for no:other purpose than to poison cattle and Indians, is too
improbable to be true. I cannot learn that the Pah-vants had any
difficulty with these people. The massacre took place only about one
hundredmiles south of Corn creek, and yet not any of those Indians
were present. Bad white men have magnified a natural cause to aid
them in exciting the southern Indians, hoping that, by so doing, they
could be relied upon to exterminate the saild company and escape
detection themselves. Thus, on the Monday morning subsequent tothe Friday, 4th or 5th of September, the (lay they camped at the
spring, the Indians commenced firing upon them, and continued daily
until-and during the eighth day of their encamping, but withollt ac-

complishing much. Several were killed, however, and a few wounded,
When the company:first apprehended an attack, they formed a corral
with their wagons, and filled up with earth to the wagon beds, which
made a protecting fort. White, men were present and directed the
Indians, John D. Lee, of Harmony, told me, in his own house, last
April, in presence- of two persons, thathe was present three successive
days during the fight, and was present during the fatal day. The
Indians alone made their last attack on the 8th of September. On
the 9th, John D. Leg and others,: whose names I gave in myletter of
the 23dultimo, displayed a white flag, and approached the corral
With two wagons, and had a long interview with the company, and
proposed acompromise. What there occurred~has not transpired.
The emigrant company gave upall their arms, with theexpectation
that their lives would be spared, and they.be conducted back to Pan-
ther creek and Cedar city. The old women, children, and wounded

88



MASSAORE AT MOUNTAIN MEADOWS.

were taken in the wagons, and the company proceeded towards Pan-
ther creek, when, suddenly, at a signal, the work of death commenced,
about one and a half miles from the spring, at a place where there was
about an acre of scrub-oak brush. Here not less, I think, than one
hundred and fifteen men, women, and children, were slaughtered by
white men and Indians. Three men got out of the valley, two of
whom were soon overtaken and killed; the other reached Muddy creek,
over fifty miles off, and was overtaken and killed by several Indians
and one white man.

rThus terminated the most extensive and atrocious massacre recorded
in American history. Whoever may have been the perpetrators of
this horrible deed, no doubt exists in my lnind that they were influ-
enced chiefly by a determination to acquire wealth by robbery. It is
in evidence, from respectable s(io'rces, that material changes have taken
place in the pecuniary condition of certain individuals suspected of
complicity in this affair. It is to be regretted that no well-directed,
effort has been made to bring the guilty'to trial and punishment. I
furnished to the proper officials the names of some of the persons who,
I had reason to suppose, were instigators and participators in this
unparalleled massacre, and also with the names of witnesses.

It was my intention to visit the southern portion of the Territory
early last fall, for the purpose of bringing to this city the surviving
children; but the public interest, the safety of emigrants and of the
United States mail, then carried on the Northern California road,
required my presence atong the Indians in the Humboldt valley
which place I visited in September and October, 1858. Upon my
return from that region, the weather was too inclement to travel, with
so many little children, northwardly.

I started as early this spring as practicable, and arrived back with
the children the beginning of May. It is proper to remark that when
I obtained the children they were in a better condition than children
generally in the settlements in which they lived.
In pursuance of instructions, I started fifteen of the surviving :chil-

dren, the 29th of last June, for Leavenworth City, under the general
supervision of Major Whiting, United States army, and special care
of several females. When I leave for the. States, under your authority,
I will take with me the two boys, who, at the time of the massacre,
were respectively six and seven years ol0(, and who were detained here
by the United States attorneygeneral, in the hope that important
facts for testimony might be elicited from them.

It is proper, in connection with the foregoing, to state that this emi-
grant party, previous to the massacre, was in possession of a large
quantity of property, consisting of horses, mules, oxen, wagons, and
other valuables, as well-as money, clothing, &c., not one particle of
which has been satisfactorily accounted for, and which, inmy opinion,
was distributed among the white inhabitants who participated in this
affair.
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DuBUQUX, ARKANSAS, October 4, 1859.
SMa: Your letter of instruction of the 23d July came to hand the

9th of August. On the next day I set out on my mission for Fort
Leavenworth, to receive the little children, survivors of the Mountain
Meadow massacre, with a couple of two-horse wagons and a nurse,
As the probable time of their arrival was between the 10th and 16th,
I proceeded on horseback and arrived at Fort Leavenworth on the 22d,
at which point I received intelligence from the department that the
children were not expected at, that point before the 1st or 5th September.
The wagons arrived on the 25th. The same day the children arrived
from Utah. The little children were in fine health. I received them,
fifteen in number, five boys and ten girls. They were from the coun-
ties of Carroll, Johnson, and Marion. The relations and friends met
them at Carrollton, Arkansas, the place of destination, on the 15th
September, and took charge of those unfortunate children. They
enjoyed fine health during the time they were in my charge. In con-
sequence of protracted sickness which I have had, prevented me from
making out my report at an earlier day

I have the honor to be, most respectfully, your obedient servant,
Wm. C. MITCHELL,

A. B. GR ENWOOD, Esq.,
Comminioner Indian Affair8, Washington, D. C.

DUBUQUE, ARKANSAS, October 4, 1859.
Smi: Agreeably to your letter to me, stating to call upon Major

Whiting for the cooking utensils, together with the'tent and equippage,
MAjor Whiting wryte to Mr. Lee, wagon-master, to deliver to me all
the articles received from Mr. Jarvis, belonging to the government, of
the train that trans ported the survivors of the Mountain Meadow mas-*W.ae. M1r. Lee ad left the fort. I called upon Captain Van Pelt at
Fort Leavenworth. He sent a young man, and he delivered me a tent
and fixtures, together with a few cooking utensils. I wanted to give
my receipt to C(ptain Van Pelt for them, and he said they were not
worth rTOeiptingfor, I sold themlfor sixty-three dollars and forty
Centste which I have placed to the credit of the department. I employed
an additknonal wagn- and team for thirteen days-Mr. J. McDowney
I paid the rirsus from Utah and hold J. Forney's (superintendent of
Io1ian afhirt of Utah) obligation, which will be wen from these

Yours, miq* rrespefully
WM. C. MITCHELL,

Special Agent.
AR LB ( JzWO9J.), Eid2

(>J 0eUr sj In Chirp, Washinjton ity, D, C.
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DEPARTMENT OF TIHE INTERIOR,
Office Indian Ajaire, October 6, 1859.

SIR: Referring to' the letter to you fom this office of the 13th of
July, wherein you were advised that you had been selected to proceed
to Fort Leavenworth, for the purpose of taking charge of the children
who survived the " Mountain Meadow" massacre, and 'of restoring
them' to their friends and relatives, and to subsequent letters upon the
same subject, and fearing,,from the lapse of time that has occurred
since: the office heard of your departure from Leavenworth with the
children, that any report which you may have forwarded has miscarried,
I have to request 'that you will immediately upon reception of this
letter transmit a duplicate of such' report, or if; from any cause, you
have not forwarded a report, together with your accounts, that you
will lose no time in so ldding0,aas it is very important that all accounts
connected with the subject should'be adjusted.

Very respectfully,
0. E. MIX,

Acting Commumsioner.
WILLIAM 0. MITCHIELL, Esq.,

Dubuque, AMarion County, Arklansa8.

FORT LARAMIE, November 2, 1859.
DEAR SIR: I have with me John Calvin Sorel and Ambrose Miram

Taggit, the two boys belonging to the Mountain:Meadow children, who
were detained last summer, by request of Attorney General Wilson,
to give evidence in a trial against the perpetrators of the massacre.

General Wilson has since left the Territory, and, in my opinion,
there is but a slender prospect of even a court being held soon, within
a sufficiently reasonable distance to insure success, where the massacre
was committed, and where the guilty and witnesses are living. In
view of these considerations, I have deemed it most prudent to bring
the boys with me, and hope to get in safety to Fort Leavenworth in
eight or ten days after thls letter reaches you.
Your advice of the disposition of these children is respectfully 80-

licited. Both boys give a very interesting account of the massacre,
and, if it is 'desirable, I will bring them to Washington.
Ambrose Miram informs me that he has no near relations. I am,

consequently, anxious to take this boy into my family and do for him
is for a child.

I remain, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
J. FORNEY.

Hon. A. B. GRHENWOOD,
Cummiwioner Indian 4fair, Washington, D. C.
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[Telegrmph.)

OFFICE INDIAx AFFAIRS, November 30, 1859.
Bring the boys to Washington.

A. B. GREENWOOD,
Conlamisslione) .

J. FORNEY, Supt. Indian Affairs.
Care Smoot, Russell & Co., Leavenworth City, Kansas.

[Telegraph.]

OFFICE INDIAN AFFAIRS, Decemnber 2, 1852.
Bring the boys here.

A. B. GREENWOOD,
Comm issioner.

J. FORF.NEY Esq.,
,S'upt. Indian.Ajiairs, St. Louis, No.

FORT BRIDGER, UTAH,
December 4, 1859.

SiR3: In submitting an annual report of the condition of Indian
affairs in Utah, it will be presumed that my observations have been
limited to some particular tribe or tribes, or to certain geographical
boundaries, as others have been engaged in the service in this Territory
besides myself but the peculiar method of conducting this service in
this superintendency may justify a more general view of the subject.

o far as personal observations enable me to speak, there is less dis
content, lem destitution, and a greater disposition to good order than
I have known since the commencement of my official services in the
Territory. These observations, however, do not extend to those distant
bands in the western and extreme southern portions of the Territory,
consequently I can say nothing in regard to them upon better, authority
than that of rumor. It i4 consequently reported here that the Snake
Diggers of the Humboldt and Goose creek countries have spent the
seon, as usual, in murdering and robbing the emigrant trains en route
to Caifornia and Oregon. -

In my report ofSeptember, 1856, having spent a great portion of
the spring and summer seasons among them, I was enabled to treat
more at length of the bharater, condition, and state Of feeling of the
various tribes of these very(ldegraded people, to which I mu t refer you
for pArticularsi, a I presume their lelding characteristics have not
materially hAnnnged sine that time.
My attention f(ilriniggthe sfeaston has been directed more particularly

to the differ"tt fands of thle Utahs and Snakes proper, especially the
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former, with whomnI have lived; almost exc¢lusively since the first of
January last and devoted myself diligently in trying to induce them
to cultivated tile soil, and in endeavoring to instill into their benighted
minds a knowledge of the arts of peace.
With what degree of success these efforts have been attended, it is,

perhaps, impossible for me to speak at present. If, in any permanent
degree, their wandering foet have been diverted from the paths of those
natural or inborn national views, which point with so much certainty
to their final extermination, it is to the future that we must look for
its development. With a majority of the wild tribes it is useless t
expect anything like a permanent change in the present generation.
To the future, then, we must turn our anxious thoughts, and realize,
in anticipation, the rewards of the toilings and eare of the philanthropist.
IIn the spring of 1856, I established those Indian settlements for the
benefit of those bands of the Utah and Pah-vant Indians, who claim
the lands now occupied by the white settlements. At each of those
localities I have erected buildings suitable for the accommodation of a
few white laborers, and for the storing of the crops, farming imyle-
ments, &e., an(d assisted the chiefs arid principal men in buil(ring
suitable huts for themselves andfamilies
During tile present year a small band of very degraded Utahs,

known as the Sanpitches, have been located on the headwaters of
Sanpitch creek, and also a small band of Utahs and Piedes, uinder a
chief named Ammon, on Beaver creek, in Beaver county; the latter,
however, with but little trouble or expense, except to supply the chief
with a yoke of cattle to plow his land with.
For an estimate of the number of acres had under cultivation at each

of these; settlements this season, I must refer to my letter of the 30th
June, to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, a copy of which is here-
with transmitted.
No further improvements have been made since that time, and only

so much white labor has been employed as appeared indispensable to
assist the natives in maturing and harvesting their abundant crops,
an estimate of which is also transmitted herewith, together with a list
of the property at-each of these settlements, with an estimate of the
value of the same.
The amount of grain, vegetables, and forage produced at these set-

tlements this season, is deemed amply sufficient, not only to supply
the wants of those bands who have made permanent abodes thereon,
but also to furnish the means of subsistence temporarily for the more
pol)ulous bands outside of the white settlements, who are occasionally
reduced to the most extreme state of destitution, and whose annual
visits among the white inhabitants have hitherto been a source of great
trouble and expense. One of these pilgrimages was made into the
UJtah country this season, by those bands of tfi Utahs who claim the
extensive country east of the Wahsatch, mlountains as their home.

These straying creatures had evidently two objects in their visit, first,
to search forf food; ;second, to see if all they had heard of their brethren
in the valley having gon10 to work, and had plenty to eat, were true.
And though thoy: appeared agreeably surprised to witness with their
own eyes, at least its part, the truth of what they had heard, their visit
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was not by any means a pleasant one to myself, For it not only re-
tarded the progress of our work, by the renewal of vicious and evil
prajtises among the boys- about the farms, but their constant and
pressing importunities for the means of subsistence, with which it was
almost entirely impossible for me to supply them, as I had already
exhausted the appropriation for the fiscal year. It is due, however, to
the Mormon community to admit, that these wants were greatly miti-
gated by the liberal contributions of flour, and other articles of food
made under the direction of their Indian missionary enterprise, whose
agents were unusually active during the past season.
The plan of operating under this missionary system is quite peculiar

to Mormonism, and perhaps the most objectionable feature in it is their
inordinate desire to court the favor and alliance of the natives, to the
exclusion and prejudice of all other communities; and, yielding too
far to this disposition, not only tempt themselves with a violation of
the laws of the country, but actually tempt.the Indians to take advan-
tage of their positions, which they seem well to understand and appre-
ciate, and tax them with'a thousand annoyances that might otherwise
be alleviated. At one time during the season, I was inclined to think
that, with a little improvement, this system would be quite sufficient
to subsist the Indians without the necessity of any exertions on their
part whatever.

Unfortunately, these people have views peculiar to themselves, and
interests separate and distinct from all other comnimutnities, and which
are paranmount to all other considerations, even the laws of the country
not excepted; alnd these missionaries have objects to accomplish for
which they labor continually, regardless of costs, how far soever they
may fail of their attainment.

In confirmation of these assertions~a mass of testimony might be
adduced, but would pcrhaps be superfluous at present. The tone of
the accompanying letter, however, by one of those missionaries, is not
without somne significant upon this poimlt. Brigham Young has fre-
quently boasted of his power and influence among the Indians, and
the daring position that lhe now openly assumes towards the govern-
ment and people of the United States, renders argument unnecessary
to show the bearing of that ilnflul6ence. Many persons "who have passed
to and from California through Utah, will no doubt remember the
words, of caution which the Mormon people volunteer to offer them
after firstly inquiring what route they expect to take: "Look out I the
Indians are very bad on that road" Again: "If you aint careful
the Indians will clear you all lout before you get through l'
'There is a degree of significance in such expressions which I shall

endeavor to illustrate by the insertion of a few incidents, worthy of
more publicc notoriety.
About the 3d fof February last, two gentlemen, Jobn Peltro and

John Tobin, reached the DIndian farm, on Spanish Fork, in company
with several other persons, en route for California. Mr. Tobin had
recently apostatized from the church, and was leaving behind 'a young
wife. They had not left the farm till two other persons (Brigham
Young, jr., son of his excellency, and a young man named Taylor)
overtook them, and all remained over night at my house, and all
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Baddled their horses to leave at the same time the next morning. Mr.
Peltro and his party, however, started first, but in a familiar tone
asked Young and Taylor if they were going the same road. I heard
Young say,-in a low voice, "We will overtakleyou soon enough."
Soon after these parties left it was a common talk among the people

that the Indians were very hostile on the southern road, and, as if, to
forestall the facts, it was remarked, before Mr. Peltro and his party
had time to reach the southern settlements, that they had all been
killed by the Indians.
On the seventh day of March, it was reported by the mail carrier

that they had been attacked some time. in the latter part of February,
on fthe: VRio Santa Clara, by a band of the Piede Indians, who fired
upon them in the night while asleep, and robbed them of their prop-
erty. Tobin was severely wounded in the face, a ball entering his
cheek and passing out urder hisear on the opposite side. Two others
of the party wore, also wounded, but not so seriously. It is also re-
ported by the mail party, that their blankets were literally covered
with navy-sized pistol balls, and the Utah Indians are bold in assert-
ing that the Piedes had nothing to do with it; and this opinion is also
entertained by many white persons in the valley who dare not speak
out.
On the tenth day of September last, George W. Hancock, a

merchant in the town of Payson, came to the Indian settlements to
look at some fat cattle that I proposed selling, and in course of con-
versation, :said that he had learned that the California emigrants on
the southern route had got themselves into a very serious difficulty
with the Piedes, who had given them to understand that they could
not pass through their country, and on attempting to disregard this
injunction, found themselves surrounded by the Indians, and compelled
to seek shelter behind their wagons. He said he had learned these
facts from an express man, who passed his house that morning with 'a
message from the Indians to President Young, inquiring of him what
they must do with the Americans. The express man had been
allowed one hundred consecutive hours in which to perform the trip
of' nearly three hundred miles and return, which Mr. Hancock felt
confident he would do. On the day following, one of the Utah Indians,
who had been absent for some days gathering pine nuts, west of the
Sevier lake, returned, and said that the Mormons had killed al the
emigrants. He said he learned this news from a band of the Piedes,
but could not tell when the fight occurred, or how many had been
killed. One of the Utahs, named Spoods, came to the farm on the
morning of' the 14th, having traveled all night, and also confirmed the
report of' the difficulty between the emigrlants and the Piedes, but stated
that ahen his brother Ammon (chief, who lives in the Piede country,)
went to Iron county to persuade the:Piedes to leave the road, the bishop
told him that he had no business with the Piedes, and had better leave;
whereupon an altercationn arose between the bishop and the chief.
Spoods thought that the Piedes had been set upon the emigrants by

the Mormons.
It soon began to be talked among the employes at the farm that all

the emigrants on the southern road had teen killed by the Piede
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Indians, and thiereport was confirmed by several other persons who
visited the farm; but the Indians insisted that Mormons, and not
Indians, had killed the Americans.

This affair had become so much the subject of conversation, that, on
the 17th, I started an Indian boy, named Pete, who speaks the English
language quite fluently, with instructions to proceed to Iron county
on a secret route, and to learn from the Piedes if possible, and also
from the Utahs, what the nature of the difficulty was, and who were
the instigators of it. Ile returned on the 23d, and reported that he
only went to Ammon's village, in Beaver county, where he nmet a large
band of the Piedes, who had just returned from Iron county.
They acknowledged having participated in the massacre of the emi-

0grants, but said that the-Mormons persuaded them into it.Theymsaid
that about ten or eleven sleeps ago, John D. Lee came to this village,
and told them that Americans were very bad people, and:always made
a rule to kill Indians whenever they had a chance, He said, also,that
they had often killed the Mormons, who were friends to the Indians.
He then prevailed on tthem- to attack the emigrants, who were then
passing through the country, (about one, hundred in number,) and
promised them that ifthey were not strong enough to whip them, the
Mormons would hel) them. The Piede3 made the attack, but were
repulsed on three different occasions, whehiLee and the bishop of Cedar
City, with a number of Mormons, approached the camp of the emi-
grants, under pretext of trying to settle the difficulty, and with lying,
seductive overtures, succeeded in inducing the emigrants to laydown
their weapons of defense and admit them Sand their savage allies inside
of their breastworks, when-the work of destruction began, and, in the
language of the unsophisticated boy, " they cut all of their throats but
afew that started to run qOf, and the Pi'edes shot them.!" He also stated
that there were -some;fifteen or sixteen small children that were not
killed, and were in charge of' the bishop.
Lee and the bishop took all the stock, (over a thousand bead,) as

also a large amount of money. The' Moronin version of this affair is
that the Piedes went to the emigrant camp and asked for meat, and
they gave them beef with strychnine upon it, and that when Brigham
learned this, fact, he sent word back to them "to do with the Anericans
as they thought proper." But I have not yet been able to learn-that
the strynchnine had killed any of the Indians, or even: made them
sick.: A report also reached the Indian farm onSpanish Fork, about the
15th of' September, that the Snake Indians, under a chief named Little
Soldier, had attacked an eInmigrant, named Squires, from Missouri iwho
was camped near Ogden, and& driven off all his cattle, (over four hun-
dred,) together with alltlhe mules and horses belonging to him. But
the Utahs'made no hesitation in asserting- that the Mormons took the
stock themselves, and that they had learned all about it from some
Gosh-Utes who live in Rush valley.
In confirmation of the ,truth :of this report of the Utahs, I learned a

few daysagozfrom Ben Sinion,a Delaware'Indian,who lives with the
Snakes in Weaber valley',that sometime in the early'part of' Septemiber
Dirnie B. Huntington, (interpreter for Brigham Young,) and Bishop
West, of Ogden, came to the Snake village, and told the Indians that
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Brigham wanted them to run off the emigrants' cattle, and if they
would do -so they might lia'o AIeril as their own. Simon says the
Snake chiefs consulted him about the propriety of undertaking the
theft, and he advised them to have'nothing to do with the cattle, which
course they concluded to adopt, but: Huntington and West insisted on
their taking the stock; whereupon the chiefs told them that they did
not want it, and if the Mormonswanted it let them go and get it them-
selves, and so the' interview ended. Simon thinks that if any of the
Indianshad anything to do with it they were hired by the Mormons,
and says that he knows that the Mormons got the stock.

It may be objected by the incredulous that those charges are too
vague and uncertain, and deficient in point of names and dates; inl
answer to which I would say, that thecommission of these crimes need
no proof, there existence being generally admitted. The only ques.
tions to be determined are who instigated them? and whose testimony
is deserving the most credit-the Mormons or-the Indians? And under.
existing circumstances I am free to say that I prefer yielding my
credence to the more unsophisticated. Ihalve frequently been told by
the chiefs of the Utabs, that Brigham Young was trying to bribe them
to join in' rebellion against the United States by offering them guns,

allmmunition, and blankets, on condition that they would assist in
(o)p)osig the advance of the United States troops intothe Territory, and
hie has not onlymade these overtures byhis agents, but has at sundry
times made then in person. Howfar he may have succeeded in hi"
plots of treason, at the expense of the government, may not as yet be
fully known and understood, but one thing iscertain, that the more

powerful tribes of the Utahs and Snakeshave so far -resisted all the
allurements that havebeen offered them and kept themselves untram-
meled bythis unholy alliance, and I amproud to say that they mani-

fest no inclination wvhatever to participate in it.
And this fact has no doubt been a source of disappointment to this

exoqfjcio 8uperbietehlenlt of Indian. a/Ja:ra, aslhe persists in styling
himself, andinvoked uponmy head a series of persecutions, whichran
so. high, at one time, that the destructi-onof the Indian settlement ontheSpanish Fork (as I am credibly informed)was actually resolved
upon, alnd: nothing, perhaps, but thefear of open hostilitieswith thelIle

ians prevented themfrom executing theirresolution.
Believing thatI have maintained my position among them for the

last three or four months under circumn8tances of the most extreme
hazard tonly life, I determined on the27thd(ayof' September last to
try 'to make my escape, and seek protection with the army then en

routefor Utah, and for an account ofthoe particulars of that event I
must refer to my letter of the 24th:October to Colonel A. S. Johnston;
t copy ofwhichis8 also transmittedlherewith.
The policy which I(leelned advisable to pursue with the Indians in

this Territory, so farias theyhave been placed under my control,has
incurred heavier disbursements thantile appropriations by Congress
ould enable the Commissioner to liquidate, and consequently exposed

Inyself toth e reproach of' being regarded as an injudicious public
officer, and unworthy of the public trust.

Ex. Doc. 42 7
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But of this I have no disposition at present to complaint as I have
ever admitted the tenacity with which the ~&tdministrators of:the
government'adhere to rules of economy in disposing of the national
treasure. Neither have I any particular desire to assume reoponoibil-
ities, but the conviction that the service demands my utmost exertions
impressed itself upon, my mind with a force too powerful for me to
resist, consequently I have maintained this policy under circunmstan es
of the most extreme adversity) tand more recently, of danger to my
life; yet I am gratified to say that I now realize all that I could re
sonably have anticipated, and in the midst of rebelln and treaaon on
the part of the white population of Utah, I am able to present the
major portion of the poor natives with hands unspotted and uncon-
taminated by this cursed evil. Having realized in this~fact the con-
summation of my fondest hopes and only aim, I would respectfully
say, in conclusion, that I have personally no further inclination to
impose my services upon the country.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,
GARLAND HURT,

Indian Agent, Utah.
Dr. JACOB FORNEY,

Superintendent.

DEPARTMENT OF THIE INTERIOR,
Office Indian A.ffairs, December 7, 1859.

Siu: I have to inform you that your account for transporting fifteen
of the surviving children of the Mountain Meadow massacre,: fom
Leavenworth, Kansas Territory, to Oarrollton, Arkansas, transmitted
to this office, as per your letter of the 4th of' October last, hasbelen
examined and allowed, andbthis day referred to the Second Auditor'for
adjustment, and when settled the amount found to be due you will be
forwarded to you from the Treasury Department.

Very respectfully,,
A. 13. GREENWOOD,

Commission.
WM. C. MITCHELL, Esq.,

Dubuque, Arkansas.

[Telegraph.]

WAsHINGTON, December 10.
SIR: You will come on with the boys immediately, or send them, a8

there is an opportunity of sending them to Arkansas at a mall
expense, if brought at once.

Respectfully,
A. B. GREENWOOD,

comm s tonor.
Dr. JACOB\ FORNEY)

Kitztning, Armstrong County, Pennsylvania.
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DEPARTMENT OF TIlE INTERIOR,
Offiqe Indian Affairs, Deceinber 12,1859.

STIR; The Scretarv of the Interior has this day been requested to
cause to be remitted to you the sum of $142 63, balance found due in
the Settlement of your account.

Superintendent 'Forney has JuAt reached here with the two boys,
survivors of the Mountain Meadow massage, who were retained iin
Utah as witnesses; and I have availed of the presence of Major John
Henry, who will leave to-morrow for Arkansas, to take charge of these
boys as far as Fayetteville, and there turn them over to A, M. Wilson
Esq., United States attorney, who. has been requested to cause the boys
to be conveyed to Carrolltonand delivered to you, whence you will
repair and deliver them to their relationsl.

Very respectfully; your obedient servant,:
A. B. GREENWOOD,

Commfiasioerl
WILLIAM (. MITCHEsLEsq.,

Crooked Creek, Carroll County, Arkansas.

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR
Office Indian Affairs, December 13, 1859.

SIR: The two boys, survivors of the Mountain Meadow massacre
who were retained in Utah Territoiryas witnesses, reached this city
yesterday in charge of' Superintendent Forney, and I have determined,
as commlunicated to -you verbally some days since, to avail of your
contemplated return to Arkansas to take charge of these boys as far as
Fayetteville,: and there turn them over to A. M. Wilson, United
States attorney, who-has. been- requested to cause them to be conveyed
to Catrrolltott and delivered to W. 0. Mitchell, Esq., to be delivered to
their relations. Mr. Mitchell has also been written to on the subject
You willthe allowed ten cents per mile for each mile traveled, and

three dollars per day for any necessary detention on the rote, (the
per diem to commence with the 11th instant.) For the expenses of
the boys, you. will, when practicable, take vouchers, and when not
practicable to do so, your certificate on honor will be sufficient.

Mr. Lammond, disbursing agent of :the department, has been re-
quested to pay to you $150, for which you will be held accountable,
under appropriation, "For defraying the expenses of the recovery and
the restoration to their homes of the children- surviving::n the massacre
by Indians of the emigrant trains from Arkansas in'Athe fall of 185.
You will turn over to Mr. Wilson such sums as mnay be necessary to

pay theiexpenses of thle boys to Carro'llton, taking hIls receipt for the
amount, which will be a voucher in your account.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
A. B. GREENWOOD,

0: Mo~~~~~~~~~Cmrnisoner.Major JOuN HINRY,
OfArkansas, Prewent.
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C.

PROVO CITY, UTAH TERRITORYj
March 28, 1859.

SIR: On the 4th of' this month I had the honor :of addressing a
communication to you in regard to the Mountain Meadow massacre
which occurred in the southern j)art of this Territory in the month of
September, 1857.

Since writing that letter, I have had an opportllnlity in this city of
conversing with )persons who vere in that vicinity at the time of the
massacre; the affidavit of one of whom, Henry Higgins, arid the affi-
davit of fthe other, who is now with Dr. Forney, I will take upon his
return.
The statements of' these persons go to show that there were other

persons engaged in that massacre besides Indians, and these Other
l}er~sons, it is allege(d, were Mormons inhabiting that section of the
Territory.

I am now, and have been since my arrival in the Territory, endea-
voring to obtain all the reliable information I can in regard to the
massacre, and the parties said to have been engage(l in it; and( I shall
continue to do so until the inatter shall be brought to a pul)lic investi-
gation nan( trial.

Dr. Forney, the 8uperinten(lent of Ind(ian affairs, is now cii route
for that part of the Terlritory, an(l lie will, :On hlis return to Great
Salt Lake City, furnish ine with whatever information hie can gain
from Indians and others as I have requested of him.
The only information like evidence which I have been able to get,

so far, connecting the Indians, or Mormoins, or any other persons, With
the lmass4aore are the statements of the, persons above referred to. The
substance of the affidavit of Higgins is, that lhe was living at Cedar
City at the time; and one evening, sonic two or three days before the
massacre, he saw about two dozen armed men leave Cedar City, in
wagons and on horseback, in the direction of the Mountain:' Meadows.
The Mountain Meadows are about thirty-five miles in a south-westerly
direction'from;Cedar City. These men were abseit some three or four
days; but lie has no positive knowledge of wheir theywere. Shortly
after he heard of the massacre, which information hle obtained from
-Indians. He saw som:e cattle: and other property in the possession of
persons in Cedar City and Harmony, which he believed had belonged
to tlmleulmird(lered einigrants. He saw the emigrant train wheni itpassed
through Cedar City; but was at the time six or seven miles off, herding
cattle.

fThe United States district collrt for tlhc second judicial district Judge
Cradlebalugh presiding, met in Provo on the :8th instant; and the judge,
among other matters, made mention of the. Mountain Meadow massacre
as a matter for their investigation,; but the grand jury were discharged
on :the 21st instant, and their time having been fully occupied with
other murder :cases, they had no time to investigate the Mountain
Meadow massacre.
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The Mountain Meadows are 300 miles south from this place, and 350
miles from' Great Salt Lake City. In view of the great distance, and
the difficulty of getting:witnesses, I think that the best method of
promptly and efficiently investigating and trying this case would be for
a court to be held in that vicinity for that special purpose, or for a judge
to go down there, and, in the capacity of a committing magistrate,
make all the necessary preliminary investigations. I have thade these
suggestions to Judge Cradlebaugh, who is now acting as a committing
magistrate here in other cases, and he is also of opinion, and so ex-
pressed himself to me, that that is the proper course, to make the
investigations at the scene of the massacre, or as near there as prac-
ticable. :
In the meantime, I shall continue to collect all the facts I can on the

subject, and, if desired, I will transmit the same to your department,
or the substance thereof.-

I have the honor to be, very res'ectfully uyour obedient servant,
ALEXANDER WILSON,

United States Attorneyfor Utah Territorf.
Hon. JAcOB THOMPSON,

Secretary of the Interior, Wahintnyton City.

DEPARTMENT OF TI[E INTERIOR,
WDashingtor&, April 25, 1859.

SIR: In reply to your letter of the 4th ultimo I have to advise you
that'measures have been taken to return to their homes the children
who survived the massacre referred to through the Indian branch of
the public service.

In respect to the investigations which you propose, it is hoped that
you will exert yourself within the line of' your official duties to bring
the murderers to justice. The superintendent of Indian affairss Will
doubtless be able to furnish you with all the information that can be
obtained, and upon this it will be your duty to act.

I am, sir, &c.,
J. THOMPSON,

: ~~~~~~Secretary.
A. WIrsoN, Esq.,

U. S. Attorney, Great Salt Lake City, UtahZTerritory.

GREAT SALT LAKE CITY, UTAii TERRITORY,
March 4, 1859.

SIR: I have the honor of transmitting to you a statement concerning
the massacre of certain emigrants who were passing through this Ter-
ritory in the month of September, 1857l, for California. They were
mostly, if not all,'from the State of Arkansas, and were well provided
with stock, wagons, &c., to make permanent settlements in their pro-
posed new home.
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The massacre, it appears, is laid to the charge of' the Indians, Ito
whom, it is said, they became obnoxiouit? while passing through their
settlements in the southern part of this Territory. the first attack
was made on them on the 8th :of Septemiber, at which time a number
were killed and wounded. Shortly after,;' either oin that or the nextday, the emigrants made a corral with their wagons, which afforded
protection and enabled them: to keep at bay their enemies; but, owing
to the absence of water in the corral, they were soon reduced to great
distress and suffering..

After remaining in this condition for several days, being continually
surrounded by their enemies, and several having been killed 1in the
attempt to get water, it appears that an offer was made to spare their
lives and let then go on their journey if they would give up their
arms and property.

This proposition, it appears, was accepted because, for the want of
water, they were reduced to thle last cxtrenlity. But after they had
parted with their armns and were marching out of the corral they
were treacherously murdered, every living stoul, all cut off, save only
seventeen children, ranging from 3 t6 7 years of age, but who were
unable to tell their names or kindred. There were 119 killed. A
more cold-blooded butchery I have never heard of.
The massacre occurred on what is called the Mouintain Meadows,

about 300 miles south of Great Salt Lake City, and near the Santa
Clara road to'Calitornia, within the limits of this Territory.
Through the lhumane exertions of Dr. Forney, the superintendent

of Indian affairs, the children that were saved have. been recovered
from the Indians, and he has them in his charge, kindly cared for.

His excellency Governor Cumming and;Dr. Forneyhavebeen, ince
.their arrival in this Territory, diligently inquiring into the circum-
stances of this horrible massacre, with a view, if possible, to ascertain
the truth concerning it, anrd the cause which prompted as wellas the
parties engaged in it, but as yet they have beenunable to obtain any
clew, either satisfactory or of a kind to warrant proceedings of a pub-
lic nature.Dr. Forney, in the courseof his`official duties, will visit, ina few
days, the region of' country and the -place at whichthe massacre oc-
curred, andle will make everyeffort in hispower to ascertain the realfacts in the case. As yet, his inquiries as well as those of the gov-
ernor have been conducted with secrecy, as this is thought to be the
best and only method of securinlgc reliable information, or, at least, a
sufficient startingl)oint for public investigation.
A mystery seems to shroud this wholesale butchery; but I entertain

the hope that an avenging God will speedily bring to light the perpe-

trators
Mytobject in writing to you, as I have no doubt you have been

officially informed of the massacre from other sources previous to my
arrival in the Territory, is toask for instructions as to how I shall
proceed anrd whatJI shall do in thematter. It is such aterrible affair,
and its ramifications may involve such serious consequences, that I de
sire, if it is the wish'of thegovernmentthat I should in my official
capacity, investigate it,to proceed according to instructions fromyour
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department or from the proper source at Washington, should it be de-
termine(l not to come under your official cognizance.
May I respectfully ask for an early reply.
T have the honor to be, air, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

ALEXANDER WILSON,
U. S. Attorney for the Ter-rritory of Utah.

Hon.. JAcOB THOMPSONI
Secretary of the Interior, Waahihgton Caty.

41
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D.

List of papers from the office qfthe Commissioner of Indian, Afirs
relative to massacres in Utah subsequent to t/sat qf Mountain
MeadoWs.

1. Letter and accompanying papers om J. Forney, superintendent
&c.-,; to Commissioner A. B. Greenwood, -dated August 2, 1859.

2. Letter from J. Forney to Commissioner A. 13. Greenwood, August
10, 1859.

3. Letter and accompanying papers from F. Dodge to Commissioner
Greenwood, September 3, 1859.

4. Letter from Commissioner Greenwood to J. Forney, September 6,
1859.

5. Letter from Commissio'ner Greclwood to J. Forney, September 8,
1859.

6. Letter from Hon. D. R. Eckles to Honl. Secretary of the Interior,
September 23, 1859, with accompanying papers.

7. Extract from Sluperintendenit Forney's report of September 29,
1859.

8. Letter from: D. R. Eckles to Secretary of the Interior October 25,
1859, with accompanying papers.

9. Report of F. W. Lander, Superintendent, &c., to the Commissioner
of Indian Affairs, dated February 18, 1860.

SUPERINTEENDENT'SOFF1c, UTAH,
Great Salt Lake City, August 2, 1859.

Siu: Inclosed is a cop.) of a letter received yesterday evening,: in
relation to supposed. Indian depredations several hundred miles north
of this city, on the California road; also, a copy of my letter to his
excellence Governor Cummini, on the same subject.

I will leave in a- few hours for Box Elder and such other points as
may be deemed advisable.

I remain, Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
J. FORNEY,

:Suerintendent Indian Aflairs U. T.
Hon. A. B. GREENWOOD,

Commissioner of Indian Afaairs, Washtington, D. C.

BRIGHAM CITY, Box ELDER COUNTY, U. T.,
AugU8t 1, 1859.

DEAR SrR': :Agreeable to your request that I should inform you
whenever any movement of the Indians took place, of any importnce,
in this part of your superintendency, I wish to say to you that some
Indians came in yesterday from the north, with reports that some
whites had been murdered some 200 miles north of this, on the Cali-
fornia road. The reports were so vague and contradictory that at first
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I did not consider it worthy of credence; but having afterwards learned
that some Indians had in their possession some horses, mule", oxen,
and other property unusual forlthem to traffic in, trying to trade the
same to citizens in the suburbs of the city, I thought best to institute
an inquiry ill reference to the matter. I fear the report is too true,
though there is much contradiction in regard to the circumstances and
extent of the murder. One report is, that two Indians entered a camp
of emigrants to do some tradingg,and were killed by said emigrants.
The Indians then gathered their forces and revenged their death by
killing five men and two women belonging to said camp. Other
reports make the number of the whites killed more, and state other
causes for the massacre.

I send thlis by Mr. Nichols, bishop of this settlement who will give
you further particulars. I also send by him a daguerreotype, which
has been obtained from the Indians by one of our citizens and given
to me to send down to you It is stated by the Indians to belong to
some of the murdered party.

Yours, with much respect,
SAMUEL SMITH.

Dr. FORNEY, Superintendent Indian Affairs.

SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, UTAH,
Great Salt Lake City, August 2, 1859.

SIR: Inclosed is a copy of a letter just received. The bearer of the
letter gives additional information, which, with the letter, leaves
scarcely a doubt but that an emigrant train has been attacked, and a
portion or all murdered by Indians, supposed to be from the State of
Oregon. It is said the murder was committed near the Goose Creek
mountains.
A small military force should be sent north. I will go north

to-morrow.
I remain, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

J. FORNEY,
Superintendent Indian Affairs for Utah.

His Excellency A. CUMMING,
Governor of Utah.

SUPERINTENDENT'S OFFICE, UTAH,
Great Sal Lake City, August 10, 1859.

SIR: I returned yesterday morning from the North, where I men-
tioned I was- going in a letter to you by last mail, to ascertain the
correctness-of a supposed massacre near the Goose Creek mountains of
a California train. Otherl information and circumstances in addition
to that herewith inclosed leave no doubt inmy mind but that six men
and one woman were; killed and six men and two women wounded,
several of the men it is supposed mortally. This occurred 24th July
last in a cafion on Sublett's cut-off, fifteen miles from Raft river, in
Oregon, by Bannack Indians from Oregon, and from fifteen to twenty
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Shoshobnees, belonging to four bands in the northern part of this
Territoy. Those Sh1oshonee IndianO were evidenitl participants, as
they broughtt hlorses, mules, and cattle to the Indian encampment,
adjacent to Brigham "City, (sixty miles -north of this city,) where I was
last Satulrday:: l0landSund(lay. The: Indians also Iexlilited Colts re-
volvers, a few watches and jewelry, and gold coin. I was informedthattlhe settlers refused to purchase any of the, property. A very
small number of the many passing emigrants bought a very few arti-
ticles of those Indians,.it is said. The Indians evidently had spies out
who'' communicated my movements to their camp, which was suddenly
broken up''the day before my arrival at Brigham City.

The place where the massacre was committed is about 140 miles
fromthrat city, and the instance, and no apparent necessity, and so
much to do elsowhlere, pievented my visiting the spot. The wounded,
and those unhurt, and the property that was left, were taken in charge
by annfother train, and were proceeding to-wards California. It is too
true, I fbar, that two Indians were shot by the train in quiestioni. At
all events, this is the first train that lhas been in any manner molested
this season, so far as I can learn, notwithstanding a very large nu1m-
ber have passe(l over the roads-small and large companies, rich and
poor. I passed sixteen trains (lay before yesterday in twenty miles
travel.

Inclosed is a copy of a notice I have deerned it expedient to issue,
which will, I trust, 0soo cause the delivery up of the criminals. The
bands to Which the guilty: belong have gone north beyond the settle-
ments.
A company ovf ddragoons passedId through this city to-dayi for the

north, and may go in pursuit of the Indians.
Governor Culmming, on the 3d instant at my request, made, a requi-

sition on General Johnston, in command of' this department, for a
suitable command to effect the arrest of the parties supposed to have
been associated With the murderers':and robbers of' the :train above
alluded -to. In consequence of whicl requisition, a detachment of the
army:was ordered to march, with the distinct proviso, tlat the order
was given, not in consequence of the governor's requisition, but because
he had credible information that certain hostile actions had been com-
mitted by Indians, annd especially notifyingthe governor that his
requisition was disregarded,eexcept so far as it contained evidence of
the necessity of exercising military authority, which wol(l have had
equal force and authority had the information been derived from any
other credible source.

I do not consider it necessary to recapitulate, for the reason that it
must be evident to the departmentthat I cannot reasonably anticipatethet entire control of theIndians this widely-extended Territory
unless I can be sustained:0tby military power, obtained through the
governor, or some other official, to be indlicatedby the President.
My, remoteness from Washington, and the necessity for-promptaction in these matters, must be received as an apology for requesting

that orders may be issued,: clearly defining the dduties and obligations
of officers on the subjects above referredD to. In the meanwhile, during
the seeming discrepancy of orders, thet department may rest assured
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that I will endleavor to perform my duties in such manner as will con-
duce to the honor of thae governInent, and peace of tllis Territory.

I remain, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
J. FORNEY,

Superintendent Indcian A/fairs, Utah Territory.
Hon. A. 13. GRtEENWOOD,

Comnnissioner of Indian A4/fairs, FVashington, D. C.

NOTICE.

All persons, especially those residing ill or passing through the
northern portion of this Territory, are requested not to take or pur-
chase (unless with a view to return it to the owners) certain property
taken from a California enrigrant train by.Bannack Indi'ans of Oregon,
and Shoshonee In'dialns, of this Territory, such as horses, mules, and
cattle branded 8, pistols, jevelry, &c.

I especially caution, under the severest penalty of the law, persons
not to harbor, give, sell, take, or buy anythiingi, whatever from any
chief or from any of their men or squaws belonging to the three bands
of Indians roamninlg in the neighborhood of Willow Creek and Brigham
City settlements, and in Cache, Malad,: and Bear River valleys, and in
the northern portion of this Territory generally, until the twenty or
more Indians wvho took part in the recent massacre on Sublett'o cut-
off, July 24 last, are delivered uIp.

JACOB iFORNEY,
Superintendent Indian A/fairs.

OFFICE INDIAN AGENT,
carson Valley, U. P., September 3, 1859.

SEn: The two widows and four orlphans survivors of the late Inas-
sacre on Sublett's cut-off, arrived here yesterday, wounded, overwhelmed
in grief, and totallyfdestitatte of money, clothling,, and provisions, their
all and only dependence being lost in that deplorable affair; they are
from Howard county, Miosouri.

Ai)plication was made to this agency for assistance which was im-
mediately rendered, and nothing in my power will be left undone, to
ameliorate the: suffering' condition of these poor women and children.

Il have the honor to. inclose, for the information of the department,
a copy of a letter addressed to me; also a copy of a statement of that
indiscriminate massacre, made in the presence of Judge Cradlebaugh
and myself by persons, two of whom were on the spot, and the others
in the immediate vicinity at the time of the tragedy.

This emergency devolves on ine the responsibility of incurring some
additional expense, but, under the circumstances, I feel confident the
department will sustain me.
With great respect, your obedient servant,

F. DODGE,
Indian Agent.

Hon. A. B. GREENWOOD,
(JCoan. of Indian Affairs, Wash ngton, D. C.
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CARSON VALLEY, UTAHi TERRITORY,
SYeptember 2, 1859,

Srn: Wre, having taken into our charge arI(l brought thbs1 far the
widows and orphilans of the latemassacre oil thie Sublett's cut-off, at
considerable expelise, Mrs. Wright and her infant hildl being seriously
wounded are unable to proceed further, and all being totally destitute
we resJvectfully request that you take charge of- them, andi furnish scill
aid as may be in your power.

ANTON W. TJAD)ER, M. D.
JAMES R. SHEPHERD,
OSCAR F. D. FAIRBANKS,
GEORGE EVERETT.

Major F. D)oDGR, United States indian Agent.

CARSON VALLEY, UTAif TERRITORY,
September 2, 1859.

About six o'clock, p). mi., the 26th of July, when some men of a
small emigrant train, campedl at Cold Springs, on the Sublett's cut-off,
eighty miles from Salt Lake City, were at supper, a party of eight
Indians, armed with rifles, bows, and arrows, catne down and asked
for something to eat. Having obtained some bread, they started to a
hill where thle cattle: were herded by two meci. After saluting the
cattle-guards, and: passing them, olle of the Indians suddenly turned
his pony, lowering his rifle, shot one of the mlenl, Mr. Hall, through
the heart, killing him instantly. The other man fled to the camp.
The Indians were in the meantime running off nine head of'cattle and
two horses.
At the time of this depredationl there were only a small train of

emigrants pIresent, and some time afterwvards, at about nine o'clock,
the horse-train led by Mr. Ferguson Shepherd arrived. The night
passed on quietly, and in the morning Mr. Shepherd's train left at
seven o'clock, at the arrival of Mr. E. Skaggs.'s train.
At about hal{-past eight o'clock a party of Indians, twenty-five or

thirty in number, caine down over the hills from the Salt Lake road,
and'tried to run off the cattle grazing there. A man on cattle-guard,
in trying 'to drive down ithe herd, was wounded by a rifle ball in the
fleshy part of the thigh, and by two arrows, one in the wrist and the
other in the shoulder. The men at camp were armed hurriedly, and
met the Indians, and, exchanging shots with them, killed two and
wounded some eight or ten.
The Indians carried off, along vith their wounded an(l dead, some

twenty-one head of cattle.
The horse-train, which started ouit in thle morning under Mr. F.

Shepherd, was attacked in a cainloll, seven; miles from 'Cold Springs,
and, while doctoring a sick horse, Mr. Ferguson Shepbherd was shot
down. Almost at the same tire Mr. James D. Wright was danger-
ously wounded through the chest' and back. Bill IDiggs, Clayborn
F. Rains, anid Wim. Shepherd, were killed in rapid succession, the
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Indians firing from behind the bushes onl the ridges of the heights on
each side of the cailon.
About one o'clock two mnen, Janes Ward and Qxeo. Everett, arrived

on horseback, to the encampment at Cold Springs. Shortly after Geo.
W. Parson and J. McGuire arrived; an hour later Mr. James R.
Shepherd, wife, alnd infant, Mr. Townsend Wright, and Ignatius
Smith. came down to the campof Cmigrallts at the spring, Smith
being shot through the Muscular part of the right arm. Thoe rest of
the fugitives were. uninjured, though fired at by the( Indians.
At five o'clock, p. m,, the trains of Messrs. Fairbanks, Hereford

& Pierce, came along, and united with the trains already at Cold
Springs, and, after taking eyerry precaution to guard against surprise
the night passed without being interrupted by ally event of importance.
The next morning, at an eaily hour, the unite(l trains, to the

number ofi fifty-two wagons and two hundred men, started thronugl
the caion. No Indians were to be seen; but, at the place of the
inur(ler of the day previous, the bodies of FeIrguson, Win. Shepherd,
Wm. Diggs, and C. IRains,) were lying ill thle middle of the road,
covered with blood and,(lust,$ and bloated by the heat.
The wagons were turned froin thle road, the ground being covered

with feathers from bedding, and fragmlienlts of clothing. Under a

wagon, with a crippled babe i hear arms, laid Mrs. JamesWright,
wVith aseriouslyWOuIndin her back; and inside the wagon,half delirious
an(l exhausted by loss of blood, Mr. James Wrightl, mortally wounded.
The poorsufferers were attendedby a little onI five years of age, who
Supplied their feverish lips with water, and also brought to themn the
sorrowful news that aill their companions were either killed or had fled.

Mrs. Win. Shxephelrd, who was the last one to leave the place of
carnage, arrived thle evening before at the camni of refuge at Cold
Springs, but, previously weakened by attending asick husband,they
had to leave an infant of eight months in the bushes a few rods from
thle place of' disaster. The babe was found by the advance party in

th1e morning, an1ld, although severely:scorched by the sun, uninjured.
Mr. Jarlmes Wright and wife, together with thle four dead bodies,

were put onl board somewoyagolns of Geo. Mf. Pierce's train, and con-
veye(d eighteen miles further, where the woun(led were attended to
anil receive(l surgical aid. The fo1bur dead ones were buried in one
grave; and the next morning Mr. Oscar F.1). Fatirbanks generously
offeredhisllscariage to convey the wounded. It wans at spring carriage
better adapted than the wagon tocarry then along; and from thils
place toGcenoahe and his sister paid thegreatest attentions to the
colmhfort of thle sufferers.

9

Mr. Jamies Wright di( not survive but teln dais, and was decently
b)uried.

ANTONXW. TJAI)ER,:, M. D.
JAM11JE8R. SHEP'HERD.
OSCAR F.D. FAIRBANKS.
GEG.11JVERETT.
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GENOA, CARSON VALLEY) UTAH TERRITORY,:
September 2, 1859.

The foregoing statement was made and subscribed in our presence.
JNO. CRADLEBAUGH,

Judge Second Judici'al District.
F. DODGE,

United States lhdian Agent.

Dr. A. TV. Tjader's statement of condition of the Wounded now living.
Mrs. Wriglht had a rifle ball 'shot in her back while leaning forward

to button up the front part of the wagon. The ball entered half an
inch below the right kidney, and passed directly downwards, grazing
the sacral plexus of nerves, andf)ursuing its course downwards and ala,
and turning inward, lodged somewhere in one of the lower vertebra
or said bones. It could not be touched at a distance of twelve inches
from entrance, and, not seemingly causeing any discomfort, was allowed
to remain. She is now recovering slowly, since any amount of clotiling
being partly removed and partly discharged from the wound.
A little girl, daughter of Mrs. Wright, aged about eighteen months,

was taken up by the Indians and thrown against the rocks, whereby
her left thigh was broken in the miiiddle. The poor little thing was
partly deranged for somine time after so cruel a treatment. She is now
bodily anfll Mentally mending. The fracture is uniting, although. the
bone is slightly bent, the continuous traveling and want of space to
apply a proper' apparatus being the cause.
Another little girl, daughter of Ml's. Willian Shpherdl, who was

left in the bushes over night, was severely blistered all over neck and
legs by thle severe sun llheat, had her neck injured, and remained in a
pitiable plight for inore than at week afterwards. She is recovering,
although her neck is still very stiff'.
The sufferers are now in the hands of Major F. Dodge, United States

Indian agent,, who is assiduiotus II his en-deavors to render them all the
assistance in his power. They are furnished with comfortable quarters,
good nursing, clothing, and surgical aid'.:) ANTONTW. TJADER, M. U.
GENOA, (:AmLSON VALLEY, U. T.,

September 2, 1859.

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR,
qflice Indian Affair, September 6, 1859.

SIR: I have to acknowledge the receipt of your letter of tho:2d
ultiino, transmnitting a copy of a letter from Sanluel Smith, Esq., re-
porting an account of murders said to have been perpetrated by Indians

110



MASSACRE AT MOUNTAIN MEADOWS.

upon an emigrant train whilst passing the road which leads from
Brigham city to California; and also the receipt of a copy of your letter
addressed to Governor Gumming upon. the subject.

Very respectfully,
A. B GA. B3. GREENWOOD,

CoMmissioner.
J. FORNRY) Esq.,

Supt. Ind. .4fairs, Salt Lake City, Utah.

DEPARTMENT OF T1IE INTERIOR,
fflice Indian Affairs, September 8, 1859.

SilR: I have to acknowledge the receipt of' your letter of the 10th of
August last, reporting your return from the north, and also the sup-
posed massacre, near the Goose Creek mountains, of a California train
by Bannack and Shoshonee Indians.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
A. B. GREENWOOD,

Commissioner.
J. FORNiEy, Esq.,

Supt. Ind. Affairs', Salt Lake City., Utah Territory.

CAMP FLOYD, UTAH TERRITORY,
September 23, 1859.

SIR: I inclose to your address two affidavits in relation to one of the
recent massacres on the Fort Hall road from the States to Calitornia,
for your information.
Mv mind rests satisfied that these attacks-quite frequent of late-

on parties of emigrants, are planned and led on by white men. In.
the first train attacked :this season, on this road, there was a white
woman ravished by five men, and then shot by them; but she lived
until she was enabled to inform one of her party that they were all
white men. They had not taken the precaution to paint the whole
body.
You will see by the testimony of Nelson Miltimore, that the men

that attacked Miltimore's train, on the 31st of August last, spoke good
English to this witness, and to his comrade in iniquity. If we grant
that Indians may learn to speak it so as to deceive a person under such
circumstances, it would be very unnatural, indeed, for him to speak in
ou1r language to his fellow-highwayman, if he was an Indian, and that
fellow reply in the same language; but add to this the facts that some
of tbe party wore long beards, and one of them had light brown hair,
and the proof' is conclusive that they were whites in Indian disguise,
to any acquainted with the Indians in these mountains.

In relation to the affidavit of Suberr, permit me to say that he wag
an unwilling witness, and refused to make an affidavit until le was
compelled to do so. He stated to me the reason for refusing was a
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belief which he entertains, that if he did so the Mormons would assa-
sinate him. I apprehend he knew the man at Salt Lake City that
made the proposition' to hin to join this gang of outlaws. You will,
however, see by his affidavit, that there were some ddozen or more per-
solns at the mail station on Sweetwater, near the South Pass of the
mountains, and that from what he heard and saw there, he was led to
believe that mischief' waS intended to this train of Miltimore's. No
isuch number of persons belonged to this mail station, and I have re-
quested the agent of the mail company here to make inquiry about
who they ;vere, and liwhen and by what road they left.
On the 29th day of August another train was attacked, on the east

side of Fort Hall, leaving the party that made it about time to come
up with Miltimore's party, west of the fort, and I suspect they were
the same party, joined by a few Indians
These outrages seem to be systematically made in the State of' Ore-

gon, by persons in Utah.
You will also find inclosed the affidavit of 0. F. Bctz, of Iowa. It

discloses facts of, which we were previously advised by letters, and I
send it for information also. They are beautiful emblems of peace

I trust sir, that a few suggestions in relation to these Indian mas-
sacres, ast they are called, will not be regarlleld as offensive. The Snake
an(l Bannack Indians of' this region have no agent where one is much
needed. A general Indian war is, if possible, to be avoided, much as
certain persons here may desire it. if our troops attack all the Indians
they finad on this road, a general War would ensue. General Johnston
has but five companies of mounted men, and on this road alone there is
near a thousand miles to )rotectt. To protect eniigrants on this road
is therefore impracticable while the Indians tire allowed to remain on
it. Their agent should therefore be instructed to keep them off of tle
road, so as to justify the army in chastising such as are found onl the
road.
The road by this camp recently made by the army is more than three

hundred miles'the nearest, and mnulch thle best road from the States to
California, and the l)ublic would soon follow it, but for interestedly false
representations made to emigrants, an(l the fact that almost every train
that has passed has been robbed of their stock by Mormons, and some of
them almost in sight of our camp. Indeed, sir, travel is safe on no road
through these m11ou1ntains. By reference to a letter addressed to me
about a year since by Mi.. Vernon, then a high priest of the Mormon
church, a'ind now on file in the, State Department you will see that we
were forewarned of these troubles.
Should I receive further information that may be useful to your de-

partment:I will; forward it to you. In thle superintendent here I have
no confidence, and for that reason I send direct.

Your obedient servant,
]). R. ECKELS.

Hon. J. TJnOMPmON,
Secretary of the Intertor.

NoTE.-I also send you a copy (printed) of the report of Lieutenant
Gay of battle with the Indians who were of the party that ravished
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thle white woman alluded to above, that you may note the conduct of
his Mormon guide, and the place selected for defense by the Indians,
most likely whites made the selection.

UTAIH TERRITORY, Cedar county:
Lorenzo Sutberr, being duly sworn, states on oath that he traveled

fromn the States to the last crossing of the Sweetwater river, near the
South Pass of the Rocky mountains, withi:a company of emigrants
from Iowa, to California, consisting of Ed(award A. Miltimore and
family, with others, nineteen in all; that, soon after, Miltirnore's
party left him, taking the "Lander's road,," and, going by way of
Fort Hall, he heard a man, wvhosename is unknown to affiant, talking
to about a dozen other stran-gers, who were at the: mail station, and
s1aid), "A1int I glad that the pIrty" (meaning Miltimore's party)
"have taken that road." After this I could not understand what was
said by them, but the circumstances impressed me, at the time, with
thle belief that harm was intended to them. Afflant came on to Salt
lnake City, where he remained for a few days, and, being acquainted
somewhat with Mormonism, he induced the Mormons to believe that
le had come to the Territory to find a permanent home. While- there,
a Mormon, who has a heavy scar on the forehead, over the left eye, but
whose name lhe does not know, ififormed llim that there were about
one hundred and twelty-five or thirty-five Mormons and about 'three
hundred and fifty Indians out in Goose Creek valley, and that if lhe
(affiant) would () out there to them, he could make "a pile," mean-
ing a quantity of money, and intimated to him that the money was to
be made by robbing emigrant trains, in company with the parties
above mentioned. He has since seen a portion of Mr. Miltimore's
party here at Camp Floyd, who informed him that their )arty had
beein attacked and eight of them killed, about seventy-five miles before
reaching Goose Creek valley; anid further saith not.

LORENZA .SUBERR.
Sulbscribed and sworn to before me, September 19, 1859.

D. R. ECKELS,
Chief Justice of Supremn Court.

Nelson Miltimore, being duly sworn, states on oath that he belonged
to a party of emigrants going from the State of Iowa to the State of
California; that said party consisted of nineteen persons, viz: Edward
A. Miltimore, his witb Catharine, and nine children, of whom depo-
nent was one, Williaml Harrington and child, anlld whose wife is
affialnt's sister, Alfbrd Hil I an(l wire, AMyran Clinle, Nathan Titus,
Hiraiii Marsh, and Franklin Hubbard; that they started on the jour-
ney in May, 1859;'that they lartd(l company with Lorenzo Suberr at
them last crossing of SwYeotwator, aud wVent on the new road known as
"Captain Lander's wagon r(ad." About twetnty-five miles :vest of
Fort Hill this afflant was driving along the team in the rear wagon

Ex. Dcc, 42-8
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in 'the train, wlhen he saw three mnen-they were Indians, or white men
disguised as Indiians-on horseback, coming ip tawards tle train of
wagons, through the loose stock of the comllpany; that his brother
James was divling on after tllem, when tho Cattle took fright anid ran
off oil thfe h1ills at thle side of the road. When this took place, his
broth-er WVillianm, who was driving the wagoons and team next before
before witness, stopped his wagon to see what was the matter, when
affianltdr~ove on andl 1)aissed himl.; his f'atherwvas withthlewwagon of
William, walking along by its side; his mother an(l the small clil1dren
were in wagons. These three men were arined with guns, and coming
on up to the Wagons. Two of' theM rode u1)p to and were looking about
th(e wagons; thle other, who was thle largest mtn of the three, kept off
more from the Wagons. One of the two who were aIbout the wagons
said to this afliant, ''Where are you going?'" lie replied, I'To Cali-
fornia." "''No you are not,'' said he. "'Well,'' said afflant, "'we
started for there, anyllhv." We soon came: to where were two tracks
of the road, separating for 1a little way, when the maln that had spoken
to me rode Out onl one of' thelml a short distance, anld sai(l to h1is comn-
panion, :":Thie aro cno tracks goinig, this way." His companion rel)lied,
"Take the other road,"' which he d(id.
These men spoke good Englishll. There was no brogue on their

tongues; and firom hearing thlemn talk,: le would judge thoin to l)e White
men, 'while their:drtess and color denoted IIdi(ans, except that the one
that spoke to affiallt hadt light browvni hair, andl several of the,( party had
heard; one of thleml had longb heavy beard that he particularly noticed.
After passing along for a short distance, one of these three meIn gave
a whoop, when others soon commenced coming ill sight from each side
of thle road; affiant counted fifteen, and did nlot count all of' themn; he
supposes there were about twenty in all. As they approached, one of
the three got off of his horse and appeared to witness to be fixing tlh
girtht of hlis saddle, and( remounted again, but very soon81 dismounted
again on the side of hiis horse, opposite to where his lather was, wvalk-
ing by the side of the wagon, al, talking anil on thie shoulders of
his, horse, fired off his gun at father, but witness don't think the ball
struck him, when another of them fired, and his father fell. Our
party soon scattered, andieleven of us Made our escape. This affair
took place on the 31st day of' Auguiist last, near 'sundown. Three days
aftor this,e came pll) with a party of United States troops, under
command of' Lietenant Livingston, and0he sent a l)arty of nine persons
to aid others to escape, if they yet lived; when they returned they re-
ported that they had found five (lead bodies, and three are missing,
including his mother. His sister, about five years old, was found with
her legs and ears cut off, her eyes gouged out, and scaled. And fur-
ther saith not.

his
NELSON X MILTIMORE.

mark

Subscribed and sworn to before me, September 20, 1859.
D. R. ECKELS,

Chief Justice of Supreme Court.
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UTAH TERRITORY, Cedar County.'
Christopher F. Betz, being duly sworn upon his oath, states; that,

he resides ncar Fort Des Moines, in the State Of' Iowa, and camne to
tills Territory onl business this season; that during lst spring there'
was a Inan, about Whose nami1e h1e I'S not Positive, hit believes it was
JohnI1 Greene, a nopivew of Brighanm Young, who hired the stock-field.
Of this affiant for a few days for thae use of a large lot of w*ork-cattle'
theat he was purchasing to come1c across the plains; that while there,
said Greene showed himn bills of Iplrchlases, made by h'i for the Moimon
Church, to the amount of about a million of dollars; among the items
were tell piCCCs of artillery; that he refiscld to l)periit him to look over
all the items. lie stated the gpvernmhent was trying to break up
their church, (meaning the Morimon,) and they wanted these guns to
protect it and keel up their government; and there was also 150 or
200 Sharp's rifles ill these bills; anid further scaith not.

C. F. BETZ.

Subscribed and sworn to before ine, SOptember 26, 1859.
D. R. ECKELS,

Chief Justice of Sltp'renteUourt.

Box ELDER, UTAHi TEMRITORY,
AulgsCt 13, 1859.

Sil: I have tile honor to report that, having arrived yesterday within
six miles of this place, I went into cainp, and two houIfis afterwXards
liad reliable information that a large body of Indians were probably
encamped somewhere in the canlon leading from this valley to Cache
valley. I was informed, at the sarne time time, thlat within five or six
days past they had stolen a number of anim-als fromn this and the
adjoining settlements; and' that they were the saime l)artyT who hand
murdCered and robbed aI emigrant train on Sublett's cut-off.

I immediately resolved to attack themn At ten o'clock, 1). M., I
broke ulp camp, aLnd moved quietly to this village. Here I left my
wagons with a guard, and proceeded withfa command of forty-two
men, taking with inc four pack miles, with four (lay's rations, in order
to be prepared, if necessary, to pursue them in their mountains. By two
a. Mi., I had everything prepared for the march, and having procured a
guide, who professed to know the Indian encampment, entered the
canyon. After a rapid march of two hours, the encampment was
indicated by a number of ponies grazing, and in a moment afterwards
by the Indians jumping up from their beds under the bushes, and
running up the mountain sides, which were here covered with under-
growth. I immediately formed my men and charged upon the main
body of them; in the charge several of' the enemy were killed and
wounded.
They then scattered, and took positions behind rocks, &c. HIere

they were charged and driven up precipices, beyond the reach of men
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or horses. I then dismounted my men, and kept up a fire for at least
an hour and a half, which for an hour was briskly returned by the
enemy; but lie gradually ceased to flre. The precipitous nature of the
ground rendering it utterly impossible to pursue him, I drove off his
horses and returned. to this place., The attack commenced just before
the dawn, and continued until after sunrise.

I am satisfied tthat the encampment was sclec'ted with a view to
defense, and for this purpose telly probably could not have found a
more admirable place in the whole Wahsatch range of mountains. (It
is known as Devil's Gate cafion,) As soon0 as the Indians were dis-
covered, my Mornmon gui(le "slid" quietly from-1 his horse, and was
seen no more, until on my return near this town I overhauled him.
He was unable to give any satisfactory reason for his desertion. I have
since learned that lhe came into town during the action, and reported
"that 'we never would get olut of tbatplace." The horse lhe rode was
one I hladI furDnished him, and, strange to say, was found with an Indian
on his back; the latter was shot, and horse taken. If my guide had
desired to lead lle into a fatal ambuscade, lie could not liave taken ine
to a spot better adapted for the purpose.
The guide and many others estimatted the Indian force at from 150

to 200 warriors. The number killed was about twenty, as near as we
can calculate. I had no men killed, but four severely, though probably
not mortally, and two slightly, wounded. Nine of my horses were
wounded.
The number of horses taken was twenty, nearly half being Ameri-

can horses.
It is a source of great satisfaction to mc to know that one of the

horses captured proved to be one which tlle Indians had taken from the
train on Sublett's cut-off,'at thle time of the nmassacre of July. Prob-
ably more belonging to the same trlaill would have been captured had
Ilot the Indian animals stampeded during thed action, which could Iiot
be prevented, owing to the small guard which could be spared, from
the company for the purpose of securingproperty.

I am much indebted to Lieutenant Ryan for his services on this occa-
sion, whichwere performed with a masterly intrepidity and coolness
duringlthe whole action.

Assistant Surgeon J. Moore receives the heartfelt thanks of myself,
as well as the soldiers under my command, for his immediate and kind
attentions t the wounded on the field, during the action, and his con-
tinuialtpersonal attendance since.
The company behaved nobly on this occasion. I have the honor to

refer the general commanding to the list of wounded accompanying
the report.

It is rumored to-day that 200 Bannack Indians arrived in Cache
valley yesterday . These, with the number of Indians already there,
will:make probably about 500. A large emigration is near a point on
Bear river, twenty miles from this (Cache) valley. I shall wait here
long enough to care for my wolmn(led and recruit my horse , when I
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shall proceed to Bear river, in order to prevent the Indians from inter-
fering withE emigration.
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

VE.: GAY,
Second Lieut., Company G, Second Dragoons, Comd'g.

Major F. J. PORTER,
Ass't Adj't Geen't, Department of Utah.

Box ELDER, UTAH TERRITORY)
August 13, 1859.

Company G, Second Dragoons, i-List of men wounded in an action
with Indians in Devil's eal-on, near Box Elder, Utah Territory, on the
13th of' August, 1859:

First Sergeant Thomas J. Durnion, slightly.
Corporal R. F. Cordua, severely.
Bugler Henry Winterbower, severely.
Private Jacob Eggersteal, slightly.
Private Samuel Smith, severely.
Private Michael Tierney, severely.

E. GAY,
Second Lieut., Company C(, Second Dragoons, Comd'g.

Extract from Superintendent Forney's report of September 29, 1859.

NORTHERN DIFFICULTY.

On the 3d of August last I received a letter from a reliable person
in Box Elder, in the extreme northern part of the Territory, advising
me that an emigrant train had been attacked by Indians on Sublett's
cut-off, in Oregon; that the Indians had brought into the settlements
horses, mules, cattle, and other property, which they attempted to sell
to the inhabitants, but without success.
Upon the receipt of that information, I addressed a note to his

excellency, Governor Cumming, requesting that a military force be
dispatched without delay to that point, and proceeded myself immedi-
ately to Box Elder. Upon my arrival, I learned that the Indians had
fled with their stolen property, and had gone north-, through Cache
valley, towards Bear River lake. I was subsequently advised by his
excellence, the governor, that General Johnston, commander of this
department, had ordered a company of dragoons to repair to the north-
ern settlements. I have no information relative to the character of the
orders issued by General Johnston to the officer in command of this
detachment..

I was further advised by his excellency, that the general in com-
mand of this department had notified him that the military force had

M1
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been ordered north, not in consequence of his official nreqisition, but
as a matter ofpublic service, based utpon Whatt seemed to be reliable
information . I theref'ore inki rred thlt thle general in command( had
assumed the exclusive control of all Imhatters connected with thdse In(lian
outbreaks, and acted in virtue of his command of the army in this
Territory. Unlder the circumstances, I deemed it proper to returnl:to
this city, where my presence seemed more likely to promote the public
interest, than by remaining where my official authority, to say tho
least, wans consi(leredl questionable.
Soon after my return, I met Lieutenant Gay, who was in command

of the company of dragoons above alludedlto; who was4 then en roUlte
to the north. Our inIterview was entirely unofficial, he making no
report to me in relation to his orders.
Under the circumstances, however, I deemed it my duty to furnish

himl with every item, of' information that might facilitate. him in oper-
ating successfully against the hostile Indians. I have been informed
(unofficially) that Lieutenant Gay had a skirmish with aparty of Indians
near Box Elder.

This officer subsequently formed junction with M11ajor Lyndc, who,
in command of four companies of Utnited States troops, was on his
return march from the Humnboldt river and Goose Creek mountains.

Since that time, I have learned that another train has been attacked
and destroyed near Iarsh creek, in Oregon.

After inquiry on this subIject, I am in(luced to believe that the par-
ties ho have committed these outrages are renegaades from the Ban-
nacks of Oregon, and Shoshonees; depredations of a smilar character
have been committed by these oui;la,.s for many years.

I presum teperop)er department will consider it necessary to estab-
lish permanent 1)osts between Fort Hall and the Goose Creek mount-
ainns.
The Shoshonee Indians -of the Humboldt and the Goose Creek

mountains, and who claim a home in Utah Territory, have not com-
mittedl any depredations since my visit among them last Fall. It is
quite obvious to me that the Ba'nnack Indians of Oregon have insti-
gated all the northern difficulties; and that the Shoshonees of this
Territory are only performing a secondary part.

CAmP FLOyi), UTAII TERRITORY,
October 25, 1859.

Inelose*l, please findl the affidavits of Thomas Wright and
WVilliam JonfS, $s to the chCaracter of' the persons who perpetrate the
ma*xseres on thf Fort Ilall road from the States to Californla.
The party of' preten(lded Indifnssten by tliece afflants about the first

of &pt~ewber were, I resumem, tbe same that made the attack on
MtimnOre's trail, on tle 31At Aijgust, oni their return to the 8outh

With thie In1disil savage (oieo)tor ptlrincipal iriiducemonts to Murder
Is to pluwkrt, Jiorws and cAttle are tr)t prized; the first to ride and
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thle last for food'. Thoe cattle of Miltimore'm train was not disturbed.
Inl it thoero was a sort0el horse answering to theo descriptionof' tone
traded; ~y these j aited white m~n, to tho partly with whieh Wright
ln(l Jones Wore traveling. The general travel for this year: is over,

.and. nearly all thle troop have retuirnied to their quarter here, Next
season we may expect a renewal of' these outrages,. Nocountry in the
world is better suited to thle purpories of'banldits than this ; andt it will
give us trouble to rild the roads through these Mountains of them. A
party of' Delaware Indian sp)ie could K made very useful to the army
in breaking themull) anld giving aid to thel emigrants.

I am, sit', very res)ectfully, your obedient servant,
). it. ECKELJS.

lion. J. TH[O1M18PON,
Secretary of Interior, Washington) D. (C.

UJTnI TERRITORY, Cedar County, 86
Thom1s8 Wright and William Joncs make the following statement

under oath, viz: "We were traveling this season from the States to
Calif'orniti,in company with W iiam Bradbury and Louis Montando
-an(l others, twenty-one in all, ct the road known as Captain Lander's
wagon road, from the upper and last crossing of the Sweetwater river,
near the South. Pass of tho Rocky Mountains, until where it again in-
tersects the old Fort Ha11 road, in Oregon. About twenty-five miles
west of Fort Hall and east of the Goose Creek mountains, we found
four wagons which we have since been informed, and believe, belonged
to Miltinmore's train that was attacked on the 31st of August last. We
found there eight dead bodies; among the number were found an old
man andl a woman and a phild by her 'side. We also found a place W1here
we supposed two others had lain, but had been dragged away by wil(d
beasts. The dead .we found were torn and (lisfigured by wolves or
other wild animals. Some of' the contents of these wva(ons were taken
by men in our party. Two anrd a half or thrleC miilCs fom the wagons
we found twenty-nine head of horn cattle, Which we gathered together
an(l drove on here to Camnp Floyd, where we found tlle remnant of
the Miltimore party who claimed and have now thle-se cattle.
At several different I)laces on the road before we came to the last

crossing of Sweetwater, )crsons came to its an(l insisted that the
Lanider'k road was the nearest and best road to California, and that we
should travel it. We are now satisfied that these representations were
false, and intended to deceive emigrants nn(l get themn on it to be
lundelreld and robbed.
Oiln this road, between the, Sweetwater and where we toundl the

Miltimore Wagons, about the first of September last we saw a party of
f'rolli twenty to thirty persons either Indians or in the disguise of
Indlians. We then (andf yet) believed theni to be whites in disgui-1se.
Thtey caine to our camip in a evening fronm out of a niountaitn, and
traded with our party a tine Amierican horse for a rifle gin,,owder,
lead, and caps. 'Tlisliorse followed after our wagonls, anldwe\elieve,
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was the horse of some party that had been accustomed to that mode f
travel. He was a sorrel gelding with one white hind foot. Five or
six of these real or pretended Indians had long heavy beards,-and
three of them had yellow hair. We noticed none of them that had
the long coarse black heir of the Indian. This fact was spoken of by
one of our party in their hearing, and it produced quite a sensation
among them. These pretended Indians spoke our language well, a
well as any American speaks it; there was no brogue on their tongues,
and they talked it to one: awanotheras well as to us. They had some
mutton with them that they tried to: sell U for mountain sheep. They
knew the value of powder, lead, caps, and guns as well as we did, as
well as the cost of such things in the States. They also purchased
some things of our party and paid for them in American gold coin
After they had sold the horseiand received the pay in exchange, one
of their party jumped on the horse and attempted to make off with
him, but was caught by a man of our party and the horse taken, but
no violence was offered. They visited our camp both in the evening
and the morning; but some of those who came in the evening did not
return in the morning, but others who had not been:there before came
in place of them. There were: three women in the party that were not
dark enough for Indians; at best they could not be more than half-
breeds. Before reaching Miltimore's wagons we saw where at least
three trains had been burnt, and the wagon-irons left lying on the
ground.

THOMAS WRIGHT,
WILLIAM JONES.

Subscribed and sworn before me, October 21, 1859.
D. R. ECKELS,

Chief Justice Supreme Court, U. T.
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Report of F. W. Lander, Superintendentj db., to the Commi88ioner of
Indian Affair8,

WASHINGTON, Febrsary 18, 1860.
IrS: In pursuance of the letter ;of instructions of Acting Commis-

sioner Oharles E. Mix, of March 26, 1859, I have carried out the
specifcations therein embraced, visited the tribes enumerated, and have
the honor to report:

THE EASTERN SNAKRS.

On the 2d day of July, the principal payment was made to the
Eastern or Washikeek band of Snake Indians, at the crossing of Big
Sandy river, forty mileq west from the South Pass, in the presence of a
large number of'ermigrants, Subsequent payments were made to small
parties of this tribe as the expedition proceeded.
No instance is on record of the Eastern Snakes having committed

outrages upon -the whites. The presents were given as a reward for
their good behavior in the past, and as a payment for the destruction
of their root and herding grounds by the animals of the emigration.
They were requested to aid overland travelers by every means in

their power, to restore strayed and lost stock, and in case of any outrage
being committed upon them by emigrants, to refrain from reprise,
but report it, through their chief, to proper authorities. These points
were explained to them by excellent interpreters, were agreed to, and
have been implicitly regarded. The life ofan emigrant was saved by an
Indian at "Green river crossing, and great assistance rendered at the
same dangerous ford in passing trains, by the mounted warriors of the
tribe. Lost stock has been driven in, and, by a paper bearing over
nine thousand signatures, the emigrants state "that they have been
most kindly treated by the Indians."
At the payment, the emigrants were given to understand the object

of the disbursement of presents, and have treated the Indians with con-
sideration and respect.
The Eastern Snakes range from the waters of Wind river, or latitude

430 30' on the north, and from the South Pass to the- -headwaters of
the North Platte on the east, and to Bear river; near the mouth of
Smith's Fork, on the west. They extend south as far as Brown's
Hole, on Green river. Their principal subsistence is the roots and
seeds of the wild vegetables of the region they inhabit; the mountain
trout, with which all the streams of the country are abundantly sup-
plied; and wild game. The latter is now very scarce in the vicinity
of the new and old emigrant roads.
The immense herds of antelope I remember having seen along the

route of the 'new road, in 1854 and 1857, seem to have disappeared
These Indians visit the border ground between their own country and
the Crows and Blackfeet for the purpoSe of hunting elk, antelope, and
stray herds of buffalo.. When Zhese trips are made they travel only
in large bands, for fear of the Blackfeet and Orow.: _With the Pan-
nacks and parties of Salt Lake Diggers they often make still longer
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marches into flic., northwestorli buffiflo ranges on the hoadwators:of
tile Missouri, Mid Yellow S)totfe.

T11619c exctll,81-6 lis ustially last over Winter, file more W01storn. Indians
wh join them pasF-Ing over a'dikalleo, Of, twIolve hundred miles on the0
oitCalid rdtiira Journey.
They are at .1)oacc With the Flatbeads, hull'thig with ficin oil the

buffalo grounds. The t li t 6 o: d iscr ti A i 'tl killing ofY social, 0 1 v 11 0 11,111
ganio. The afitblope "surliound.41 in which tb 70 whole fribe often
engage-4,, are madly, at tltat,. season of the year wbon tile antelope is
heavy with ybung, or'llas tile fhwn by her side. I witnessed one Of
ti 0 8111111oftn( 113 Oil tile heaffivators of' Green: I Ivor in 1858. On
t 113 becasioll: tile: wholc. hord Of" antelope was 81aughtered indisel"I'mi-
at( a the 1)ri,1164)41.1.cllicf Of the 't r, 'I 1)0i"s h1alf Flat-D a.,I.. W siiikook, ).. 11

lie Ile obtained his poi)illarily 'in tile nation by various feats as a
warrior and, it i8llrged by Senate of' tile Illountai'lle'(11118 by his extreme,
severiky. This has, in one or two instances, eXtanded e-so f4r as takill9
I i fe. The word "Washikee" or "Washikeek" signifies et Gambler 8

(piGourd. " He was originally called na-qua-litt or 118111011-of-
tigar. "Push-4-can" or "Plir-Chi-can," another war chief bf the

I i F3 foIoil d tl r of a bloNv f tl ofSnakes, boars upon I I, ca. I(,, sea 0 io.U n ]la k
given by Washikee 'in one of these' .altorcattoiis. Wdshikee, who is
also known by tile term of 11 tile white man's friend was many years
ago in the einplo'41-lient of the American and Hudson's Bay fur'coin-

ios.. He was tho, constant coi-nl)anion of, thewhite trailers and
Iul)erior knowledge and acconiplishfileAts maybe attributed to' this

dHe is very light colored, rein'a'rkabl an Well formed even ma-

jostle in aplearanco, and, III my own opinion, An undeniable half-
breed. 110 is dcsIr61v4 of Visitin g-, Washifigt6n Hit] the 1.rihcipal war-
riOrS of his tribe, nevIer liavin(, been further cast thanIFort Laramie.

)rovI810118 0 118The policy ofinhkini, i r tl i it:i.13 evident, litany of tile
thereIwarlike ti-i'Ves' 711 Ilis and .ome of tile Eastern Snakes,
having- been .led to. believe thlit the, whites are ver Iy- oNy in number. I0
have not heard the'elliefs of tile more western tribes speak of fallen w
v I I Lieloisit,b -it thov would pi-6bably join in it., As rely instr- ti n did not
direct any such ailf.nge'inont I could only: inform then chief that I
would: make his wishes, known to tile, Great"Father.

f I've SYS lasWashikee expresses himself in avOr of' tile' rese total and I
count edi o ow bt tte on tb .bor-nanied a section of 'try near tile M cl II 13 1

derla'nds .of:]iis tribe,- as a suitable ing puplace for farm;' rPOS013.
should anticiii4to some difficulty at the present time in any endeavor

orn on it reserve: 11 th In. offerti ofto unite the East Snakes up I i ade e
seeds4n'd utensils. which were not well received.

Ves reI6e to herding,They express the Sol very favorably-4n refe
sfi. fined to habit of' discipline and self-den II lisand, might be re ra I 8 ial i tl

espec t1'were suitable agents a.pointeid to f'oside among i6m.
'They are a wandering tribe, and range at different seasons of the

year, as necessity calls ver the entire ie,,,i6n I have described.r

The Salt Lake D"iggpir's intermarry with the Eastern Snakes, and are
on good terms with them.
Anion these Indians are some :of the worst :in the mountains.
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Washikoe will not lpermit a horse thief or a vagabond to remnin in his
band, but many of the MQronIon' ldianis go about thle country with
I nl or fohjets calling themselves Easterhn Suakes.
O141SnMg, a chief somnetimes :SeIall Oil Green river, who proclaims

himself' an EaIstern Sn1ake, and friend of' thle Ame01rican1s1 but who is, I
aml informed, half Pannlack, is of this class. His character is very
(Ioubtf lt. Althollgh no actual proof' exists of his participation: in rob-
beries, le has bcei knosvn to J)erinit Jyoung inen to travel in his ban-
wvho have stvlonlhorses fromt ernimigralats. An instance of this sort has
occurreld the l)rSCent season, to Whiclh I 811sa1 refbr in my remnarks
111)01p thle pitannack tribe.
Southern Indians pass, onl their way '' to bliffalo," (i technical term,)

through the lalds of the Eastern Snakes and Pannacks, and the latter
aIre often mnade to bear thle blande of their horse-stealing )roclivities.
The Southern or Salt ,Lake Snakes or Diggers are,> as a class, more
civilhzedl than Washikee's band. Many ot thenll speak Englilsh ex-
ceedlingly well, and are very good farm laborers. They are the most
dangerouss Indians in the country, and if' they could be gathered on
reserves during thei)assage of the emigrttioll, where they can be made
to support themselves much more readily than the northern Indians,
it Would be a matter of' great benefit to the overlandl travel.
Any steps which could be taken to augment the power of Washikee,

who is pertbectly safe in his attachment to tile Americans and northern
mountaineers would also prove beneficial.
X depredation was commllitted in the Elstern Snake country, by Salt

Lake Diggers, on their way "to buffalo;") at fine ox being shot down,
owing to a quarrel, which grew out of a horse-trade with an emigrant,
named Amnberson Huff' Tihe man could not have gone on without
another ox, which was purchased for him out of tile funds of the wagon
road expedition, and charged to your bureau.
The Eastern Snakes speak the same language as the Camna1nches, and

often visit that warlike tribe.
Tilhie Southern Snakes or I)iggers have slightly (different )ronluncia-

tion for some words. Their language is called by mountaineers Digger
Snake.

Thle Westerin Snakes, who go about the country with the Pannacks,
talso use a slightly different pronunciationi from the Camanche or pure
Snake of the eastern mountains.

TIHIE BANNACKS OR 1PANNACKS.

Mr. C. C. Menshall, who received my instructions to pass in advance
of the main expedition to Salt Lake City, organize a party of Mormons,
load a train with flour for the main expedition, repair thle western end
of the inountain section of the new road, and thencee working towards
the eastern approach, join me on Salt river, first met the Pannacks near
Smoky caion, (so called.) They were in force, but treated' his party
with civility. Apprehensions had existed of difficulty with the Pan-
nacks, who had stolen horses near Camp Floyd, and were unsuccessfully
followed by the troops during last winter. Edward Williamson, who
brought the information from Mr. Menshall of the state of the new
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road and of Ili's arrivittf 'at Smoky cation, came express over twohundred
miles of distance entil-61), 4161io and without niolest4tion although
illectifig inlifill sniall parties ofthese Indian s.

made My first payment t( theill July 20 St it river.
oilb" fiventy lodgesw6re present, though oth6r.sfnall bands were

ft 0))
C Illet;

callin(y hiniself'a 1'rie d of, th 111or 8 hi f Of thI0 part11 0 1110118) wa 0 0 y, TIIey
rancre through Blackfoot valley, eviler(,, are large kainass root groull ds)
and fine opportunities lbr takiiia mountain trout. The latter are

caught And dried in lar 0 qlialltit.les Jor winter use. This hand goes9
to buffido," and will not. part with good buffalo horSes. Tlioir usual

route is throuzil tile pass at tile head of Marsh creek, a tributary of
tile Snake. T-he divide at flie )lead of Marsh creek 'is low, and they
can return during winter j sollieffilles they Come back by way of the
South Pass and Fort Bridger.- Sonle of' Mopea's band liang about
Cache valley, and anioll tile bad Indians known its flie (cache
Valle

0
&-tit La'ke Dig"ers. To tl latter and tile Western Snakes

may be attributed tile outrages recently Committed on tile overland
emigration.

31opeah's band May be hall to number forty-five lodges, or about
three hundred souls.. Tiley hilve large numbers of' liorseq. Tile evening
after the presell s Nvere distributed, a war party of about thirty Indians,
under this direction of Tash-e-pah, arrived.

TA811-B-PA11.

T&14h.e-pah or loans who is a noted horse-thief and Nvar chief, is
balf'Flathead, He is friendly to the Anier'ic',ans. I niet Iran in 1851)
when. he had just arrived from Oregon, with it band of hors(Is stolen
from tile Cayuses. Tash-c-pall left most of the di.9affected Pannacks'
at -Salmon Falls; but two.or t1irce accompanied him. A Ought diffl-
culty occurred with the latter. Tile train was ClIcamped in a Com-

manding position, overlooking tile Indian lodges, which were, pitched
along the valley near a small brook, fined with Willows. At about tile
time of changing the first7guard,some of tile disaffected Pannacks shot
from these, willows at tile .Clrlberfi of tile cainjI) fire whereas Walter
Briw.oe and mvself'were seats,(]. Two Olots were fired, one passing
very Hear Brisc(w- A blicket of water was dashed on the fire, and the
men were thi-ned olit witliblit noise. The herdilig horses were then led
into, tll(,, cricampment and tlie Mules surrounded to prevent a stallipede.
Tije fwses were, flien sad( led. Wbile, this was going..on, ranking With
Me fifteen .of-tlie most re-fiablO, Men 01' flie, title), experienced in inount-
Wn life!, I withered tile willowwand secured the Indiana between the
(Arnp (" Of" hill alld tile 11161fritain.

Tub-'e-pal) and Mopf"all, wine Ww(Ilral of' tit(,, older warriors remained
and on the me Irl ritl8i il it Kbout as the cliarged on Ilie

amboisby ifie), ("alieft out, iti 81jak(11) Jbi- at; not to sboot, at tile slurle tinle
killing, a fir(" Jr) tit(,- leidgem. Ili iny opinion, it would have beell
entirely-olit, of phux" t4-) flave killed tit(,, youlige itIiell whoirl WO Made
priwmerx, My rt!4w)fl fo1r, n(t doing's( Wag simply tile later Oat the
rtw,,l in tit rear (f tit(,* team was sit train titho (crowded With Hinall par-
hills of' k4ijiKrarlik, ment wmnerl) and eld1drMI, nearly of, tile-in unartned.



125MASSACRE AT MOUNTAIN MEADOWS.

The Pahnacks) although reported at Salmon Falls) might have been
ill force in the neighboring Molintaills.

Tile 'Very fact that Mo call had vkit4 me: With the women and chil-
en o ie 4ribe, and ro.glit with II i i a -largebar.,lf tl tI I 11 n of, valuable

buffalo Horses, wafj ConCliltfl'VO that 110 did not ifitend hostilities, I had
proved tile f.riondship of Tash-C-pall. (or Frencll.Lollis) yearf4 before

with one compan.i'6n, , I passed through Jiii' country from Oregon.
MoIpeall explained tile affair by saying that there were two young Merl
ill liiWband who were 11061s, and origin becallse- tbey )iad not recelived
blankets and presents with the refit of tile tribe. Tlicy arrived aft,er
tile payiilont. Several (f flieso Indians were, however, Held as host-
ages, and traveled with the train to Raft river. After receiving their
presents they were Isent otltAo brhi., in dic SaInion r' rty, They
wonld undoubtedly bave brougirt them 'If' we ]laid 11ot fallen in, at tile
designated rendezvolls, with Captain Wallen's coniniand, a military
lbree just arriVed from Oregoll.

T))e expedifioll halted ab6tit U week for the ]hornless, wheat flie pres-
enti, ilitended for thein were taken on to Califbrilia and sold to the
credit of the (leIpartnient.

Tile 11annacks are not h-reclailliably hotitile, They are well-tlkposed
to tile WIlites 1Alt tileir horse-9tealing proclivities prevent amicable
arrangenielits With then)) to become lasting) It, it is to be Made a
cities(,, of' war against title whole tribe, WaAikee told me that there
ivere a good Many young lilen calling tile Pazinficks Who would Tiot
acknowledge flloir' chiefis' authority. Ile also said that wbell the Pan-
nackii carrier,, froni buffido, tlie-se young nickel often stole Ilorses from tile
Snalceq) and lie did not go to war about it)-becatise tile, tribes inter-
illIarry tried are friends. Mopeali Haiti that the tribe, went to visit tile
soldiers at Fort, Bridger, to prove flicir frielld-ship, and did not get
pleficiltm. This enraged theme and tile), stole horses oil st-arting to
retain to their olvil coillitry. T)11,8 Ili tile thile, tiley were followed by
tile, troops. Malicious parties said by the Indians to be Mornions
told tile PannackH tilat the troops were coming agallist talent (Turing
tile suininer Ifind seeing tile f3oldlers they necessarily teftls.ed to come in.

I was informed by Ten-toi (Snake and Palinack) fl)at he would aid
ill punishing tiny hors(II-thief or inuf(le-rer, and that lie did not care
how 80011 tiley were ]lung) if flio leading friendly Indians of then
tribe were were it;. bi t if ade, indiscrinih ,tely, slid It'preset I war was Ill Ia is
relatives killed) )10 fillotild ))ave to figbt. Teli-toi .is tile fell of tile
'noted ohief and friend of' the NvIlites, "Old Bliollaparte, now (lead.
Ile, k not a eldef, but Ilas Verv wreat influeliCle with'the trilw, tried lilts
distiliguililled himself, ill ivariq with tile 13111ek1bet.

Ott,, expeditions of' tile ]Rst flireo 11(lars, and tile NVIlites g-ellerally,
all.(,. 1111(ler ob1hrlitions to t-11is line Indlitfi. lie has lit Inueli loss mid
expense field lit Home rosk to lihnself" several tiiiie,4 nmovered ,trillion
ht)rkes. Ho nerved flio live$ of, two Nez-Pv1-,,6 p111114011018 taken I)II tile
'Palinacks. Five of t-116 6118es lit-olell 148t Winter by Whites Nvere reeov-
ol-od an&l. t4o-ned 1) .01 o I Nili-t so, too, t o imik's taken froni flio Mor-
1110118. fle I'm dio Indiall lleftirr(ld to ill lily report. to the lioliorable
8. )f, 0i it ferior of last Dealt-. I pilt'selited little Nvitil: a fifth
Hawkins rifle 010 pm8wit selw(li
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While'on my way to Raft creek, intelligence arrived of the stealing
of' th1re1ehorl'ses at Salt river on the now road, by ffome Salt Lake Digfr-
gers, who wVero traveling witI " Old0 Snag.' This Indian I have
already named as of' doubtful character, They took the horses in an
easterly directionn, Ol their xvay to IIbuffalo." Two other horses were
stolen, And recovered. These, with the shooting of' an ox, already
reerrcd to, were thc only (dpredations committed on the newv road,
although reports h]avse beemin made to) the contrary. Tho Indians who
stole tIle horscs were of, tile Cacl1e valley band, an(l out of their own
country. At th¢e tino this ias d(lone I was two hundei(l miles in
a(lvance, tile emigriation having nearly all passe(l. If I had returned,
filfloWed the Indlian8s, an(l recoveredl the horses, I should nlot have been
able to mect the Paflnnacks at thlle Iroosed rn(lezvous My advance
party of thirteen men on uIflimoldlt river would have also been out of
p)rOVisiolS ; other circumstances l)reclmul(lctid y sen(ling l ack a party
aind awaiditing its return. I, theref'obre,placed the charge of thle recovery
Of, these three horses withi rhothnas Lavatti, ia vely reliable haflfbhreed
interp)etcr, and Teli.-toi. Thomlas Lavatti is ref'erred to in my letter to
Mr. Forney, suI)Crintendlenlt of' Idiali affairs, at Grcat Salt Lake City,
of August 16, 1859. -

Statements were taken fromtlheOemigrants losing the h1oses, andl the
papers forelward(ldedherevithl for yoir inspection an(I decisionn upon
tile mIerits Of' tie case. As tle mien wvere on their wlay to Califovuja,
they will probablyy nilnake application f{or p)ayllnet through somic mIli-
ber of Congress from1 that State.

If an cxl)elition goes Oult next Season, the commanding officer will
prol)al)ly receive the tnimls firomi Te-toi or Lavatti. They Nvill neces-
sarily be of no 11uSe to the emigrants, whoin imy opinion, are entitled
to paymen'lt if there is any law iinder which they canIreceive it.
Mr. William 11. West Was sent back to thle South Pass to inform

emigrants thiat bnad Indians were. on1 thle roadl, andi directt them. to look
ollt for their stock. He Was instructed to bring suich intelligence of
thle conduct of thle Indians As he minhilt be enabled to gather. Onl his
retlurn he passed over the route Of' the recent massacre at about the
time of their being committed. He escapedtile hostile bandit by night
travel. lie is entitled to honoranl)es mientioln fir daring aind successful
service, and for the exposure and hardship of' his trip. Thle journey
was made in addl e, ovter a dIistance of' six hundred miles, and at the
rate of sixty miles to the twenty-four hours. le traveled with a
single blanket, 1anll wais Without food f'or forty-eight hours at a time.

This massacre, thle murder of the Miltimore train, referred to in
Judge Eckels's letter to You, did not take place upon the neCv road, as
stated.
The following report of Auiguist 16, refers to it:

CAMP ON WE.ST BRANCH OF RAFT RIVER,
15 milesfrom City iRocks, August 16, 1859.

SiR: I have the honor to transmit to you the following important
informational regarding a transaction of' which you have already pro-
bably received soene intelligence.

126



MASSACRE AT MOUNTAIN MEADOWS.

An Indian lad, named No-e-io-kook, in English, " The Boy that
Runs Fast," about fourteen years of ago, belonging to Pocatara's band
of Western Snakes, came into my camp to-day, accompanied by two
other Indians of the same tribe, and informed ine of the massacre Of a
small I)arty of emigranlts,: about twenty miles east of the junction of
thoe Fort Hall and Hedspeth roads, on the west branch of Raft river,
The attacking party consisted of about thirty warriors of the Salt

Lake or Southern Snatke Inndians under the direction of a'chief named
Pag-e-ah, or ill English, "The man who carries the arrows." This
chief was the leader in the massacre. Two other principal men were
present, Olne naed Sow-wiclh, which, translated, means nearer than
anything else, "T'hle Steam from a cow's belly,' and another called
Ah-gutch, or, "The Salmon." There Nvere other Indians present
wholsoe names are Piah-win-poah 'or the "1Water goes in the path,"
PaLg-en-up, or, "Tlime mist after the rain," and Wall-mne-tuh-mah,
which hardly bears translation,
Four whito men wvere killed, one man and one woman wounded.

After the massacre, the Infdian party divided, a I)ortioni crossing the
imouintatin towards the Hu1nmboldt, but the larger number and thle two
chief's going back with thstolen )roperty towards Salt Lake City.
Thiey tire now said to be either at Ruisbh valley, a favorite hauilt of'
theirsl' in the Mormon settlements, or nearer the city. The boy brotight
to camp a blanket taken from the emigrants during the massacre, and
wVhichl was given himn by otie of tile murderers. He is much fright-
cne(l, having been present during my treaty last season with Poca-
talr'sA band. His idea was to colme in and gioe uip the blanket and
tell all lie knev of the matter Hie assures me that none of Pocatara's
baud were enCgalged in thOeaflir, which I have little reason to doubt,
as they have several times passe(l small parties of' unarmed men,
having valuable miles and horses in their possession, throllurgh their
country since the treaty of last ycar.

I finld it impossilblc to indluce, the boy to accompany the hearer,
Thoir1as Lnavatti, my interpreter, to tCh city. lie is morcafraid of the
Indians than of the white muen. I (10 In(t like to use force, as it might
prevent another discithsure of crime, l)y destroying the trust of' the
Idn(Iians of this vicinity in thelpropmriety of inakingr such facts known.
I sefi, therefore, the blanket and the Illele of' the boy, who is in pos-
sessioll of all tile facts, and can J)oint out the Indians (lesignated. Mr.
Lavatti is alsoperfectly conversant with all the facts of' this case, as
relate(l by thle boy.
The boy nmet some of the murderers necar Rlish valley on their return

from the fight, and they then told him they had stolen thirty cattle
and a number of' mules. Three lodges of' this same tribe, or Pag-e-ah's
band of Mormon Snakes, have been on the new road via Salt river
valley thepresent season on their way "to bulffalo" withi the party
of Ti-wani-doah or " Old Snag." They stole five horses from emnigrants,
two of which were recovered. Snag can point out the Indians who
stole these horses, and should be made to do so on their return home,
Ten-toi and other leading Indians of the Upper Snake and Pannack
tribes desire thesesdifficuilties ended, and will give all the aid in their
power to accomplish such a result. This can hardly take place, how-
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ever, until some of the worst of the Indians are punished The :Pan-
nacks are now quiet, I have met about forty lodges. The Xamass
Prairie and Fort Boise Pannacks have refused to come into the pay-
ment, being afraid of the troops, but have sent back three horses
stolen from the whites.

I commend to your notice Thomas Lavatti, who has accompanied
me among the Indians when it was impossible for me to obtain another
interpreter, and when my party had been deserted by every other
mountaineer from apprehensions of Indian troubles. Lavatti rides
express to bring the intelligence I transmit, and from the nature of it
will encounter much risk not only now, but hereafter.

It is my opinion that these marauding bands are stimulated by in-
habitants of Utah Territory to steal cattle, horses, and mules for their
(the whites) benefit. All my observations of the last and present
season favor this supposition, and I have no doubt that the stolen
property of this last mnassacre will be found in such hands as to fully
justify the Observation.

I have the honor to request that this letter may be laid before Gov-
ernor Cumming and General Johnson of the Utah army, and that a
copy of it be tranlolnitted to the honorable Secretary of tile Interior.
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

F. W. LANDER,
Superintendent, dc., cc.

Mr. FORNEY,
SuperinateclentIndian Affairs, Salt Lake City.

The very important papers addressed by Chief Justice Eckels to the
honorable Secretary of the Initerior in relation to these massacres, and
referred to your bureau, rendered necessary a review of this whole
subject. The Secretary, in fact, has1 especially required from ine an
explanation of the matter. Nor is this to be wondered at.

It nLiust be inferred by Judge Eckels's letter, that he believes emi-
grants were advised to take the new road that they might be robbed
by Ind&i.us or evil-minded white nien.
He also says: "The road by this camp i(Camp Floyd) recently made

by the army, is more tlan three hundred miles the nearest, and much
the best roadfrom the States to California, an(l the public would soon
follow it, but for -interestedly false representations made to emigrants."
Now this is wholly incorrect; the road is, by actual measurement,

only six miles nearer than 'the one built by me to Carson Valley, it is
actually longer to Honey lake, and it is declared by the officers who
surveyed it, and by General Johnston, a matter of doubt whether it
will ever be suitable fob a large ox-team emigration.

In the opinion of mountaineers it never can become an emigrant
road.
As to the interestedly false representations made to emigrants,"

Edmund LJ. Yates, Esq., expedition road agent at the South Pass wrote
to me: "On entering upon my duties I had the misfortune, as you
were duly informed, to meet with considerable annoyance from par-
ties, owners of ferries on the Salt Lake road, and Mormon agentsfaom
Salt Lake City."
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Your instructions to me of 6th of July, in reply to my complaint,
were as follows, viz:

"Respecting the traders of Green river and the Mormon agents, we
cannot do more than simply inform the enrigrants of the actual facts
in regard to our road. Let them choose which of the two roads they
care to travel, it is nothing to us; we comply and plainly obey iustruc-
tions from the department, therefore do not persuade any one to take
the road, although we know it to be best."
So far from being recommended to take it, it appears that emigrants

were recommended by designing parties not to take it, and that the
only persons who gave simple and reliable information about it, were
the officers of a government expedition, appointed under the direction'
of the honorable Secretary of the Interior. Is it to be supposed that
any member of my expedition would make resignedly false represen-
tations to emigrants? I4ut the following statement of the letter of
Judge Eckels is important, viz:
"You will, however, see by his (Suiberr's) affidavit that there were

some dozen or more persons at the mail station, on Sweetwater, near
the South Pass of the mountains, and that from what he heard and
seen there, he was led to believe that mischief was intended to this
train of Miltimore's. No such; number of persons belonged to this
mail station; and I have requested the agent of the mail company here
to make inquiry about who they were, and when and by what road
they left."
A party of Mormons, or citizens of the Mormon settlements, had a

blacksmith shop near Pacific Springs, ten miles from the South Pass,
on the Salt Lake road. They were often at the mail station, on the
opposite side of Sweetwater river, from Tim. Goodale's lodge, where
Yates resided. Some of them endeavored to prevent emigrants from
taking the new route, and may, perhaps, have been affiliated with the
parties who stimulated the Indians to murder and rob the emigrants
who did so. In fact, from their attempting to influence the emigra-
tion, a collision occurred between these parties and Goodale. During
last winter, one of the most reliable men of the expedition,.left at the
South Pass in charge of government property, was murdered at this
station, A very bitter feeling has been created among southern traders
by the turning of the emigration over the new road. The opportunity
is lost to them of purchasing, at low rates, the cattle disabled in cross-
ing the desert now avoided by the new road. The business of the
many ferries across Green river is also injured. Fully two thirds, Mr.
Yates says nine tenths, of the emigration went by the new road, but
on account :of the misstatements of the parties referred to, some of it
kept the old line of travel. Next year very few of the emigrants will
travel the old road, and many of the traders have moved their stations
to the new one.
The great freighting trains and the mails turn off at the South Pass,

but the emigrants, as a class, do not wish to go through Salt Lake
City, and have heretofore very generally avoided it by the winding
route of the old road along Sublett'S cut-off, Bear river, and the

Ex. Doe. 42-9
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Hedspeth and old :Fort Hall roads. Some small trains, generally in-
experienced travelers, sometimes pass through the~city, either to pur-
chase flour, or from: curiosity. The following statement, signed by
sixty" persons, explains their reasons-for disliking the route, VIZ:
"The undersigned, emigrant froml Iowa and other States to Cali-

fornia,: desire to state, for the benefit of those who may eemigrate here-
after, that they traveled the road leading by Salt Lake, and found it
very mountainous and rough, and most of the streams on said road
bridged and ferries established, over which exorbitant tolls were ex-
acted for the passage of trains and teams, and where there were no
bridges or ferries over the streams, the fords were not only difficult,
but dangerous. They would also state, for the benefit of those who
may emigrate hereafter, that they were compelled to pay from twenty-
five cents to five cents per head a.night for pasturage of their stock at
Salt Lake, and as far up as Bear river, a distance of' nearly one hundred
miles. That for about one hundred and twenty-five miles from the
South Pass, towards Salt Lake City, the country was nearly destitute
of grass, and might almost be called a barrexi waste, and the road
strewn with carcasses and bones of dead animals, lost the present and
past seasons, caused doubtless by the great scarcity of grass; and they
especially advise all future emigrants not to travel the Salt Lake
road."
Signed by John E. Movers an(l fifty-nine others.

The many editorials of leading papers of California in praise of the
new route, the proof that thirteen thousand (13,000) individuals passed
over it and signed papers in favor of' it the present season, and the
state4of the stock of the wagon road expedition, soldtat a large profit
to the department, after traveling upon it, are plain arguments as to
the importance of the route and of its future adoption by the emigration.
The peculiar manner in which this road has` been assailed in official

papers reaching your bureau has alone compelled a recapitulation of
these detailss, such as are not usually embraced in an Indian report.

How outrages ypon emigrants may be prevented, or the instigators of
them brought to justwe.

Reliable Indian agents should be appointed, who will reside with
the tribes owningg the country over which the new road passes. These
tribes: should be held responsible for its protection. The leading war-
riors have too much good sense to permit Indians from distant localities
to commit outrages upon it, if they are paid to guard it. I believe
these murders and robberies are caused by whites,4who purchase the
stolen property, and sometimes join the Indians in making their attacks
on trains. It would be a hardbthing to say that these are all Mormon
outrages, but the property stolen certainly often finds its way into the
upper Mormon settlements. Here the marauding bands are organized.
They winter about tile Cache and Rush valley settlements, are fed by
Mormon farmers during the winter, and are on good terms with them.
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But the population of theseupper settlements, as a class, are thrifty
and industrious, and, I believe, law-abiding citizens. On their way
to and from the Salmon river settlements, Mormons have often been
inurdered==1# Pannack Indians. Only last year 8omefmules were
stolen from a Mormon: train. The Salmon river settlements were
broken up by Pannacks. The statement made in the last annual
report of the honorable Secretary of War, that the Mormons are never
molested by the Indians, must therefore be regarded as grounded on
false intelligence. The presence of the agents residing with or accom-
panying the tribes would in titne prove who the instigators of these
inurders are, and whether Gentiles or Mormons, they could be brought
to justice. In almost all communities remote from centers of civiliza-
tion, especially in the Rocky mountains, are to bh found desperate
men, often fugitives from, justice,' and ready for any enormity. Some
of the murders and robberies conmmitte(l in this region were perpetrated
by Gentiles. I have goodrCUson to believe that Gentiles stimulated the
Pannacks and Snakes to attack Mormons and steal from them. I know
the names of two of a party of Gntile lhorse-thieves myself, but it
would interfere with proper inquiry into other outrages if I were to
mention them 1'n this public paper.
My suggestion in reference to the employment of agents to reside on

the emigrant roads requires this qualification. Men unacquainted with
Indian habits and inanners, or used only to settlement life, can be of
no service. They can in fact do great harmi, being liable tobe de-
ceived by designing individuals and led astray by false intelligence.
Properly chosen agents might have the power of arrest and the means
of arresting bad white men. They would be aided by the chiefC of0the
tribes in taking charge of bad Indians. They should be furnished
with enough transportation to enable them to l)ass backwards and for-
wards along the road duringg the emigration. I know nmanly men of
that country who can stand exposure, want no extra equipments, and on
the common IndialI ponies ot the Rocky mountains, can travel from
sixty to one hundred miles a day.' Such men go about the mountains
with a: single blanket antd rifle. TJey know the Indians of the various
tribes individually, and although many of them arc extremely bitter
against the Mormionis, I believe would try to (lo justice in official rela-
tions. The recommendation of the honorable Secretary of War's
report, that enlistment of frontier citizens should be made for the pur-
pose of protecting the emigrant routes is a very highly important
one as regards the roads Lhrough northern Utah. It has been my own
experience inimy years' travel in the interior, that although the officers
of the regular forces of that country, after any really hard experience
of rough mountain service, bear comparison with any leaders of troops,
and from their military education would certainly appear the best
fitted for this 'practice of their own profession, yet the rank and file
are not up to the mark required. They are mostly foreigners, recruited
in the large cities of the East, and do not shoot, ride, or bring to the
exposed rapid marcheA of Indian warfare that spirit and energy which
seems to be the inherent gift of our frontier population. One hundred
rangers from Oregon, and the same number from California, furnishing
their own horses, can probably protect the emigrant roads from those
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States to the head of the Humboldt and Fort Hall, on the two
roads most traveledl by the ox-team emigration. The southern line,
recently opened by Captain Simpnpson, is miore particidariy a mail than
an emigrant road. My own experience of overland mall contractors,
at least of the central route is,9 that they (lo not care to have either
soldiers or emrigrarants along their routes. rThe latter especially, with
their large herrdis of stock, destroy the grass and intertere with tho
travel of the mail.

I think that (langerouis portion of the upper or Northern Utah roads
lying between the head of the Humboldt and Sniake rivers and Green
River valley, should be patrolled(luring the em11igration by a mounted
force of one hundred rangers, which, broken into small l)arties, would
be susceptible, by keeping express communication olpen, of sudden
concentration at an named lpoint. Such a force could be raised in the
mountains. To (do efficient service, each of these men should be pro-
-videdl:with two horses, one of them, the better class of ponies of the
mountains, might cost from seventy-five to one hundred dollars, the
other, an acclimated American or lialf-breel horse, would be worth in
that country, under anyr demand, about two hun1(lrded dollarss.

If a force wvent up from the border to protect the roads of Northern
Utah, it s;hofuld start fromil the 15th to the 20th of April, taking forage
the first three hundred inles, and move withlmulles, the American horses
being led or (Iriven loose. Thje class of horses worth two hundred dollars
in the mountains, cost from one hundred and thirty-five to one hun-
(dred and sixty dollars on the border. Such a force as I describe would
rnot require practice on thle march, an(l could reach Green River valley
in forty-five lays, hauling all camp equipnments an( sixty (lays' rations.
It woul(l arrive ahead of the emigration. Here, in the country of the
friendly Snakes, an encaml)ment being made, the riding horses would,
withill ten days after their arrival, lbe fit for fast service.
By using the mules of the train for all common or ordinary tripe,

(in this case taking the place of ponies,) the horses would be kept in
such heart that a summer campaign against the Indians would be a
fully successfill one.

Before the sixty days hauld elapse(, an ox train from Salt Lake City
or Fosrt Laramie could arrive, With heavy freight of supplies and fat
b-feef cattle. Leaving the horses to winter in the mountains aam)ong
friendly Indiarst, the cxpe(dition coulld return in the fall. The pro-
grarnrrie ray be varie'l or irnprove(l upon, the sirnple i(lea beiig to
have efficiernt rangers, good shots, anrd riders mounted on a better cln.ss
of horseH than, aire. ridden by Inlia s, fresh, and fit for service, in the
Indian colurntry, at tlhe proper time to protect overlain(l emigrants.
The elAection (if scih horses as combine sJ)eed an(l th)e1 foirmn which en-
ables therm t keep in go(old order for work on mounmitain grass, is as
important.

The Irndiarns I have desWrihe(l ke p) runnrers out (luring the entire.!fHO)I, arVi, by short lcts over inolititairis riot often p)enetiated l)y
Whites, fhirrnih intelligence to (l1tilitat: bantdls oftit papiproach of' troops.
'I'Th(y are always ridiculitng thre attemrr)tk mailde to overtake them by tho
regular army. WhIl niot in foir(c to fight fit CXtre(rri A(d(s it their
fivor, they are icljIorn or never fould, where, thus followed. I thlink
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the old, reiterated report of army officers, on their return from such
Cex)editiofls, "that they saw no Indians," is proof enough of this; and
ly-only reason for these Isuggestions is that, if suitable agents and
presents sent into the country arc not deemed sufficient to protect the
road, a class of' troops filly capable of (doing so may be present.

THilE WESTE'RN SNARh, ORIOIUMBIOLDT RIVER INDIANS, AND SALT LAKE
DlGGEORS.

After leaving Raft river and the tribes along the nevw road, to which
my attention was )articuIlarly called by the instructions given. I made
fruitless en(leavors to find Pocatara's band. Thi1s chief, who last year
ha(d l)pr)misedl to meet mne near City Rocks when tlec grass was begin-
]ling to (dry, had been caAtured and 1put in irons by Major Lynd(les
party, while visiting his rmp1) thle present season Prior to the arrest
of' Pocatara, lhe had -visited Chief Enghineor Wagner's advance party,
an(l received presents. I am not able to say whether hi. warriors were
eilgaged in: the Miltiniore and Shepherd Masssacres or not. At the
tiele of Writilng imy letter of August 16) to Superintendent Forney, I
did not believe it, but I (li(l not then know that Pncatara had been
callught aind ironed. He is a very will and reckless chief, but I am notdisposed to altermy opinion of him until farther light is thrown on
these transactions.
He has great influence in thle country, and we might "better spare

a better man." Pocatara's bandl could have robbed Mr. Wagner's
party of their valuableoutfit, or havemolested his pprogress ifhe had
b)een so disposed. In my wagon road report to the honorable Sezre-tary of the Interior, of last year, I said: "The Western Shoshonees,
terined by mountaineers the Sho-sho-kos, hold the countrywest of the
Pannacks, on the road to California. They are a verY dangerous and
warlike tribe. It is a well-known fact that the Western ShoshoneeIs
Of Hunmboldt River and Goose Creek mountains, have sometimesvon-
tui'ed to attack an equal number of overland emliigrants. They fight
wvitl thelutinost determination, and with the advantages which Indlians
inevitably procuire in assailing whites, have often been successful ill
the(lestruction of'Small partiesof our overlande(inigrralnts.

''They generally assail thaeni froll, thle willows of, HulmItboldt River
valley. When I heard that these Indianns had. broken into hostilities,
ha(l stoppe(l the United Statesmail, and Ikilled1;sen1e of thle. emigrants,vilo were, ill sm11all )arties, endeavoring to reach California fronm Salt
Lake City, I thought it proper tovisit thenm, takingwithme 'SIhoshl
iiemo Alck,' the interpreter;my elgineers, Messrs. XWagner, Long, land
Poor, Mr. Caimpbell,a1nd the mouta1ineers, Justuis (Gabriel, nd wi-
lialimso)n1, onilly way,I l)rocure(l tho services of't leading warrior6o
thle Pantlack tribe, and by h1is kindnesstilnd disc-retiollnI was OblCe(l
first toob)tarin ill interview with tenl warriors,atn outlyinglpartw of'the
banld of' Pocatara, or thle, 'White Plume.'

The lenidor ofthos ton warriors toll thaiotholie w(uld viit Poca-
till-I'a callip in tlhe mo1unfithin)s, but; thart the chiet"s heart wasbawd, and
that1 be woulld not|istfol totoo twvord from thle vhit(s. I sent' by
this Inesshegoer a IMw HMall presents to .'Pcmturn, iu'itinhllim)a to
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come to Ino arid have a talk. He came with fifty-,,ve mounted war-

riors, arid treated me laid my small party with the Utmost respect and
consideration.

I have to O466 6n record before your 46partment theAimpl 0 f4of that
this young chief, kliowii to be holktile to tile whites, treated me with an
attention Which I have seldoin Icilow nialliftisted by the wild tribes of
the in:terior, whoill. I leave repeatedly 1116c, floor,, the very fact that 1: had
thrown niPself 11 11, and kindness with it all escort or

tilelargelaniount of percent, with. full filter ill tile better attributes of
Indian nature. He said to Ille, his tribe liad received what he

terilledAn the Indian language so far as I reach the interpretation,
'assaults of ignominy' tile white emigrants on their way to
California; that one of hi's prificipal Their had '1118 Isquaw and his chi'l-
dren killed by tile eillizi-ants quito recently; that tile Ilearts of' his
people were very bad adjust the N'Vllltes:- that there Were some things
that lie could riot inductee, find among talent were the NO thoughts of
his young 111011 toi.ards tile Whites Oil account of tlic deeds of the
.%votes towards his tribe, Mally of the relatives of his young men had
beeii killed, arid notili'llff but flic death of white Mon colild (,it lie for
tills; nevertheless, I had collie to him like a mail) and lie would meet
me like a nian; that bis fatlier, I Big-uni referringg to Brighaill
YOUTI Of the elation had sent t him many .presonts,
but he icliew f'or all that', treat there was a greater, man than. Big-11m
the Great Fatlier Of flic AV111tes, before Whom 13'..-um was its a little
finger to the whole liand, and union fi-ighton(A. Big-11111) with all his

i rs had riiii away towardswarrior I 0 8 ufh4hen the blue caps, or sol-
diers tile boards of:tll(3 AVInto Ftindoor, clinic in sight; tlierefore he.

IV,knew arid respected tile, power of tile 11' c Father and that who'never
he should feel certain that tlic White Father would treat Om as well
as Big-um did, then lie would be tile kindes riend to the Americans
that they. had ever-knownI. I told ]Jim t1l.Jab if after tile: conclusion of
the present year, I heard goo&accot'ihts4 him arid his p6lolile) 1 would
endeavor to bring to him full. proof of' tile Iestimation of' the Great
Fatber Of tile Wilit6 when I carrier, to see ]Iiin the, succeeding season.

The wliol(11- c6ni A'tlds statement in reference to tile Western
Sho-sho-kos or )Snakes is that either out of a portion ofthe wagon road

11 f Conan oil the t, ntappr pria b IC I t,),or y tl c Ion o Lss or fr 1 con ingre
fund, as in ),our view most, .,xpedient, a suin of money should be
delivered to tbc..purcliase of pres6ritsJo be doniited to the-Se Indians on

My goink into their coahtry, tbat 1 inay once more visit them and
bring liu'inelo their uncultIN711ted, but Stern and true, thirtieth hiinds
tile flict fliat tile, disposition of t1lis governIMont is not to op.prdss or
harass theme but to gain, their confidence arid will their friendship
towards fliat nomadic population NVIlieli niust inevitably pass through

h.)Itheir tribes, oil it's way to Califbinia, arid Oregoi
14A subsequent Dote I contained Io renhark: 11 I learit with great

solicitude front the letter of' a, corresPrident in Salt Lake City that
difficulty is ap )IIellerided '", ith flie- Goose Creek or western band of
Slioslionces. 1111jese Indiarm are riot under the direction of Wasliikec,
11rhe leadirig aicA ani(ligst thein leaves it 'e I f )line. They are
more properly refined the Sho-sho-ko or Agger Indians They are
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mhe Indians visited by meo with a small party. They were visited after
tleir attack: upon trains and after robbing the mails. Their good faith
and kindness were manifested by the first tribe or band (Pocatara's)
sending runners the whole length of Humboldt valley, a distancee of
400 miles, in order that thirteenl of my men, unprotected and imper-
f-ectly armed, might onl their arrival be passed through the various
bands of thiis tribe in safety to Honey Lake valley, the country of the
Western Utes.
Now that the Mormnon war is over, and tlzis new road is constructed,

saving the emigration the tolls of thle- ferries and bridges, and the pas-
Bage of the alkali plains, withl their deleterious waters, the South Pass
route will be thronged as it always h1as been by emigrants seeking a
passage to California 'and Oregon. Should any difficulty occur wlth
these In(lians, wiho can easily be held in check or managed by the dis-
bursement of a few thousniid dollars' worth of presents-any difficulty
from the Mismanagement of agents who are not disposed to take therisk of going among themwithsmall parties,meeting themat their
own camp-fires, smoking their pipe of peace with them, and gaining
their confidence; or by militarymen acting un(ler false impressions
gained from thosewho are sometimes disposed:to create Indian wars

for the Purposes of speculation-I shall feel thatthe exposure, immedi-
ately after these outrageswere reported to me, of my own life and the
lives of the few excellentmnen Who accompanied me in my visit tothis
tribelhas been a foolish and useless risk. I made these Indians some

f'ew presents, all that I had at that time, as tokensof good will. They
Made me presents in return of equal value. I cannot but believe,
should information reach your department conflictingwith the views
which I have exj)ressed, that there is sonme misunderstanding which
canrea(lily be adjusted; and I offer my services in. any direction which
you may think it proper to order me

on my return tothe mountains,
to prevent difficulties between the white men anrd the Indians on the
emigrant route.'
Again itnmtust be reniembered that the boy who withhis two rela-

tivescame, to my camp and told me Iofthem assacreofthe iltiniore
and Shepherd trains, had no reason for doing so, or for taking this risk
so soon after the outrage was committe(l.

These three Indians Were all of Pocatara's band; they gave me the
names of the urderers and the elder of' the two mien accompanied
Lavatti toSalt Lake City alone. It wassin y view entirely outof
place to conllfine this Indian as was done by the military commandant
onlisarrival with Lavatti.

Pocatala, whenill colnfinement, was visite(l by James Duckworth,
olneof'Mcnshall's party, ano0(l friend and member of' the wagon road
exl)edition. Pocatara, who speakssomel words of English,reflmsed to
reo gnizeD)uckworth,0o1 hold any communication withhim1. It ustsee'm evident that the whites Who are to act betweenthese wild tribes
and(emigrantsshouldpo)SCess full knowledge of'the Indian charactr.
They aire extremely jealous and suspicious to the last (egree; perfect

frankness and trust series their confidence,If agentsaie appointed
ho fear to trust them, and(dare not travel ainong them withoutlarge

escorts, Ililt of theojlinion that complicationswll ensue ore serious
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than have yet arisen along the emigrant routes. In this connection
theinteresting report of Mr. Wagner herewith submitted,who went
in advance of the emigration, in fact was alone in the Indian country,
with a party of twelve men, during the spring and easily summer, is
important.
As I was detained repairing the new road, and did not arrive in

2Pocatara's country until late, and after lie was arrested, and the
troops were then in the vicinity, (a contingency not foreseen in making
my report of last year,) I trust that thisexplanation will be: satisfac-
tory. In fact wehad neither the transpIortation, the authority, or the
time to control the Indians of the whole emigrant road. In several
instances I was unable to meot and confer with the Indians because of
thispresence of'troops.

I think the agents should either have some voice in the movementof
troops in that country, or the officers of the troops should be the agents.
Ihad no power, for instance, to request Captain Wallen's command to
march out of Raft River valley, that I might call in the Pannacks,
and had no authority or transportation to scour themountains or hunt
up the band of white men who, I am convinced, instigate these hos-
tilities.

If' the rangers were raised as recommended by the honorable Sec-
retary of War, and officered by gentlemen of the army of long experi-
ence in interior life, those especially noted for energy and success, I do
not know why they would not be suitable agents

After leavinggi the country of Pocatara's band,: we saw but few
Indians. Thed 25th of August, an emigrant guarding a band of cat-
tle near the willows of the Humboldt, saw an Indian, as he believed,
endeavoring to drive away and secrete an ox. He shot at and wounded
the Indian, who, escaped.

I was not advised of this circumstance, or should have sent an ex-
pressto warrn the emigrants: that they would be attacked. The day

after it occurredwe reached the same point oIn the river, and aswe
were about making camp for the night,,lheard firing in advance.
Leaving the train in charge of John C. Burche, disbursing agent, I
mounted four men on thle few horses of the train suitable for such ser-
vice, an(l went on as fast as possible. We caught up with the emi-
grants, a small tfiain, not apprised of the collision of the day before,
just as the Indians had: retired after killing one and severely wounding
another man. The dead emigrant was lying on the ground, shot
through the body, and stripped of, clothing, but not scalped.
The wounded man had made his escape. The party to which they

belonged were three miles ahead, having joined another train, and
gone into camp in a secure position. It was at this tine quite dark.
The Indians, about fifteen in nimber, were followed, but, taking to
the willows in the darkness, made their escape. This would not have
occurred,; at least without punishineint) if I had felt justified in setting
fire to the willows. The grass was dry, and the road back thronged
with emigrants, which preventedit. When the train arrived, the
body of the (dead man was taken to his relatives.
The morning after, with a party of five men, I took the trail. We

followed a long distance and until fires raised on the surrounding
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mountains showed us that the Indians had obtained too great a-start
to permit of our overtaking them without halting the expedition several
days. Dr. John W. Stittinus, physician of the train, took charge of
the wounded man, who eventually recovered.

Schedule of the number of the various bands referre(l to in ths report,
or visiting the emigrant roads via the South Pass.

I lhave estimated seven individuals to the lodge. This is a larger
number than is usual in a buffalo country, where the skin lodge is
less costly tllhLn among the Snakes.

SJIOSIIDNEES OR EASTERN SNAKES.

Chief, Wash-i-kee orWash-i-keek; in English, "Gambler's Gourd;"
or Pina-qua-na; in English, "Smell of Sugar." Lodges, 125; sub-
sistence, buffalo, small game, fish, wild roots, and secds; range, Green
river countrY; horses, a large number.

SALMON RIVER SNAKES, JBANNACKS AND SNAKES AND SHEEP-EATERS.

Chief, Qui-tan-i-wa; in English, "Foul Hand,"' with "Old Snag;"
anid the Bannack " Grand Coquin." Lodges, 50; subsistence, salmon
and trout, elk, deer, and antelope; range, OIl Salmon river and the
moun11talins north of it; horses, a small number. A small band of the
Sheep-eaters are very fierce and wild, rarely visiting whites.

WESTERN SNAKFS.
Chief, Am-a-ro-ko; in English, "Buffalo Meat under the Sholulder."'

Lodges, 75; subsistence, buffalo ineat land wild vegetables; range,
Kainass prairie; horses, large number. Po-ca-ta-ra's band, Goose
Creek mountains, head of Humboldt, Raft creek, and Mormnon settle-
menrts; horses, few.

BANNACKS, OR PANNAKEES OR PANNACKS.

Chief, Mo-pe-ah; in English, "Horn of Hair on the Forehead."
Lodges, 60; subsistence, buffalo meat and wild vegetables; range, in
the country of Stalt river and tributaries; horses, large number.

]BANNACKS OF FORT BOISE.

Chief, Po-c-ma-chc-ah; in English,, "Hairy Man." Lodges, 1.00;
subsistence, salmon fish, wild vegetables, and roots; range, in the
neighborhood of Fort Bois63; horses, large number.

SALT LAKE DIGGERS, LOWER ORL SOUTHERN SNAKES.
Chief, (Indian name unknown,) in English, "Long Beard." Lodges,

50; subsist amongst the Mormons and by hunting and plunder; range,
around Salt lake; horses, few.

Ex. Doc. 42-10
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WARRARICAS, (IN ENGLISH ' SUN-FLOWER SEED EATERS, ) OR DIGGES OR
BANNAC(S, 1BELOW FORT OMISB, WEST OF BLUE MOUNTAINS.

Chief, Pash-e-co or Pa-chi-co; in English, "Swoet Root,'" medicine-
man,' and. head of all the Bannacks or IPannakes; thought a wonderful
rol)het by the Snakes. Lodges, 150; subsistence, roots, and the

kamass, with plinder; range, hlead of' John Day's river and west of
Blueo mountains; horses, very few. They steal the latter from the
Cayuses.

All, the above Indians travel together and intermarry. They hold
the entire country. I consider the Eastern Snakes as in some measure
isolated from the rest, an(l as being more p)articularly under the direc-
tion of the reliable chief, Wash-i-kce.

If thle leading men of the (disaffected tribes could be induced to
visit W8shingtoln, it would seve anl inportanti plr ose. They know
nothing of the number andl alctuial l)ovcr of the Gentiles, so called,
and, ill my opinion, are constantly receivedd ill regard to them.

I recommend to you any of the following individuals as suitable
persons to carry olut your views in reference to thle collection of' any
information required, or tile establishment of agents in thle country:
Timothy Goodale would mnake a suitable agent for the Eastern Snakes;
hl is very reliable, and has great influence with the chief, Wash-i-kee.
From circumstances occurrinlg which led1 me to dollbt some of thle
statements of individuals having influence with the tribe, and l)resent
at the payment, I sent a night express after Goodale, and lhe was of
great service to mine at that tillme. -lie is lnow in this city; if required
for service would need a notification, as lie is a mountain trailer, an(l
will soon leave for thle border.
Thomas Adams, a citi7,n of this district, blt who has p)assedl thle

last seven years in the Rocky imoluntains, i's well known among those
Pannacks andl Western Snakes who range east of Salmion falls an(l
north of Snake river. Ilie is also familiar with some of the Salt Lake

Old Rich1ar'd Grant, whlo was for manylr Years thle Hudson Bay factor
at Fort Hall, understands these western Indliains perfectly, and is nowv
in that country. His son, Johni Grant, who is married into the
Western Snake tribe, an(l is brother-in-lav of' thle celebrated Ten-toi,
is not so well educated, but can give much information about then.
Hec was born and rea'red in thle viciniity of'Fort hInll.
Thomas Lftvatti, the half-breed already referred to in this reportt, is

one of tlebestmnA i'n tho mounltains-brave, reliale, and sensible: i
all his views in relation to thle Indians. I think his advice ats to the
best method of app)roachiing and controlling thle Western Snakes and
Pannacks to prevent lvar, by thle use ::of presents or by a little timely
severity to the woroS& members of the tribes, in concert with their
chiefs, might be received with consideration. He is a most excellenit
interpreter.

Isaac Frapp, or' Shoshionee Aleck, thli( half-breed, who has been two
years in theen1)loymenlt of thle Cecxpedition, is a very excellent and
faithful man. He is both brave and honest. His services of theopr-
sent season are referred to in Mr. Wagner's report.
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I think it will be necessary to have a road agent at the South Pass
the coming season to inform emigrants of the now road, and to prevent
thle emigration being directed across the desert by interested parties,
who pick up the abandoned, or buy, at low prices, thec tired cattle of'
overland travelers. This road agent should have the protection of a
f'eW compafiions*

It is my opinion that Indian presents should again be sent into the
country for the agents can1 do nothing without them.
For titeseO pinirposes I have advised the sending up of a small train

by the Inteorior Department out of the remaining funds of the wagon
road expedition, If it is sent, arrangements can readily be made for
thle transportation of the goods and further communication with thle
Snake and Pannack Indians.

If Mr. J. a. Camjpbell 's not sent to the California end of the road
o busilless for the department, lie can be of service in these operations,
fiomnhisn knowledge ofthie country. Hohas been oCilo)lOyed upon thle
wagon road expedition sinceC the commencement of t lO first explora-
tionis, and was in charge of' that portion of last year's outfit whllich6 was
vilteroC(l at salt Lake.
All. C. C. Wrenslhall, a young man of great energy and force of'

character, I canl )articularly recommend in atny movements of the killd
plol)oseld. He lias distinguished himself during his connection withthle expedition in various wa3rs, and is fully capable of selecting aXnd
purchlasing the stock, andof'equipping and managing an expedition in
tll its detailss while in the field. At least that is ilmy experience of him.

Thle picked men of thle old command are still along the border, and
if orderss cmallate from the department prior to the twentieth of' March
thero will be no difficulty in a train reachillg tIle Indian country
efobrc the emigrants.
MIuch extra labor has been thrown Iupon Mr. James A. Snyder, thle

Commnissary of thle expedition, in carrying out the instructions of yrour
bureau, and in tile disbursement of the Indian presents. He has had
the entire management of this important service under my own direc-
tion. He is another gentleman of' long experience in mountain life
and intercourse with Indians, Whom I can particularly recommend to
you as an energetic, faiithful, and conscientious public officer.
None of thle gentlemen of thle elxpeditioni, called upon to (1o (somec-

hlines quito severe) extra service in the In(liali department, a service
for which they were never retained, have ever claimed or received comn-
l)nsdation.

Tlhe extreme length and discursive style of this report may be excused
from thc importance of the subject treated.
The pacificttion or proper restraint of the wild tribes in the viCillity

Of the Mormon settlements, and along the great central route of over-
land emigration, cannot be too closely considered.

I am., sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
F. W. LANDER.

lion. A. B. GtrEENiwOOD,
Commissioner of I1ldian 4Ahbirs.

139


